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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024

or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 0-3722

ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Georgia
   58-1027114

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)   (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

4370 Peachtree Road, N.E.,
Atlanta, Georgia

 
30319


(Address of principal executive offices)   (Zip Code)

(404) 266-5500
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class   Trading Symbol(s)   Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $1.00 per share
   AAME
   NASDAQ Global Market


Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.   Yes  ☑   No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).   Yes  ☑   No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company.
See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer  ☐   Accelerated filer  ☐   Non-accelerated filer  ☑  Smaller reporting company  ☑   Emerging growth company  ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).   Yes  ☐   No  ☑

The total number of shares of the registrant’s Common Stock, $1 par value, outstanding on October 31, 2023 March 31, 2024 was 20,402,288 20,399,758.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains and references certain information that constitutes forward-looking statements as that term is defined in the federal securities laws. Forward-looking
statements are all statements other than those of historical fact. Such forward-looking statements are made based upon management’s current assessments of various risks and
uncertainties, as well as assumptions made in accordance with the “safe harbor” provisions of the federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to
various risks and uncertainties and the Company’s actual results could differ materially from the results expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks
and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
other subsequent filings made by the Company from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission. In addition, other risks and uncertainties not known by us, or that
we currently determine to not be material, may materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. The Company undertakes no obligation to
update any forward-looking statement as a result of subsequent developments, changes in underlying assumptions or facts, or otherwise, except as may be required by law.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

   

Unaudited
September 30,

2023
    
December 31,

2022
  

ASSETS  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 23,921     $ 28,863  

Investments:                

Fixed maturities, available-for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost: $237,213 and $236,766; no allowance for credit losses)     203,068       208,729  
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Equity securities, at fair value (cost: $4,936 and $4,907)     8,224       11,562  

Other invested assets (cost: $6,982 and $5,628)     6,398       5,386  

Policy loans     1,822       1,759  

Real estate     38       38  

Investment in unconsolidated trusts     1,238       1,238  

Total investments     220,788       228,712  

Receivables:                

Reinsurance (net of allowance for uncollectible reinsurance of $64 and $0)
     21,839       25,913  

Insurance premiums and other (net of allowance for expected credit losses $191 and net of allowance for doubtful accounts $177)     24,687       15,386  

Deferred income taxes, net     17,156       14,163  

Deferred acquisition costs     41,926       42,281  

Other assets     8,759       9,202  

Intangibles     2,544       2,544  

Total assets   $ 361,620     $ 367,064  

               

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

Insurance reserves and policyholder funds:                

Future policy benefits   $ 84,851     $ 85,564  

Unearned premiums     30,642       28,348  

Losses and claims     85,679       87,484  

Other policy liabilities     816       1,255  

Total insurance reserves and policyholder funds     201,988       202,651  

Accounts payable and accrued expenses     24,129       26,473  

Revolving credit facility
     3,019       2,009  

Junior subordinated debenture obligations, net     33,738       33,738  

Total liabilities     262,874       264,871  

               

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)            

Shareholders’ equity:                

Preferred stock, $1 par, 4,000,000 shares authorized; Series D preferred, 55,000 shares issued and outstanding; $5,500 redemption
value     55       55  

Common stock, $1 par, 50,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued: 22,400,894; shares outstanding: 20,402,288 and 20,407,229     22,401       22,401  

Additional paid-in capital     57,425       57,425  

Retained earnings     53,257       51,982  

Accumulated other comprehensive income
     (26,975 )     (22,149 )

Unearned stock grant compensation     (16 )     (132 )

Treasury stock, at cost: 1,998,606 and 1,993,665 shares     (7,401 )     (7,389 )

Total shareholders’ equity     98,746       102,193  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $ 361,620     $ 367,064  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited; Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  

  2023
     2022
     2023     2022  

Revenue:                        

Insurance premiums, net   $ 43,746     $ 46,380     $ 135,906     $ 140,526  

Net investment income     2,325       2,641       7,425       7,510  

Realized investment gains, net     —       101       70       29  
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Unrealized losses on equity securities, net     (1,486 )     (2,783 )     (3,367 )     (5,456 )

Other income     6       4       14       11  

Total revenue     44,591       46,343       140,048       142,620  

                               

Benefits and expenses:                                

Insurance benefits and losses incurred     26,818       30,630       86,643       94,552  

Commissions and underwriting expenses     11,064       12,843       36,830       35,894  

Interest expense     850       523       2,407       1,291  

Other expense     3,721       3,296       11,631       10,151  

Total benefits and expenses     42,453       47,292       137,511       141,888  

Income (loss) before income taxes     2,138       (949 )     2,537       732  

Income tax expense (benefit)     379       (265 )     480       253  

Net income (loss)     1,759       (684 )     2,057       479  

Preferred stock dividends     (100 )     (100 )     (299 )     (299 )

Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders   $ 1,659     $ (784 )   $ 1,758     $ 180  

Earnings (loss) per common share (basic)
   $ 0.08     $ (0.04 )   $ 0.09     $ 0.01  

Earnings (loss) per common share (diluted)   $ 0.08     $ (0.04 )   $ 0.09     $ 0.01  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Unaudited; Dollars in thousands)

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  

    2023
     2022
     2023     2022  

Net income (loss)   $ 1,759     $ (684 )   $ 2,057     $ 479  

Other comprehensive loss:                                

Available-for-sale fixed maturity securities:                                

Gross unrealized holding losses arising in the period     (7,604 )     (12,987 )     (6,038 )     (54,548 )

Related income tax effect     1,596       2,727       1,267       11,455  

Subtotal     (6,008 )     (10,260 )     (4,771 )     (43,093 )

Less: reclassification adjustment for net realized gains included in net income (loss)     —       (101 )     (70 )     (48 )

Related income tax effect     —       21       15       10  

Subtotal     —       (80 )     (55 )     (38 )

Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax     (6,008 )     (10,340 )     (4,826 )     (43,131 )

Total comprehensive loss   $ (4,249 )   $ (11,024 )   $ (2,769 )   $ (42,652 )

   

Unaudited
March 31,

2024
    
December 31,

2023
  

ASSETS  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 21,189     $ 28,301  

Investments:                

Fixed maturities, available-for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost: $241,315 and $238,626; no allowance for credit losses)     218,420       218,219  

Equity securities, at fair value (cost: $4,940 and $4,936)     9,303       9,413  

Other invested assets (cost: $6,982 and $6,982)     6,278       6,381  

Policy loans     1,810       1,778  

Real estate     38       38  

Investment in unconsolidated trusts     1,238       1,238  

Total investments     237,087       237,067  

Receivables:                
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Reinsurance (net of allowance for expected credit losses of $56 and $61)
     20,935       21,103  

Insurance premiums and other (net of allowance for expected credit losses of $216 and $217)     14,696       23,690  

Deferred income taxes, net     16,712       15,682  

Deferred acquisition costs     43,167       43,850  

Other assets     9,421       9,028  

Intangibles     2,544       2,544  

Total assets   $ 365,751     $ 381,265  

               

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

Insurance reserves and policyholder funds:                

Future policy benefits   $ 93,680     $ 92,495  

Unearned premiums     20,723       31,317  

Losses and claims     88,449       87,478  

Other policy liabilities     970       1,132  

Total insurance reserves and policyholder funds     203,822       212,422  

Accounts payable and accrued expenses     21,364       24,811  

Revolving credit facility
     4,024       3,019  

Junior subordinated debenture obligations, net     33,738       33,738  

Total liabilities     262,948       273,990  

               

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)            

Shareholders’ equity:                

Preferred stock, $1 par, 4,000,000 shares authorized; Series D preferred, 55,000 shares issued and outstanding; $5,500 redemption
value     55       55  

Common stock, $1 par, 50,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued: 22,400,894; shares outstanding: 20,399,758 and 20,402,288     22,401       22,401  

Additional paid-in capital     57,425       57,425  

Retained earnings     48,425       50,929  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
     (18,087 )     (16,121 )

Unearned stock grant compensation     (8 )     (13 )

Treasury stock, at cost: 2,001,136 and 1,998,606 shares     (7,408 )     (7,401 )

Total shareholders’ equity     102,803       107,275  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $ 365,751     $ 381,265  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYOPERATIONS

(Unaudited; Dollars in In thousands, except per share data)

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
  

  2023     2022     2023     2022  

Preferred stock:                        

Balance, beginning of period   $ 55     $ 55     $ 55     $ 55  

Balance, end of period     55       55       55       55  

Common stock:                                

Balance, beginning of period     22,401       22,401       22,401       22,401  

Balance, end of period     22,401       22,401       22,401       22,401  

Additional paid-in capital:                                

Balance, beginning of period     57,425       57,443       57,425       57,441  

Restricted stock grants, net of forfeitures     —       —       —       2  

Balance, end of period     57,425       57,443       57,425       57,443  

Retained earnings:                                
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Balance, beginning of period     52,006       51,820       51,982       51,264  

Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for credit losses at
January 1, 2023
     —       —       (75 )     —  

Net income (loss)     1,759       (684 )     2,057       479  

Dividends on common stock     (408 )     —       (408 )     (408 )

Dividends accrued on preferred stock     (100 )     (100 )     (299 )     (299 )

Balance, end of period     53,257       51,036       53,257       51,036  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss:                                

Balance, beginning of period     (20,967 )     (15,103 )     (22,149 )     17,688  

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax     (6,008 )     (10,340 )     (4,826 )     (43,131 )

Balance, end of period     (26,975 )     (25,443 )     (26,975 )     (25,443 )

Unearned stock grant compensation:                                

Balance, beginning of period     (33 )     (79 )     (132 )     (73 )

Restricted stock grants, net of forfeitures     —       —       —       (71 )

Amortization of unearned compensation     17       27       116       92  

Balance, end of period     (16 )     (52 )     (16 )     (52 )

Treasury stock:                                

Balance, beginning of period     (7,401 )     (7,436 )     (7,389 )     (7,490 )

Restricted stock grants, net of forfeitures     —       —       —       69  

Net shares acquired related to employee share-based compensation plans
     —       (93 )     (12 )     (108 )

Balance, end of period     (7,401 )     (7,529 )     (7,401 )     (7,529 )

                                 

Total shareholders’ equity   $ 98,746     $ 97,911     $ 98,746     $ 97,911  

Dividends declared on common stock per share   $ 0.02     $ —     $ 0.02     $ 0.02  

                                 

Common shares outstanding:                                

Balance, beginning of period     20,402,288       20,398,497       20,407,229       20,378,576  

Net shares acquired under employee share-based compensation plans     —       (31,268 )     (4,941 )     (36,347 )

Restricted stock grants, net of forfeitures     —       —       —       25,000  

Balance, end of period     20,402,288       20,367,229       20,402,288       20,367,229  

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

  2024
     2023
  

Revenue:            

Insurance premiums, net   $ 44,552     $ 46,100  

Net investment income     2,556       2,541  

Unrealized losses on equity securities, net     (114 )     (2,375 )

Other income     3       3  

Total revenue     46,997       46,269  

Benefits and expenses:                

Insurance benefits and losses incurred     31,925       30,460  

Commissions and underwriting expenses     12,666       12,918  

Interest expense     855       750  

Other expense     4,057       3,959  

Total benefits and expenses     49,503       48,087  

Loss before income taxes     (2,506 )     (1,818 )

Income tax benefit     (508 )     (372 )

Net loss     (1,998 )     (1,446 )

Preferred stock dividends     (99 )     (99 )

Net loss applicable to common shareholders   $ (2,097 )   $ (1,545 )

Loss per common share (basic and diluted)   $ (0.10 )   $ (0.08 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)


(Unaudited; In thousands)

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

    2024
     2023
  

Net loss   $ (1,998 )   $ (1,446 )

Other comprehensive income (loss):                

Available-for-sale fixed maturity securities:                

Gross unrealized holding gains (losses) arising in the period     (2,488 )     4,733  

Related income tax effect     522       (994 )

Subtotal     (1,966 )     3,739  

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax     (1,966 )     3,739  

Total comprehensive income (loss)   $ (3,964 )   $ 2,293  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Unaudited; In thousands except share and per share data)

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

  2024
     2023
  

Preferred stock:            

Balance, beginning of period   $ 55     $ 55  

Balance, end of period     55       55  

Common stock:                

Balance, beginning of period     22,401       22,401  

Balance, end of period     22,401       22,401  

Additional paid-in capital:                

Balance, beginning of period     57,425       57,425  

Balance, end of period     57,425       57,425  

Retained earnings:                

Balance, beginning of period     50,929       51,982  

Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for credit losses at January 1, 2023
     —       (75 )

Net loss
     (1,998 )     (1,446 )

Dividends on common stock     (407 )     —  

Dividends accrued on preferred stock     (99 )     (99 )

Balance, end of period     48,425       50,362  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss:                

Balance, beginning of period     (16,121 )     (22,149 )

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax     (1,966 )     3,739  

Balance, end of period     (18,087 )     (18,410 )

Unearned stock grant compensation:                

Balance, beginning of period     (13 )     (132 )

Amortization of unearned compensation     5       73  

Balance, end of period     (8 )     (59 )

Treasury stock:                
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Balance, beginning of period     (7,401 )     (7,389 )

Net shares acquired related to employee share-based compensation plans
     (7 )     (6 )

Balance, end of period     (7,408 )     (7,395 )

Total shareholders’ equity   $ 102,803     $ 104,379  

Dividends declared on common stock per share   $ 0.02     $ 0.02  

                 

Common shares outstanding:                

Balance, beginning of period     20,402,288       20,407,229  

Net shares acquired under employee share-based compensation plans     (2,530 )     (2,530 )

Balance, end of period     20,399,758       20,404,699  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited; In thousands)

 
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    

Three Months
Ended

March 31,  

  2023
     2022
     2024
     2023
  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:                        
Net income
   $ 2,057     $ 479  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:                

Amortization of (additions to) acquisition costs, net     355       (2,718 )
Realized investment gains, net     (70 )     (29 )

Net loss
   $ (1,998 )   $ (1,446 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net cash used in operating activities:                

Amortization of acquisition costs, net     683       22  
Unrealized losses on equity securities, net     3,367       5,456       114       2,375  
Losses (earnings) from equity method investees
     343       (275 )
Losses from equity method investees
     103       15  
Compensation expense related to share awards     116       92       5       73  
Provision for credit losses     (6 )     —  
Depreciation and amortization     521       683       113       188  
Deferred income tax benefit     (1,711 )     (1,394 )     (508 )     (552 )

ncrease in receivables, net     (5,227 )     (4,783 )
(Decrease) increase in insurance reserves and policyholder funds     (663 )     2,492  
Decrease in receivables, net     9,168       4,828  
Decrease in insurance reserves and policyholder funds     (8,600 )     (11,408 )
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses     (2,644 )     (2,350 )     (3,950 )     (5,338 )

Other, net     13       101       (443 )     (367 )

Net cash used in operating activities     (3,543 )     (2,246 )     (5,319 )     (11,610 )

                               
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:                                
Proceeds from investments sold     5,038       3,871       —       9  
Proceeds from investments matured, called or redeemed     8,000       8,997       2,857       1,769  
nvestments purchased     (14,942 )     (13,871 )     (5,604 )     (6,418 )

Additions to property and equipment     (75 )     (112 )     (39 )     (59 )

Net cash used in investing activities     (1,979 )     (1,115 )     (2,786 )     (4,699 )

                               
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                                

Payment of dividends on common stock
     (408 )     (408 )
Treasury stock acquired — net employee share-based compensation
     (12 )     (108 )     (7 )     (6 )

Proceeds from revolving credit facility, net
     1,000       1,000       1,000       1,000  

Net cash provided by financing activities     580       484       993       994  
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Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (4,942 )     (2,877 )     (7,112 )     (15,315 )

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     28,863       24,753       28,301       28,863  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 23,921     $ 21,876     $ 21,189     $ 13,548  

                               
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:                                

Cash paid for interest   $ 2,370     $ 1,200     $ 856     $ 759  

Cash paid for income taxes
   $ 2,026     $ 2,164  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited; Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies


The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Atlantic American Corporation (the “Parent”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
with the Parent, the “Company”). The Parent’s primary operating subsidiaries, American Southern Insurance Company and American Safety Insurance Company (together known
as “American Southern”) and Bankers Fidelity Life Insurance Company, Bankers Fidelity Assurance Company and Atlantic Capital Life Assurance Company (together known as
“Bankers Fidelity”), operate in two principal business units. American Southern operates in the property and casualty insurance market, while Bankers Fidelity operates in the life
and health insurance market. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The accompanying financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-
Q and Article 8 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by GAAP for audited annual financial statements. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements included herein and these related notes should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements, and the notes
thereto, included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 (the “2022 “2023 Annual Report”). For more information
regarding Significant Accounting Policies, see the “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” section of Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2023 Annual
Report. The Company’s financial condition and results of operations and cash flows as of and for the three month  and nine month periods period ended September 30, 2023 March
31, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the financial condition or results of operations and cash flows that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2023 December 31,
2024 or for any other future period.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.   To the extent that the Company changes its accounting for, or presentation of, items in the financial statements, the
presentation of such amounts in prior periods is changed to conform to the current period presentation, if appropriate, and disclosed, if material.

Note 2. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Future Adoption of New Accounting Standards

Financial Instruments – Credit Losses. In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses
on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”). The updated guidance applies a new credit loss model (current expected credit losses or CECL) for determining credit-related
impairments for financial instruments measured at amortized cost (including reinsurance recoverables, premium and other receivables) and requires an entity to estimate the credit
losses expected over the life of an exposure or pool of exposures. The estimate of expected credit losses should consider historical information, current information, as well as
reasonable and supportable forecasts, including estimates of prepayments. The expected credit losses, and subsequent adjustments to such losses, are recorded through an
allowance account that is deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset, with the net carrying value of the financial asset presented on the consolidated balance
sheet at the amount expected to be collected.

The updated guidance also amends the previous other-than-temporary impairment model for available-for-sale debt securities by requiring the recognition of impairments
relating to credit losses through an allowance account and limits the amount of credit loss to the difference between a security’s amortized cost basis and its fair value. In addition,
the length of time a security has been in an unrealized loss position will no longer impact the determination of whether a credit loss exists.

The Company adopted the updated guidance as of January 1, 2023. The updated guidance was applied by a cumulative effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings as of January 1, 2023, the beginning of the period of adoption. The adoption of this guidance resulted Statements in the recognition of an after-tax cumulative effect
adjustment of $0.1 million to reflect the impact of recognizing expected credit losses, as compared to incurred credit losses recognized under the previous guidance. This
adjustment is primarily associated with reinsurance recoverables, premium and other receivables. The cumulative effect adjustment decreased retained earnings as of January 1,
2023 and increased the allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance.
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Note 3. Investments

The following tables set forth the estimated fair value, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, allowance for credit losses and cost or amortized cost of the Company’s
investments in fixed maturities and equity securities, aggregated by type and industry, as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Fixed maturities were comprised of the following:

    March 31, 2024  

   
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    
Allowance for
Credit Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Fixed maturities:                              

Bonds:                              

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies
and authorities   $ 49,277     $ 53     $ 5,119     $
 —     $ 54,343  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions     8,133       9       1,388       —       9,512  

Corporate securities:                                        

Utilities and telecom     21,854       80       2,939       —       24,713  

Financial services     60,733       549       5,175       —       65,359  

Other business – diversified     34,105       242       3,541       —       37,404  

Other consumer – diversified     44,091       31       5,731       —       49,791  

Total corporate securities     160,783       902       17,386       —       177,267  

Redeemable preferred stocks:                                        

Other consumer – diversified     227       34       —       —       193  

Total redeemable preferred stocks     227       34       —       —       193  

Total fixed maturities   $ 218,420     $ 998     $ 23,893     $
 —     $ 241,315  

  December 31, 2023  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    
Allowance for
Credit Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Fixed maturities:                               

Bonds:                               

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies
and authorities   $ 50,059     $ 63     $ 4,944     $ —     $
 54,940  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions     8,106       15       1,424       —       9,515  

Corporate securities:                                        

Utilities and telecom     21,309       143       2,582       —       23,748  

Financial services     59,584       560       4,931       —       63,955  

Other business – diversified     34,386       403       2,940       —       36,923  

Other consumer – diversified     44,570       87       4,870       —       49,353  

Total corporate securities     159,849       1,193       15,323       —       173,979  

Redeemable preferred stocks:                                        

Other consumer – diversified     205       13       —       —       192  

Total redeemable preferred stocks     205       13       —       —       192  

Total fixed maturities   $ 218,219     $ 1,284     $ 21,691     $ —     $
 238,626  

Bonds having an amortized cost of $14,676 and $14,647 and included in the tables above were on deposit with insurance regulatory authorities as of March 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, respectively, in accordance with statutory requirements. In addition, the Company maintains cash and cash equivalents on deposit with insurance regulatory
authorities of $226 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. Additionally, bonds having an amortized cost of $9,498 and $9,584 and included in the tables above were pledged
as collateral to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB”) at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
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Equity securities were comprised of the following:

    March 31, 2024  
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Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Equity securities:                        

Common and non-redeemable preferred stocks:                        

Financial services   $ 1,054 $
 747 $
 — $
 307  

Communications
     8,249 3,616 — 4,633  

Total equity securities   $ 9,303 $
 4,363 $
 — $
 4,940  

    December 31, 2023  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Equity securities:                        

Common and non-redeemable preferred stocks:                        

Financial services   $ 924 $
 621 $
 — $
 303  

Communications     8,489 3,856 — 4,633  

Total equity securities   $ 9,413 $
 4,477 $
 — $
 4,936  

The carrying value and amortized cost of the Company’s investments in fixed maturities at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 by contractual maturity were as follows.
Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  

 
Carrying

Value    
Amortized

Cost    
Carrying

Value    
Amortized

Cost  

Due in one year or less   $ 6,795 $
 6,887 $
 1,715 $
 1,750  

Due after one year through five years     56,898 59,181 60,423 62,423  

Due after five years through ten years     32,680 35,968 33,596 36,752  

Due after ten years     87,772 100,890 86,857 97,984  

Asset backed securities     34,275 38,389 35,628 39,717  

Totals   $ 218,420 $
 241,315 $
 218,219 $
 238,626  

The following tables present the Company’s unrealized loss aging for securities by type and length of time the security was in a continuous unrealized loss position as of March
31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

    March 31, 2024  

    Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  

 
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses  

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
Government agencies and authorities   $ 5,161     $ 44     $ 37,250     $ 5,075     $ 42,411     $ 5,119  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
     1,130       16       5,985       1,372       7,115       1,388  

Corporate securities     11,793       161       136,344       17,225       148,137       17,386  

Total temporarily impaired securities   $ 18,084     $ 221     $ 179,579     $ 23,672     $ 197,663     $ 23,893  
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    December 31, 2023  

    Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  

 
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses  

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
Government agencies and authorities   $ 5,194 $
 37 $
 39,476 $
 4,907 $
 44,670 $
 4,944  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
     1,145       3       5,936       1,421       7,081       1,424  

Corporate securities     539 13 138,283 15,310 138,822 15,323  

Total temporarily impaired securities   $ 6,878 $
 53 $
 183,695 $
 21,638 $
 190,573 $
 21,691  

Analysis of Securities in Unrealized Loss Positions
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As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were 224 and 222 securities, respectively, in an unrealized loss position which primarily included certain of the Company’s
investments in fixed maturities within the utilities and telecom, financial services, other diversified business and other diversified consumer sectors. The unrealized losses on the
Company’s fixed maturity securities investments have been primarily related to general market changes in interest rates and/or the levels of credit spreads rather than specific
concerns with the issuer’s ability to pay interest and repay principal.

For any of its fixed maturity securities with significant declines in fair value, the Company performs detailed analyses to identify whether the drivers of the declines are due to
general market drivers, such as the recent rise in interest rates, or due to credit-related factors. Identifying the drivers of the declines in fair value helps to focus the Company’s
attention on securities with credit-related concerns that could impact the ultimate collection of principal and interest. For any significant declines in fair value determined to be non-
interest rate or market related, the Company performs a more focused review of the related issuer’s specific credit profile.

For corporate issuers, the Company evaluates their assets, business profile including industry dynamics and competitive positioning, financial statements and other available
financial data. For non-corporate issuers, the Company analyzes all reasonably available sources of credit support, including issuer-specific factors. The Company utilizes
information available in the public domain and, for certain private placement issuers, from consultations with the issuers directly. The Company also considers ratings from
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations, as well as the specific characteristics of the security it owns including seniority in the issuer’s capital structure, covenant
protections, or other relevant features. From these reviews, the Company evaluates the issuers’ continued ability to service the Company’s investment through payment of interest
and principal.

Assuming no credit-related factors develop, unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturity securities are expected to diminish as investments near maturity. Based on its credit
analysis, the Company believes that the issuers of its fixed maturity investments in the sectors shown in the table above have the ability to service their obligations to the Company,
and the Company does not intend to sell the investments and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the investments before recovery of their
amortized cost bases, which may be at maturity.

However, from time to time the Company identifies certain available-for-sale fixed maturity securities where the amortized cost basis exceeds the present value of the cash flows
expected to be collected due to credit-related factors and as a result, a credit allowance will be estimated.   The Company had no allowance for expected credit losses on its
available-for-sale fixed maturities as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

There were no realized investment gains for the three month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.


The following table presents the portion of unrealized losses related to equity securities still held for the three month period ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

   
Three Months Ended    


March 31,
  

    2024
     2023   

Net realized and unrealized losses recognized during the period on equity securities   $ (114 )   $ (2,375 )

Less: Net realized gains recognized during the period on equity securities sold during the period     —       —  

Unrealized losses recognized during the reporting period on equity securities, net   $ (114 )   $ (2,375 )

Variable Interest Entities
The Company holds passive interests in a number of entities that are considered to be variable interest entities (“VIEs”) under GAAP guidance. The Company’s VIE interests

principally consist of interests in limited partnerships and limited liability companies formed for the purpose of achieving diversified equity returns. The Company’s VIE interests,
carried as a part of other invested assets, totaled $6,278 and $6,381 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The Company’s VIE interests, carried as a part of
investment in unconsolidated trusts, totaled $1,238 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.
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Impact The Company does not have power over the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of Adoption these VIEs and thus is not the primary
beneficiary. Therefore, the Company has not consolidated these VIEs. The Company’s involvement with each VIE is limited to its direct ownership interest in the VIE. The Company
has no arrangements with any of the VIEs to provide other financial support to or on Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet behalf of the VIE. The Company’s maximum loss
exposure relative to these investments was limited to the carrying value of the Company’s investment in the VIEs, which amount to $7,516 and $7,619, as of March 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, respectively. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding commitments totaling $4,518, respectively, whereby the Company
is committed to fund these investments and may be called by the partnership during the commitment period to fund the purchase of new investments and partnership expenses.

Note 4. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values have been determined by the Company using available market information from various market sources and appropriate valuation methodologies as
of the respective dates. However, considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and to develop the estimates of fair value. Although management is not aware of any
factors that would significantly affect the estimated fair value amounts, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts which the Company could
realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

The following describes the fair value hierarchy and provides information as to the extent to which the Company uses fair value to measure the value of its financial instruments
and information about the inputs used to value those financial instruments. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs in the valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
three broad levels.

Level 1 Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date. The
Company’s financial instruments valued using Level 1 criteria include cash equivalents and exchange traded common stocks.
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Level 2 Observable inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, for an asset or liability or prices for similar assets or liabilities. The Company’s financial instruments
valued using Level 2 criteria include most of its fixed maturities, which consist of U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. Government securities, obligations of states and political
subdivisions, and certain corporate fixed maturities, as well as its non-redeemable preferred stocks. In determining fair value measurements of its fixed maturities and
non-redeemable preferred stocks using Level 2 criteria, the Company utilizes data from outside sources, including nationally recognized pricing services and
broker/dealers.   Prices for the majority of the Company’s Level 2 fixed maturities and non-redeemable preferred stocks were determined using unadjusted prices
received from pricing services that utilize models where the significant inputs are observable (e.g. interest rates, yield curves, prepayment speeds, default rates, loss
severities) or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 Valuations that are derived from techniques in which one or more of the significant inputs are unobservable (including assumptions about risk). Fair value is based on
criteria that use assumptions or other data that are not readily observable from objective sources. With little or no observable market, the determination of fair values
uses considerable judgment and represents the Company’s best estimate of an amount that could be realized in a market exchange for the asset or liability. The
Company’s financial instruments valued using Level 3 criteria consist of one equity security.   As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the value of the equity
security valued using Level 3 criteria was $189 and $185, respectively.

As of March 31, 2024, financial instruments carried at fair value were measured on a recurring basis as summarized below:

   

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)     Total  

Assets:                        

Fixed maturities   $ —     $ 218,420     $ —     $ 218,420  

Equity securities     9,114       —       189       9,303  

Cash equivalents     13,309       —       —       13,309  

Total   $ 22,423     $ 218,420     $ 189     $ 241,032  

As of December 31, 2023, financial instruments carried at fair value were measured on a recurring basis as summarized below:

 

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)     Total  

Assets:                        

Fixed maturities   $ —     $ 218,219     $ —     $ 218,219  

Equity securities     9,228       —       185       9,413  

Cash equivalents     14,834       —       —       14,834  

Total   $ 24,062     $ 218,219     $ 185     $ 242,466  
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The following table sets forth the carrying amount, estimated fair value and level within the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s financial instruments as of March 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023.

        March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  

 

Level in Fair
Value

Hierarchy (1)  
Carrying
Amount    

Estimated
Fair Value    

Carrying
Amount    

Estimated
Fair Value  

Assets:                            

Cash and cash equivalents Level 1     $ 21,189     $ 21,189     $ 28,301     $ 28,301  

Fixed maturities Level 2     218,420       218,420       218,219       218,219  

Equity securities (1)     9,303       9,303       9,413       9,413  

Policy loans Level 3       1,810       1,810       1,778       1,778  

                                     

Liabilities:                                    

Junior subordinated debentures, net Level 2       33,738       34,508       33,738       33,670  

Revolving credit facility
  Level 2       4,024       4,024       3,019       3,019  
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(1) See the aforementioned information for a description of the fair value hierarchy as well as a description of levels for classes of these financial assets.

Note 5. Allowance for Expected Credit Losses

Reinsurance Recoverables

The following table presents the balances of reinsurance recoverables, net of the allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance, expected credit losses, at January 1,
2023 March 31, 2024 and September 30, 2023, 2023, and the changes in the allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance expected credit losses for the nine three months
ended September 30, 2023.
March 31, 2024 and 2023.

  At and for the nine months ended September 30, 2023     At and for the three months ended March 31, 2024  

(in thousands)  

Reinsurance Recoverables,
Net of Allowance for Estimated

Uncollectible Reinsurance    
Allowance for Estimated

Uncollectible Reinsurance  

 

Reinsurance Recoverables,
Net of Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses    
Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses  

Balance, beginning of period   $ 25,913     $ —     $ 21,103     $ 61  
Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting

guidance for

credit losses at January 1, 2023     —       75  

Current period change for estimated uncollectible
reinsurance     —       (11 )

Current period change for expected credit losses     —       (5 )

Write-offs of uncollectible reinsurance recoverables     —       —       —       —  

Balance, end of period   $ 21,839     $ 64     $ 20,935     $ 56  

    At and for the three months ended March 31, 2023  

   

Reinsurance Recoverables,
Net of Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses    
Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses  

Balance, beginning of period   $ 25,913     $ —  

Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for credit losses at January 1, 2023     —       75  

Current period change for expected credit losses     —       (6 )

Write-offs of uncollectible reinsurance recoverables     —       —  

Balance, end of period   $ 24,916     $ 69  
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Insurance Premium Future Adoption of New Accounting Standards

For more information regarding accounting standards that the Company has not yet adopted, see the “Recently Issued Accounting Standards - Future Adoption of New
Accounting Standards” section of Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2023 Annual Report.
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Note 3. Investments

The following tables set forth the estimated fair value, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, allowance for credit losses and Other Receivables cost or amortized cost
of the Company’s investments in fixed maturities and equity securities, aggregated by type and industry, as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Fixed maturities were comprised of the following:

    March 31, 2024  

   
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    
Allowance for
Credit Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Fixed maturities:                              

Bonds:                              
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U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies
and authorities   $ 49,277     $ 53     $ 5,119     $
 —     $ 54,343  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions     8,133       9       1,388       —       9,512  

Corporate securities:                                        

Utilities and telecom     21,854       80       2,939       —       24,713  

Financial services     60,733       549       5,175       —       65,359  

Other business – diversified     34,105       242       3,541       —       37,404  

Other consumer – diversified     44,091       31       5,731       —       49,791  

Total corporate securities     160,783       902       17,386       —       177,267  

Redeemable preferred stocks:                                        

Other consumer – diversified     227       34       —       —       193  

Total redeemable preferred stocks     227       34       —       —       193  

Total fixed maturities   $ 218,420     $ 998     $ 23,893     $
 —     $ 241,315  

  December 31, 2023  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    
Allowance for
Credit Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Fixed maturities:                               

Bonds:                               

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies
and authorities   $ 50,059     $ 63     $ 4,944     $ —     $
 54,940  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions     8,106       15       1,424       —       9,515  

Corporate securities:                                        

Utilities and telecom     21,309       143       2,582       —       23,748  

Financial services     59,584       560       4,931       —       63,955  

Other business – diversified     34,386       403       2,940       —       36,923  

Other consumer – diversified     44,570       87       4,870       —       49,353  

Total corporate securities     159,849       1,193       15,323       —       173,979  

Redeemable preferred stocks:                                        

Other consumer – diversified     205       13       —       —       192  

Total redeemable preferred stocks     205       13       —       —       192  

Total fixed maturities   $ 218,219     $ 1,284     $ 21,691     $ —     $
 238,626  

Bonds having an amortized cost of $14,676 and $14,647 and included in the tables above were on deposit with insurance regulatory authorities as of March 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, respectively, in accordance with statutory requirements. In addition, the Company maintains cash and cash equivalents on deposit with insurance regulatory
authorities of $226 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. Additionally, bonds having an amortized cost of $9,498 and $9,584 and included in the tables above were pledged
as collateral to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB”) at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
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Equity securities were comprised of the following:

    March 31, 2024  

   
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Equity securities:                        

Common and non-redeemable preferred stocks:                        

Financial services   $ 1,054 $
 747 $
 — $
 307  

Communications
     8,249 3,616 — 4,633  

Total equity securities   $ 9,303 $
 4,363 $
 — $
 4,940  

    December 31, 2023  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  
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Equity securities:                        

Common and non-redeemable preferred stocks:                        

Financial services   $ 924 $
 621 $
 — $
 303  

Communications     8,489 3,856 — 4,633  

Total equity securities   $ 9,413 $
 4,477 $
 — $
 4,936  

The carrying value and amortized cost of the Company’s investments in fixed maturities at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 by contractual maturity were as follows.
Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  

 
Carrying

Value    
Amortized

Cost    
Carrying

Value    
Amortized

Cost  

Due in one year or less   $ 6,795 $
 6,887 $
 1,715 $
 1,750  

Due after one year through five years     56,898 59,181 60,423 62,423  

Due after five years through ten years     32,680 35,968 33,596 36,752  

Due after ten years     87,772 100,890 86,857 97,984  

Asset backed securities     34,275 38,389 35,628 39,717  

Totals   $ 218,420 $
 241,315 $
 218,219 $
 238,626  

The following tables present the Company’s unrealized loss aging for securities by type and length of time the security was in a continuous unrealized loss position as of March
31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

    March 31, 2024  

    Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  

 
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses  

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
Government agencies and authorities   $ 5,161     $ 44     $ 37,250     $ 5,075     $ 42,411     $ 5,119  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
     1,130       16       5,985       1,372       7,115       1,388  

Corporate securities     11,793       161       136,344       17,225       148,137       17,386  

Total temporarily impaired securities   $ 18,084     $ 221     $ 179,579     $ 23,672     $ 197,663     $ 23,893  
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    December 31, 2023  

    Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  

 
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses  

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
Government agencies and authorities   $ 5,194 $
 37 $
 39,476 $
 4,907 $
 44,670 $
 4,944  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
     1,145       3       5,936       1,421       7,081       1,424  

Corporate securities     539 13 138,283 15,310 138,822 15,323  

Total temporarily impaired securities   $ 6,878 $
 53 $
 183,695 $
 21,638 $
 190,573 $
 21,691  

Analysis of Securities in Unrealized Loss Positions

As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were 224 and 222 securities, respectively, in an unrealized loss position which primarily included certain of the Company’s
investments in fixed maturities within the utilities and telecom, financial services, other diversified business and other diversified consumer sectors. The unrealized losses on the
Company’s fixed maturity securities investments have been primarily related to general market changes in interest rates and/or the levels of credit spreads rather than specific
concerns with the issuer’s ability to pay interest and repay principal.

For any of its fixed maturity securities with significant declines in fair value, the Company performs detailed analyses to identify whether the drivers of the declines are due to
general market drivers, such as the recent rise in interest rates, or due to credit-related factors. Identifying the drivers of the declines in fair value helps to focus the Company’s
attention on securities with credit-related concerns that could impact the ultimate collection of principal and interest. For any significant declines in fair value determined to be non-
interest rate or market related, the Company performs a more focused review of the related issuer’s specific credit profile.

For corporate issuers, the Company evaluates their assets, business profile including industry dynamics and competitive positioning, financial statements and other available
financial data. For non-corporate issuers, the Company analyzes all reasonably available sources of credit support, including issuer-specific factors. The Company utilizes
information available in the public domain and, for certain private placement issuers, from consultations with the issuers directly. The Company also considers ratings from
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations, as well as the specific characteristics of the security it owns including seniority in the issuer’s capital structure, covenant
protections, or other relevant features. From these reviews, the Company evaluates the issuers’ continued ability to service the Company’s investment through payment of interest
and principal.
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Assuming no credit-related factors develop, unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturity securities are expected to diminish as investments near maturity. Based on its credit
analysis, the Company believes that the issuers of its fixed maturity investments in the sectors shown in the table above have the ability to service their obligations to the Company,
and the Company does not intend to sell the investments and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the investments before recovery of their
amortized cost bases, which may be at maturity.

However, from time to time the Company identifies certain available-for-sale fixed maturity securities where the amortized cost basis exceeds the present value of the cash flows
expected to be collected due to credit-related factors and as a result, a credit allowance will be estimated.   The Company had no allowance for expected credit losses on its
available-for-sale fixed maturities as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

There were no realized investment gains for the three month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.


The following table presents the portion of unrealized losses related to equity securities still held for the three month period ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

   
Three Months Ended    


March 31,
  

    2024
     2023   

Net realized and unrealized losses recognized during the period on equity securities   $ (114 )   $ (2,375 )

Less: Net realized gains recognized during the period on equity securities sold during the period     —       —  

Unrealized losses recognized during the reporting period on equity securities, net   $ (114 )   $ (2,375 )

Variable Interest Entities
The Company holds passive interests in a number of entities that are considered to be variable interest entities (“VIEs”) under GAAP guidance. The Company’s VIE interests

principally consist of interests in limited partnerships and limited liability companies formed for the purpose of achieving diversified equity returns. The Company’s VIE interests,
carried as a part of other invested assets, totaled $6,278 and $6,381 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The Company’s VIE interests, carried as a part of
investment in unconsolidated trusts, totaled $1,238 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.
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The Company does not have power over the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of these VIEs and thus is not the primary beneficiary. Therefore,
the Company has not consolidated these VIEs. The Company’s involvement with each VIE is limited to its direct ownership interest in the VIE. The Company has no arrangements
with any of the VIEs to provide other financial support to or on behalf of the VIE. The Company’s maximum loss exposure relative to these investments was limited to the carrying
value of the Company’s investment in the VIEs, which amount to $7,516 and $7,619, as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. As of March 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding commitments totaling $4,518, respectively, whereby the Company is committed to fund these investments and may be called by
the partnership during the commitment period to fund the purchase of new investments and partnership expenses.

Note 4. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values have been determined by the Company using available market information from various market sources and appropriate valuation methodologies as
of the respective dates. However, considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and to develop the estimates of fair value. Although management is not aware of any
factors that would significantly affect the estimated fair value amounts, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts which the Company could
realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

The following describes the fair value hierarchy and provides information as to the extent to which the Company uses fair value to measure the value of its financial instruments
and information about the inputs used to value those financial instruments. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs in the valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
three broad levels.

Level 1 Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date. The
Company’s financial instruments valued using Level 1 criteria include cash equivalents and exchange traded common stocks.

Level 2 Observable inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, for an asset or liability or prices for similar assets or liabilities. The Company’s financial instruments
valued using Level 2 criteria include most of its fixed maturities, which consist of U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. Government securities, obligations of states and political
subdivisions, and certain corporate fixed maturities, as well as its non-redeemable preferred stocks. In determining fair value measurements of its fixed maturities and
non-redeemable preferred stocks using Level 2 criteria, the Company utilizes data from outside sources, including nationally recognized pricing services and
broker/dealers.   Prices for the majority of the Company’s Level 2 fixed maturities and non-redeemable preferred stocks were determined using unadjusted prices
received from pricing services that utilize models where the significant inputs are observable (e.g. interest rates, yield curves, prepayment speeds, default rates, loss
severities) or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 Valuations that are derived from techniques in which one or more of the significant inputs are unobservable (including assumptions about risk). Fair value is based on
criteria that use assumptions or other data that are not readily observable from objective sources. With little or no observable market, the determination of fair values
uses considerable judgment and represents the Company’s best estimate of an amount that could be realized in a market exchange for the asset or liability. The
Company’s financial instruments valued using Level 3 criteria consist of one equity security.   As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the value of the equity
security valued using Level 3 criteria was $189 and $185, respectively.
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As of March 31, 2024, financial instruments carried at fair value were measured on a recurring basis as summarized below:

   

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)     Total  

Assets:                        

Fixed maturities   $ —     $ 218,420     $ —     $ 218,420  

Equity securities     9,114       —       189       9,303  

Cash equivalents     13,309       —       —       13,309  

Total   $ 22,423     $ 218,420     $ 189     $ 241,032  

As of December 31, 2023, financial instruments carried at fair value were measured on a recurring basis as summarized below:

 

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)     Total  

Assets:                        

Fixed maturities   $ —     $ 218,219     $ —     $ 218,219  

Equity securities     9,228       —       185       9,413  

Cash equivalents     14,834       —       —       14,834  

Total   $ 24,062     $ 218,219     $ 185     $ 242,466  
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The following table sets forth the carrying amount, estimated fair value and level within the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s financial instruments as of March 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023.

        March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  

 

Level in Fair
Value

Hierarchy (1)  
Carrying
Amount    

Estimated
Fair Value    

Carrying
Amount    

Estimated
Fair Value  

Assets:                            

Cash and cash equivalents Level 1     $ 21,189     $ 21,189     $ 28,301     $ 28,301  

Fixed maturities Level 2     218,420       218,420       218,219       218,219  

Equity securities (1)     9,303       9,303       9,413       9,413  

Policy loans Level 3       1,810       1,810       1,778       1,778  

                                     

Liabilities:                                    

Junior subordinated debentures, net Level 2       33,738       34,508       33,738       33,670  

Revolving credit facility
  Level 2       4,024       4,024       3,019       3,019  

(1) See the aforementioned information for a description of the fair value hierarchy as well as a description of levels for classes of these financial assets.

Note 5. Allowance for Expected Credit Losses

Reinsurance Recoverables

The following table presents the balances of insurance premiums and other, reinsurance recoverables, net of the allowance for expected credit losses, at January 1,
2023 March 31, 2024 and September 30, 2023, 2023, and the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts/expected credit losses for the nine three months ended September 30,
2023. March 31, 2024 and 2023.

    At and for the three months ended March 31, 2024  

   

Reinsurance Recoverables,
Net of Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses    
Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses  
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Balance, beginning of period   $ 21,103     $ 61  

Current period change for expected credit losses     —       (5 )

Write-offs of uncollectible reinsurance recoverables     —       —  

Balance, end of period   $ 20,935     $ 56  

    At and for the three months ended March 31, 2023  

   

Reinsurance Recoverables,
Net of Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses    
Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses  

Balance, beginning of period   $ 25,913     $ —  

Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for credit losses at January 1, 2023     —       75  

Current period change for expected credit losses     —       (6 )

Write-offs of uncollectible reinsurance recoverables     —       —  

Balance, end of period   $ 24,916     $ 69  
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Future Adoption of New Accounting Standards

For more information regarding accounting standards that the Company has not yet adopted, see the “Recently Issued Accounting Standards - Future Adoption of New
Accounting Standards” section of Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2022 2023 Annual Report.

Accounting Policies

The following accounting policies have been updated to reflect the Company’s adoption of Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, as described above.

Credit Impairments of Fixed Maturities

The Company’s investments in fixed maturities, which include bonds and redeemable preferred stocks, are classified as “available-for-sale” and, accordingly, are carried at fair
value with the after-tax difference from amortized cost, less allowance for credit losses (“ACL”), as adjusted if applicable, reflected in shareholders’ equity as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. The Company’s equity securities, which include common and non-redeemable preferred stocks, are carried at fair value with
changes in fair value reported in net income. The fair values of fixed maturities and equity securities are largely determined from publicly quoted market prices, when available, or
independent broker quotations. Values that are not determined using quoted market prices inherently involve a greater degree of judgment and uncertainty and therefore ultimately
greater price volatility than the value of securities with publicly quoted market prices.

Prior to January 1, 2023, the Company applied other than temporary impairment (“OTTI”) guidance for securities in an unrealized loss position. An OTTI was recognized in
earnings within realized investment gains (losses) when it was anticipated that the amortized cost would not be recovered. When either: (i) the Company had the intent to sell the
security, or (ii) it was more likely than not that the Company would be required to sell the security before recovery, the reduction of amortized cost and the OTTI recognized in
earnings was the entire difference between the security’s amortized cost and estimated fair value. If neither of these conditions existed, the difference between the amortized cost of
the security and the present value of projected future cash flows expected to be collected was recognized as a reduction of amortized cost and an OTTI in earnings. If the estimated
fair value was less than the present value of projected future cash flows expected to be collected, this portion of the decline in value related to other-than-credit factors was recorded
in OCI.
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On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted accounting standards update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326) Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), using a modified retrospective approach. Under ASU 2016-13, for securities in an unrealized loss position, a credit loss is recognized in
earnings within realized investment gains (losses) when it is anticipated that the amortized cost will not be recovered. When either: (i) the Company has the intent to sell the
security; or (ii) it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security before recovery, the reduction of amortized cost and the loss recognized in earnings is
the entire difference between the security’s amortized cost and estimated fair value. If neither of these conditions exists, the difference between the amortized cost of the security
and the present value of projected future cash flows expected to be collected is recognized as a credit loss by establishing an ACL with a corresponding charge to earnings in
realized investment gains (losses). However, the ACL is limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost. This limitation is known as the “fair value floor.” If
the estimated fair value is less than the present value of projected future cash flows expected to be collected, this portion of the decline in value related to other-than-credit factors
(“noncredit loss”) is recorded in OCI.

Reinsurance Recoverables
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The Company’s insurance subsidiaries from time to time purchase reinsurance from unaffiliated insurers and reinsurers to reduce their potential liability on individual risks and to
protect against catastrophic losses. In a reinsurance transaction, an insurance company transfers, or “cedes,” a portion or all of its exposure on insurance policies to a reinsurer. The
reinsurer assumes the exposure in return for a portion of the premiums. The ceding of insurance does not legally discharge the insurer from primary liability for the full amount of the
policies written by it, and the ceding company will incur a loss if the reinsurer fails to meet its obligations under the reinsurance agreement.

Amounts currently recoverable under reinsurance agreements are included in reinsurance receivables and amounts currently payable are included in other liabilities. Assets and
liabilities relating to reinsurance agreements with the same reinsurer may be recorded net on the balance sheet, if a right of offset exists within the reinsurance agreement. In the
event that reinsurers do not meet their obligations to the Company under the terms of the reinsurance agreements, reinsurance recoverable balances could become uncollectible. In
such instances, reinsurance recoverable balances are stated net of allowances for uncollectible reinsurance.

Insurance Premiums and Other Receivables

Receivables amounts due from insureds and agents are evaluated periodically for collectibility. Allowances for expected credit losses are established, as and when a loss has
been determined probable, against the related receivable. An allowance for expected credit loss is recognized by the Company when determined on a specific account basis and a
general provision for loss is made based on the Company’s historical and expected experience.

Note 3. Investments

The following tables set forth the estimated fair value, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, ACL allowance for credit losses and cost or amortized cost of the
Company’s investments in fixed maturities and equity securities, aggregated by type and industry, as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023.
 


Fixed maturities were comprised of the following:
 

  September 30, 2023     March 31, 2024  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses  

Allowance
for

Credit Losses
    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost    
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Allowance
for

Credit
Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Fixed maturities:                                                          
Bonds:                                                          
U.S. Treasury securities and

obligations of U.S.
Government agencies and
authorities   $ 47,576     $ 1     $ 6,595     $ —     $ 54,170     $ 49,277     $ 53     $ 5,119     $
 —     $ 54,343  

Obligations of states and
political subdivisions     7,570       —       1,947       —       9,517       8,133       9       1,388       —       9,512  

Corporate securities:                                                                                
Utilities and telecom     19,693       —       4,064       —       23,757       21,854       80       2,939       —       24,713  
Financial services     55,897       369       8,212       —       63,740       60,733       549       5,175       —       65,359  
Other business – diversified     31,035       87       5,524       —       36,472       34,105       242       3,541       —       37,404  

Other consumer – diversified     41,073       3       8,294       —       49,364       44,091       31       5,731       —       49,791  

Total corporate securities     147,698       459       26,094       —       173,333       160,783       902       17,386       —       177,267  

Redeemable preferred stocks:                                                                                

Other consumer – diversified     224       31       —       —       193       227       34       —       —       193  

Total redeemable preferred
stocks     224       31       —       —       193       227       34       —       —       193  

Total fixed maturities   $ 203,068     $ 491     $ 34,636     $ —     $ 237,213     $ 218,420     $ 998     $ 23,893     $
 —     $ 241,315  

  December 31, 2023  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    
Allowance for
Credit Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Fixed maturities:                               

Bonds:                               

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies
and authorities   $ 50,059     $ 63     $ 4,944     $ —     $
 54,940  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions     8,106       15       1,424       —       9,515  

Corporate securities:                                        

Utilities and telecom     21,309       143       2,582       —       23,748  

Financial services     59,584       560       4,931       —       63,955  

Other business – diversified     34,386       403       2,940       —       36,923  
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Other consumer – diversified     44,570       87       4,870       —       49,353  

Total corporate securities     159,849       1,193       15,323       —       173,979  

Redeemable preferred stocks:                                        

Other consumer – diversified     205       13       —       —       192  

Total redeemable preferred stocks     205       13       —       —       192  

Total fixed maturities   $ 218,219     $ 1,284     $ 21,691     $ —     $
 238,626  
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    December 31, 2022  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Fixed maturities:                        

Bonds:                        

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies and authorities   $ 44,412     $ 5     $ 5,926     $ 50,333  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions     9,187       4       1,702       10,885  

Corporate securities:                                

Utilities and telecom     22,090       120       3,299       25,269  

Financial services     59,054       397       7,085       65,742  

Other business – diversified     31,058       161       4,689       35,586  

Other consumer – diversified     42,705       35       6,089       48,759  

Total corporate securities     154,907       713       21,162       175,356  

Redeemable preferred stocks:                                

Other consumer – diversified     223       31       —       192  

Total redeemable preferred stocks     223       31       —       192  

Total fixed maturities   $ 208,729     $ 753     $ 28,790     $ 236,766  

Bonds having an amortized cost of $11,778 $14,676 and $12,333 $14,647 and included in the tables above were on deposit with insurance regulatory authorities as of
September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, respectively, in accordance with statutory requirements. In addition, the Company maintains cash
and cash equivalents on deposit with insurance regulatory authorities of $226 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.Additionally, bonds having an amortized cost of
$6,883 $9,498 and $7,221 $9,584 and included in the tables above were pledged as collateral to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB”) at September 30, 2023 March 31,
2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, respectively.
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Equity securities were comprised of the following:
  

  September 30, 2023     March 31, 2024  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses     Cost    
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Equity securities:                                                
Common and non-redeemable preferred stocks:                                                

Financial services   $ 880    $ 577    $ —   $ 303     $ 1,054 $
 747 $
 — $
 307  

Other business – diversified     7,344       2,711       —      4,633  

Communications
     8,249 3,616 — 4,633  

Total equity securities   $ 8,224    $ 3,288    $ —   $ 4,936     $ 9,303 $
 4,363 $
 — $
 4,940  

  December 31, 2022     December 31, 2023  

 
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses     Cost    
Estimated
Fair Value    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Cost or
Amortized

Cost  

Equity securities:                                                
Common and non-redeemable preferred stocks:                                                
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Financial services   $ 790    $ 516    $ —   $ 274     $ 924 $
 621 $
 — $
 303  

Other business – diversified     10,772       6,139       —      4,633  

Communications     8,489 3,856 — 4,633  

Total equity securities   $ 11,562    $ 6,655    $ —   $ 4,907     $ 9,413 $
 4,477 $
 — $
 4,936  

The carrying value and amortized cost of the Company’s investments in fixed maturities at September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 by
contractual maturity were as follows. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment
penalties.
  

  September 30, 2023     December 31, 2022     March 31, 2024   December 31, 2023  

 
Carrying

Value    
Amortized

Cost    
Carrying

Value    
Amortized

Cost    
Carrying

Value  
Amortized

Cost  
Carrying

Value  
Amortized

Cost  

Due in one year or less   $ 367    $ 375    $ 3,776    $ 3,797     $ 6,795 $
 6,887 $
 1,715 $
 1,750  

Due after one year through five years     57,498       61,209       40,150       42,174     56,898 59,181 60,423 62,423  

Due after five years through ten years     33,444       38,759       44,044       49,711     32,680 35,968 33,596 36,752  

Due after ten years     77,744       97,530       87,719       103,095     87,772 100,890 86,857 97,984  

Asset backed securities     34,015       39,340       33,040       37,989       34,275 38,389 35,628 39,717  

Totals   $ 203,068    $ 237,213    $ 208,729    $ 236,766     $ 218,420 $
241,315 $
218,219 $
238,626  
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The following tables present the Company’s unrealized loss aging for securities by type and length of time the security was in a continuous unrealized loss position as of
September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.
 

  September 30, 2023     March 31, 2024  
  Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total     Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  

 
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses  
U.S. Treasury

securities and
obligations of
U.S.
Government
agencies and
authorities   $ 10,205    $ 264    $ 36,873    $ 6,331    $ 47,078    $ 6,595    $ 5,161    $ 44    $ 37,250    $ 5,075    $ 42,411    $ 5,119  
Obligations of

states and
political
subdivisions
    2,121       39       5,449       1,908       7,570       1,947       1,130       16       5,985       1,372       7,115       1,388  

Corporate
securities     12,457       748       129,484       25,346       141,941       26,094       11,793       161       136,344       17,225       148,137       17,386  

Total temporarily
impaired
securities   $ 24,783    $ 1,051    $ 171,806    $ 33,585    $ 196,589    $ 34,636    $ 18,084    $ 221    $ 179,579    $ 23,672    $ 197,663    $ 23,893  

    December 31, 2022  

    Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  

 
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses  

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
Government agencies and authorities   $ 23,763     $ 2,410     $ 19,259     $ 3,516     $ 43,022     $ 5,926  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions     8,183       1,702       —       —       8,183       1,702  

Corporate securities     127,928       16,214       14,514       4,948       142,442       21,162  

Total temporarily impaired securities   $ 159,874     $ 20,326     $ 33,773     $ 8,464     $ 193,647     $ 28,790  
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    December 31, 2023  

    Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total  

 
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses    
Fair

Value    
Unrealized

Losses  

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
Government agencies and authorities   $ 5,194 $
 37 $
 39,476 $
 4,907 $
 44,670 $
 4,944  

Obligations of states and political subdivisions
     1,145       3       5,936       1,421       7,081       1,424  

Corporate securities     539 13 138,283 15,310 138,822 15,323  

Total temporarily impaired securities   $ 6,878 $
 53 $
 183,695 $
 21,638 $
 190,573 $
 21,691  

   
Analysis of Securities in Unrealized Loss Positions

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there were 251 224 and 237 222 securities, respectively, in an unrealized loss position
which primarily included certain of the Company’s investments in fixed maturities within the utilities and telecom, financial services, other diversified business and other diversified
consumer sectors. The unrealized losses on the Company’s fixed maturity securities investments have been primarily related to general market changes in interest rates and/or the
levels of credit spreads rather than specific concerns with the issuer’s ability to pay interest and repay principal.

For any of its fixed maturity securities with significant declines in fair value, the Company performs detailed analyses to identify whether the drivers of the declines are due to
general market drivers, such as the recent increases rise in interest rates, or due to credit-related factors. Identifying the drivers of the declines in fair value helps to align and
allocate focus the Company’s resources to attention on securities with real credit-related concerns that could impact the ultimate collection of principal and interest. For any
significant declines in fair value determined to be non-interest rate or market related, the Company performs a more focused review of the related issuers’ issuer’s specific credit
profile.

For corporate issuers, the Company evaluates their assets, business profile including industry dynamics and competitive positioning, financial statements and other available
financial data. For non-corporate issuers, the Company analyzes all reasonably available sources of credit support, including issuer-specific factors. The Company utilizes
information available in the public domain and, for certain private placement issuers, from consultations with the issuers directly. The Company also considers ratings from
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations, (NRSROs), as well as the specific characteristics of the security it owns including seniority in the issuer’s capital structure,
covenant protections, or other relevant features. From these reviews, the Company evaluates the issuers’ continued ability to service the Company’s investment through payment of
interest and principal.

Assuming no credit-related factors develop, unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturity securities are expected to diminish as investments near maturity. Based on its credit
analysis, the Company believes that the issuers of its fixed maturity investments in the sectors shown in the table above have the ability to service their obligations to the Company.
In addition, Company, and the Company does not intend to sell the investments and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the investments before
recovery of their amortized cost bases, which may be at maturity.

However, from time to time the Company identifies certain available-for-sale fixed maturity securities where the amortized cost basis exceeds the present value of the cash flows
expected to be collected due to credit related credit-related factors and as a result, a credit allowance will be estimated.  The Company had no ACL allowance for expected credit
losses on its available-for-sale fixed maturities as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.
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The following tables summarize There were no realized investment gains for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and

2022. 2023.

  

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2023

Fixed
Maturities

Equity
Securities

Other
Invested Assets Total

Gains $ — $ — $ — $ —

Losses — — — —

Realized investment gains, net $ — $ — $ — $ —

   
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2022  

   
Fixed

Maturities    
Equity

Securities    
Other

Invested Assets     Total  

Gains   $ 101     $ —     $ —     $ 101  

Losses     —     —       —     —

Realized investment gains, net   $ 101   $ —     $ —   $ 101
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Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023  

   
Fixed

Maturities    
Equity

Securities    
Other

Invested Assets     Total  

Gains   $ 70     $ —     $ —     $ 70  

Losses     —       —       —       —  

Realized investment gains, net   $ 70     $ —     $ —     $ 70  

   
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2022  

   
Fixed

Maturities    
Equity

Securities    
Other

Invested Assets     Total  

Gains   $ 101     $ —     $ —     $ 101  

Losses     (53 )     —       (19 )     (72 )

Realized investment gains (losses), net   $ 48     $ —     $ (19 )   $ 29  

The following table presents the change in portion of unrealized losses related to equity securities still held for the three month period ended March 31, 2024 and nine month
periods ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 2023.

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    

Three Months
Ended    

March 31,
  

  2023     2022
     2023
     2022     2024
    2023   
Net realized and unrealized losses recognized during the period on equity

securities   $ (1,486 )   $ (2,783 )   $ (3,367 )  $ (5,456 )   $ (114 )   $ (2,375 )
Less: Net realized gains recognized during the period on equity securities sold

during the period     —       —       —      —      —       —  

Unrealized losses recognized during the reporting period on equity securities, net   $ (1,486 )   $ (2,783 )   $ (3,367 )  $ (5,456 )   $ (114 )   $ (2,375 )

  
Variable Interest Entities

 
The Company holds passive interests in a number of entities that are considered to be variable interest entities (“VIEs”) under GAAP guidance. The Company’s VIE interests

principally consist of interests in limited partnerships and limited liability companies formed for the purpose of achieving diversified equity returns. The Company’s VIE interests,
carried as a part of other invested assets, totaled $6,398 $6,278 and $5,386 $6,381 as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
respectively. The Company’s VIE interests, carried as a part of investment in unconsolidated trusts, totaled $1,238 as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023.
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The Company does not have power over the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of these VIEs and thus is not the primary beneficiary. Therefore,
the Company has not consolidated these VIEs. The Company’s involvement with each VIE is limited to its direct ownership interest in the VIE. The Company has no arrangements
with any of the VIEs to provide other financial support to or on behalf of the VIE. The Company’s maximum loss exposure relative to these investments was limited to the carrying
value of the Company’s investment in the VIEs, which amount to $7,636 $7,516 and $6,624, $7,619, as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023, respectively. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding commitments totaling $4,518, and
$5,872, respectively, whereby the Company is committed to fund these investments and may be called by the partnership during the commitment period to fund the purchase of new
investments and partnership expenses.
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Note 4. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values have been determined by the Company using available market information from various market sources and appropriate valuation methodologies as
of the respective dates. However, considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and to develop the estimates of fair value. Although management is not aware of any
factors that would significantly affect the estimated fair value amounts, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts which the Company could
realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

The following describes the fair value hierarchy and provides information as to the extent to which the Company uses fair value to measure the value of its financial instruments
and information about the inputs used to value those financial instruments. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs in the valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
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three broad levels.

Level 1 Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date. The
Company’s financial instruments valued using Level 1 criteria include cash equivalents and exchange traded common stocks.

Level 2 Observable inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, for an asset or liability or prices for similar assets or liabilities. The Company’s financial instruments
valued using Level 2 criteria include most of its fixed maturities, which consist of U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. Government securities, obligations of states and political
subdivisions, and certain corporate fixed maturities, as well as its non-redeemable preferred stocks. In determining fair value measurements of its fixed maturities and
non-redeemable preferred stocks using Level 2 criteria, the Company utilizes data from outside sources, including nationally recognized pricing services and
broker/dealers.   Prices for the majority of the Company’s Level 2 fixed maturities and non-redeemable preferred stocks were determined using unadjusted prices
received from pricing services that utilize models where the significant inputs are observable (e.g. interest rates, yield curves, prepayment speeds, default rates, loss
severities) or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 Valuations that are derived from techniques in which one or more of the significant inputs are unobservable (including assumptions about risk). Fair value is based on
criteria that use assumptions or other data that are not readily observable from objective sources. With little or no observable market, the determination of fair values
uses considerable judgment and represents the Company’s best estimate of an amount that could be realized in a market exchange for the asset or liability. The
Company’s financial instruments valued using Level 3 criteria consist of one equity security.   As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, the value of the equity security valued using Level 3 criteria was $189 and $185, and $156, respectively. The equity security is not traded and
is valued at cost. The use of different criteria or assumptions regarding data may have yielded materially different valuations.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, financial instruments carried at fair value were measured on a recurring basis as summarized below:

 

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)     Total    

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)     Total  

Assets:                                                
Fixed maturities   $ —     $ 203,068     $ —     $ 203,068     $ —     $ 218,420     $ —     $ 218,420  
Equity securities     8,039       —       185       8,224       9,114       —       189       9,303  

Cash equivalents     14,035       —       —       14,035       13,309       —       —       13,309  

Total   $ 22,074     $ 203,068     $ 185     $ 225,327     $ 22,423     $ 218,420     $ 189     $ 241,032  

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, financial instruments carried at fair value were measured on a recurring basis as summarized below:

 

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)     Total    

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)     Total  

Assets:                                                
Fixed maturities   $ —     $ 208,729     $ —     $ 208,729     $ —     $ 218,219     $ —     $ 218,219  
Equity securities     11,406       —       156       11,562       9,228       —       185       9,413  

Cash equivalents     18,861       —       —       18,861       14,834       —       —       14,834  

Total   $ 30,267     $ 208,729     $ 156     $ 239,152     $ 24,062     $ 218,219     $ 185     $ 242,466  
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The following table sets forth the carrying amount, estimated fair value and level within the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s financial instruments as of September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

      September 30, 2023     December 31, 2022         March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  

Level in Fair
Value

Hierarchy (1)  
Carrying
Amount    

Estimated
Fair Value    

Carrying
Amount    

Estimated
Fair Value  

Level in Fair
Value

Hierarchy (1)  
Carrying
Amount    

Estimated
Fair Value    

Carrying
Amount    

Estimated
Fair Value  

Assets:                                                        
ash and cash equivalents Level 1     $ 23,921     $ 23,921     $ 28,863     $ 28,863   Level 1     $ 21,189     $ 21,189     $ 28,301     $ 28,301  
xed maturities Level 2     203,068       203,068       208,729       208,729   Level 2     218,420       218,420       218,219       218,219  

quity securities (1)     8,224       8,224       11,562       11,562   (1)     9,303       9,303       9,413       9,413  
her invested assets Level 3       6,398       6,398       5,386       5,386  

olicy loans Level 2       1,822       1,822       1,759       1,759   Level 3       1,810       1,810       1,778       1,778  
vestment in unconsolidated trusts Level 2       1,238       1,238       1,238       1,238  
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abilities:                                                                        
nior subordinated debentures, net Level 2       33,738       32,923       33,738       33,810   Level 2       33,738       34,508       33,738       33,670  

Revolving credit facility
  Level 2       3,019       3,019       2,009       2,009    Level 2       4,024       4,024       3,019       3,019  

(1) See the aforementioned information for a description of the fair value hierarchy as well as a description of levels for classes of these financial assets.

Note 5. Allowance for Expected Credit Losses

Reinsurance Recoverables

The following table presents the balances of reinsurance recoverables, net of the allowance for expected credit losses, at March 31, 2024 and 2023, and the changes in the
allowance for expected credit losses for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

    At and for the three months ended March 31, 2024  

   

Reinsurance Recoverables,
Net of Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses    
Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses  

Balance, beginning of period   $ 21,103     $ 61  

Current period change for expected credit losses     —       (5 )

Write-offs of uncollectible reinsurance recoverables     —       —  

Balance, end of period   $ 20,935     $ 56  

    At and for the three months ended March 31, 2023  

   

Reinsurance Recoverables,
Net of Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses    
Allowance for Expected

Credit Losses  

Balance, beginning of period   $ 25,913     $ —  

Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for credit losses at January 1, 2023     —       75  

Current period change for expected credit losses     —       (6 )

Write-offs of uncollectible reinsurance recoverables     —       —  

Balance, end of period   $ 24,916     $ 69  
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Insurance Premium and Other Receivables

The following table presents the balances of insurance premiums and other, net of the allowance for expected credit losses, at March 31, 2024 and 2023, and the changes
in the allowance for expected credit losses for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

    At and for the three months ended March 31, 2024  

   
Insurance Premiums and Other,
Net of Expected Credit Losses    

Allowance for Expected
Credit Losses  

Balance, beginning of period   $ 23,690     $ 217  

Current period change for expected credit losses             (1 )

Write-offs of uncollectible insurance premiums and other receivables             —  

Balance, end of period   $ 14,696     $ 216  

    At and for the three months ended March 31, 2023  

   
Insurance Premiums and Other,
Net of Expected Credit Losses    

Allowance for Expected
Credit Losses  

Balance, beginning of period   $ 15,386     $ 177  

Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for  credit losses at January 1, 2023     —       —  

Current period change for expected credit losses     —       20  

Write-offs of uncollectible insurance premiums and other receivables     —       —  

Balance, end of period   $ 11,555     $ 197  
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Note 6. Internal-Use Software

On March 3, 2021, the Company entered into a hosting arrangement through a service contract with a third party software solutions vendor to provide a suite of policy, billing,
claim, and customer management services. The software is managed, hosted, supported, and delivered as a cloud-based software service product offering (software-as-a-service).
The initial term of the arrangement is five years from the effective date with a renewal term of an additional five years.

Service fees related to the hosting arrangement are recorded as an expense in the Company’s condensed consolidated statement of operations as incurred.  Implementation
expenses incurred related to third party professional and consulting services have been capitalized.  The Company will begin amortizing, on a straight-line basis over the expected
ten year term of the hosting arrangement, when the software is substantially ready for its intended use.  The Company incurred and capitalized implementation costs of $1,218 $970
and $1,357 $592 during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively. As a result, the Company has capitalized $4,240 $5,537 and
$3,614 in implementation costs in other assets within its condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2023. March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company
expects the software will be substantially ready for its intended use in the first second half of 2024. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded any amortization expense related to
software implementation costs for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and nine months ended September 30, 2023. 2023.

Note 6. 7.Insurance Reserves for Losses and Claims

The roll-forward of insurance reserves for losses and claims for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 is as follows:

 
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

  2023   2022     2024   2023  

Beginning insurance reserves for losses and claims, gross   $ 87,484   $ 85,620     $ 87,478   $ 87,484  

Less: Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses     (17,647 )     (17,690 )     (14,678 )     (17,647 )

Beginning insurance reserves for losses and claims, net     69,837     67,930       72,800     69,837  

                           
ncurred related to:                            
Current accident year     82,276     96,897       30,748     30,836  

Prior accident year development     2,706 (1)     (3,544 )(2)     (591 )(1)     (638 )(2)

Total incurred     84,982       93,353       30,157       30,198  

                               
Paid related to:                                
Current accident year     43,595       57,478       6,806       9,174  

Prior accident years     41,634       34,647       23,261       21,504  

Total paid     85,229       92,125       30,067       30,678  

Ending insurance reserves for losses and claims, net     69,590       69,158       72,890       69,357  

Plus: Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses     16,089       17,420       15,559       16,893  

Ending insurance reserves for losses and claims, gross   $ 85,679     $ 86,578     $ 88,449     $ 86,250  

(1) Prior years’ development was primarily the result of unfavorable favorable development in the automobile liability line of business in the property and casualty operations, due
to inflationary factors. partially offset by unfavorable development in the Medicare supplement line of business in the life and health operations.
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(2) Prior years’ development was primarily the result of favorable development in the property and casualty operations, as well as favorable development in the Medicare
supplement line of business in the life and health operations, as well as favorable development in the surety line of business in the property and casualty operations.
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Following is a reconciliation of total incurred losses to total insurance benefits and losses incurred:

 
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    

Three Months
Ended

March 31,  

  2023
     2022
     2024
     2023
  

Total incurred losses   $ 84,982     $ 93,353     $ 30,157     $ 30,198  
Cash surrender value and matured endowments     1,063       1,326       265       257  

Benefit reserve changes     598       (127 )     1,503       5

Total insurance benefits and losses incurred   $ 86,643     $ 94,552     $ 31,925     $ 30,460  
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Note 7. 8. Credit Arrangements

As expected, discontinuation of London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) occurred on June 30, 2023 (“LIBOR Cessation Date”) and affected the rates used in the Company’s
credit arrangements after that date. On March 15, 2022, the U.S. Congress enacted the Adjustable Interest Rate LIBOR Act (the “LIBOR Act”) to address LIBOR’s cessation and to
establish a clear and uniform process for replacing the overnight and one-, three-, six- and 12-month tenors of USD LIBOR in existing contracts that do not provide for the use of a
clearly defined or practicable replacement benchmark rate (“tough legacy contracts”).   Further, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the “Board”) has issued
regulations, 12 C.F.R. Part 253, “Regulations Implementing the Adjustable Interest Rate LIBOR Act (Regulation ZZ)” together with the LIBOR Act, constitute the “Federal LIBOR
Legislation,” which relates to the LIBOR transition.


Bank Debt

On May 12, 2021, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Truist Bank as the lender (the “Lender”). The  Revolving Credit
Agreement provides for an unsecured $10,000 revolving credit facility that matures originally matured on April 12, 2024. Prior to July 1, 2023 On March 22, 2024, the Company
paid entered into a First Amendment (the “Amendment”) to its Revolving Credit Agreement (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”) with the Lender. The Amendment, among other
things, (a) updates the interest rate provisions to memorialize that the Company pays interest on the unpaid principal balance of outstanding revolving loans at the 1-month LIBOR
Rate Adjusted Term SOFR rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement), plus 2.00%, subject to a LIBOR floor rate of 1.00%. Effective July 1, 2023, (b) extends the interest rate on the
unpaid principal balance of outstanding revolving loans is determined based on a reference rate maturity date of the 1-month Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”)
published revolving credit facility to March 22, 2027, and (c) requires that the Company maintain a consolidated net worth of not less than $64.2 million. Except as modified by
Chicago Mercantile Exchange Group Benchmark Administration Limited (“CME”) (as defined the Amendment, the existing terms of the original Credit Agreement remain in the
Credit Agreement) plus a spread adjustment of 0.11448% plus 2.00%, subject to a SOFR floor rate of 1.00%. effect.


The Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with certain covenants, including a debt to capital debt-to-capital ratio that restricts the Company from incurring
consolidated indebtedness that exceeds 35% of the Company’s consolidated capitalization at any time. time and maintained a minimum consolidated net worth, as previously
mentioned. The Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and events of default. Events of default include, among others, (a) the failure by the
Company to pay any amounts owed under the Credit Agreement when due, (b) the failure to perform and not timely remedy certain covenants, (c) a change in control of the
Company and (d) the occurrence of bankruptcy or insolvency events. Upon an event of default, the Lender may, among other things, declare all obligations under the Credit
Agreement immediately due and payable and terminate the revolving commitments. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had
outstanding borrowings including accrued interest of $4,024 and $3,019, respectively, under the Credit Agreement.

Junior Subordinated Debentures

The Company has two unconsolidated Connecticut statutory business trusts, which exist for the exclusive purposes of: (i) issuing trust preferred securities (“Trust Preferred
Securities”) representing undivided beneficial interests in the assets of the trusts; (ii) investing the gross proceeds of the Trust Preferred Securities in junior subordinated deferrable
interest debentures (“Junior Subordinated Debentures”) of the Company; and (iii) engaging in those activities necessary or incidental thereto.
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The outstanding $18.0 million and $15.7 million of Junior Subordinated Debentures mature on December 4, 2032 and May 15, 2033, respectively, are callable quarterly, in whole
or in part, only at the option of the Company.  Prior to July 1, 2023, the interest rate was based on 3-month LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The margin ranges from 4.00% to
4.10%. Effective July 1, 2023, the interest rate is determined based on a reference rate of the 3-month SOFR plus applicable tenor spread of 0.26161 percent plus an applicable
margin, ranging from 4.00% to 4.10%.
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The financial structure of each of Atlantic American Statutory Trust I and II as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was as follows:

 
Atlantic American
Statutory Trust I    

Atlantic American
Statutory Trust II    

Atlantic American
Statutory Trust I    

Atlantic American
Statutory Trust II  

JUNIOR SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES (1) (2)                        
Principal amount owed September 30, 2023   $ 18,042     $ 23,196  
Principal amount owed March 31, 2024   $ 18,042     $ 23,196  

Less: Treasury debt (3)     —       (7,500 )     —       (7,500 )

Net balance September 30, 2023   $ 18,042     $ 15,696  

Net balance December 31, 2022   $ 18,042     $ 15,696  

Net balance March 31, 2024   $ 18,042     $ 15,696  

Net balance December 31, 2023   $ 18,042     $ 15,696  

Coupon rate  
3-Month SOFR + 0.26161

spread adj + 4.00%    
3-Month SOFR + 0.26161

spread adj + 4.10%    
3-Month SOFR + 0.26161

spread adj + 4.00%    
3-Month SOFR + 0.26161

spread adj + 4.10%  
nterest payable   Quarterly     Quarterly     Quarterly     Quarterly  

Maturity date   December 4, 2032     May 15, 2033     December 4, 2032     May 15, 2033  
Redeemable by issuer   Yes     Yes     Yes     Yes  
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TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES                                
ssuance date   December 4, 2002     May 15, 2003     December 4, 2002     May 15, 2003  
Securities issued     17,500       22,500       17,500       22,500  
Liquidation preference per security   $ 1     $ 1     $ 1     $ 1  
Liquidation value   $ 17,500     $ 22,500     $ 17,500     $ 22,500  

Coupon rate  
3-Month SOFR + 0.26161

spread adj + 4.00%    
3-Month SOFR + 0.26161

spread adj + 4.10%    
3-Month SOFR + 0.26161

spread adj + 4.00%    
3-Month SOFR + 0.26161

spread adj + 4.10%  
Distribution payable   Quarterly     Quarterly     Quarterly     Quarterly  

Distribution guaranteed by (4)   Atlantic American Corporation     Atlantic American Corporation     Atlantic American Corporation     Atlantic American Corporation  

(1) For each of the respective debentures, the Company has the right at any time, and from time to time, to defer payments of interest on the Junior Subordinated Debentures for
a period not exceeding 20 consecutive quarters up to the debentures’ respective maturity dates. During any such period, interest will continue to accrue and the Company may
not declare or pay any cash dividends or distributions on, or purchase, the Company’s common stock nor make any principal, interest or premium payments on or repurchase
any debt securities that rank equally with or junior to the Junior Subordinated Debentures. The Company has the right at any time to dissolve each of the trusts and cause the
Junior Subordinated Debentures to be distributed to the holders of the Trust Preferred Securities.

(2) The Junior Subordinated Debentures are unsecured and rank junior and subordinate in right of payment to all senior debt of the Parent and are effectively subordinated to all
existing and future liabilities of its subsidiaries.

(3) On August 4, 2014, the Company acquired $7,500 of the Junior Subordinated Debentures.

(4) The Parent has guaranteed, on a subordinated basis, all of the obligations under the Trust Preferred Securities, including payment of the redemption price and any
accumulated and unpaid distributions to the extent of available funds and upon dissolution, winding up or liquidation.

Note 8. 9. Earnings (Loss) Loss Per Common Share

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the earnings (loss) loss per common share calculations is as follows:

   
Three Months Ended

September 30, 2023  

    Income    

Weighted

Average Shares
(In thousands)    

Per Share
Amount  

Basic Earnings Per Common Share:                  

Net income
   $ 1,759       20,402        

Less preferred stock dividends     (100 )     —        

   Net income applicable to common shareholders     1,659       20,402     0.08  

Diluted Earnings Per Common Share:                        

Effect of Series D preferred stock     100       1,378          

Net income applicable to common shareholders   $ 1,759       21,780     $ 0.08  
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Three Months Ended

March 31, 2024  

    Loss    

Weighted
Average Shares
(In thousands)    

Per Share
Amount  

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Share:                  

Net loss   $ (1,998 )     20,402        

Less preferred stock dividends     (99 )     —        

Net loss applicable to common shareholders   $ (2,097 )     20,402     $ (0.10 )
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Three Months Ended

September 30, 2022  

    Loss    

Weighted

Average Shares
(In thousands)    

Per Share
Amount  

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Share:                  
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Net loss   $ (684 )     20,389        

Less preferred stock dividends     (100 )     —        

   Net loss applicable to common shareholders   $ (784 )     20,389     $ (0.04 )

   
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023

    Income    

Weighted

Average Shares
(In thousands)    

Per Share
Amount  

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share:                  

Net income   $ 2,057       20,405        

Less preferred stock dividends     (299 )     —          

Net income applicable to common shareholders   $ 1,758       20,405     $ 0.09  

   
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2022  

    Income    

Weighted

Average Shares
(In thousands)    

Per Share
Amount  

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share:                  

Net income   $ 479     20,390        

Less preferred stock dividends     (299 )     —          

Net income applicable to common shareholders   $ 180     20,390     $ 0.01

 
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2023  

  Loss
    

Weighted
Average Shares
(In thousands)    

Per Share
Amount  

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Share:                  

Net loss
   $ (1,446 )     20,407        

Less preferred stock dividends
     (99 )     —        

Net loss applicable to common shareholders   $ (1,545 )     20,407     $ (0.08 )

The assumed conversion of the Company’s Series D preferred stock was excluded from the earnings (loss) loss per common share calculation for all periods presented, except
for the three month period periods ended September 30, 2023, March 31, 2024 and 2023, since its impact would have been antidilutive.
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Note
10.9.

Income Taxes

A reconciliation of the differences between income taxes computed at the federal statutory income tax rate and income tax expense (benefit) benefit is as follows:

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  

    2023
     2022
     2023
     2022
  

Federal income tax provision at statutory rate of 21%   $ 449     $ (199 )   $ 533     $ 154  

Dividends-received deduction     (10 )     (6 )     (27 )     (18 )

Meals and entertainment     9       29       32       49  

Vested stock and club dues
     11       (7 )     14       (7 )

Parking disallowance     5       4       13       12  

Penalties and fines
     —       —       —       149  

Adjustment for prior years’ estimates to actual
     (85 )     (86 )     (85 )     (86 )

Income tax expense (benefit)   $ 379     $ (265 )   $ 480     $ 253  
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Three Months Ended

March 31,  

  2024
     2023
  

Federal income tax provision at statutory rate of 21%   $ (526 )   $ (382 )

Dividends-received deduction     (6 )     (7 )

Meals and entertainment
     19       12  

Vested stock and club dues
     1       1  

Parking disallowance
     4       4  

Income tax benefit   $ (508 )   $ (372 )

The components of income tax expense (benefit) benefit were:

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  

    2023
     2022
     2023
     2022
  

Current – Federal   $ 790     $ 435     $ 2,191     $ 1,647  

Deferred – Federal     (411 )     (700 )     (1,711 )     (1,394 )

Total   $ 379     $ (265 )   $ 480     $ 253  

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

  2024
     2023
  

Current – Federal   $ —     $ 180  

Deferred – Federal     (508 )     (552 )

Total   $ (508 )   $ (372 )
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Note
10. 11.

Leases

The Company has two operating lease agreements, each for the use of office space in the ordinary course of business. The first lease renews annually on an automatic basis
and based on original assumptions, management is reasonably certain to exercise the renewal option through 2026. The original term of the second lease was ten years and
amended in January 2017 to provide for an additional seven years, with a termination date on September 30, 2026. The rate used in determining the present value of lease
payments is based upon an estimate of the Company’s incremental secured borrowing rate commensurate with the term of the underlying lease.

These leases are accounted for as operating leases, whereby lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease expense reported for the
nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and September 30, 2022March 31, 2023 was $761. $254.

Additional information regarding the Company’s real estate operating leases is as follows:

 
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

Other information on operating leases:   2023
     2022
     2024
     2023
  

Cash payments included in the measurement of lease liabilities reported in operating cash flows   $ 784     $ 772     $ 264     $ 260  
Right-of-use assets included in other assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheet   2,817     3,595     2,407     3,213  

Weighted average discount rate   6.8 %   6.8 %   6.8 %   6.8 %
Weighted average remaining lease term in years   3.1 years     4.1 years     2.6 years     3.6 years  

The following table presents maturities and present value of the Company’s lease liabilities:

  Lease Liability
     Lease Liability
 

Remainder of 2023   $ 264  
2024     1,065  
Remainder of 2024   $ 802  
2025     1,083       1,083  
2026     942       942  

Thereafter     —       —  

Total undiscounted lease payments     3,354       2,827  
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Less: present value adjustment     343       247  

Operating lease liability included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the condensed consolidated balance sheet   $ 3,011     $ 2,580  
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As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company has no operating leases that have not yet commenced.

Note
11. 12.

Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation


From time to time, the Company is, and expects to continue to be, involved in various claims and lawsuits incidental to and arising in the ordinary course of its business. In the
opinion of management, any such known claims are not expected to have a material effect on the financial condition or results of operations of the Company.

Regulatory Matters

Like all domestic insurance companies, the Company’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to regulation and supervision in the jurisdictions in which they do business. Statutes
typically delegate regulatory, supervisory, and administrative powers to state insurance commissioners.  From time to time, and in the ordinary course of business, the Company
receives notices and inquiries from state insurance departments with respect to various matters. In the opinion of management, any such known regulatory matters are not expected
to have a material effect on the financial condition or results of operations of the Company.
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Note
12. 13.

Segment Information

The Parent’s primary insurance subsidiaries, American Southern and Bankers Fidelity, operate in two principal business units, each focusing on specific products. American
Southern operates in the property and casualty insurance market, while Bankers Fidelity operates in the life and health insurance market. Each business unit is managed
independently and is evaluated on its individual performance. The following sets forth the assets, revenue and income (loss) before income taxes for each business unit as of and
for the periods ended 2023 2024 and 2022.2023.

Assets  
September 30,

2023
    
December 31,

2022
  

American Southern   $ 142,359     $ 144,455  

Bankers Fidelity     188,875       195,028  

Corporate and Other     30,386       27,581  

Total assets   $ 361,620     $ 367,064  

Revenues
  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  

  2023     2022     2023     2022  

Assets  
March 31,

2024
    
December 31,

2023
  

American Southern   $ 17,652     $ 18,538     $ 54,817     $ 56,540     $ 133,919     $ 149,236  
Bankers Fidelity     27,249       27,641       85,632       86,099       200,084       203,079  

Corporate and Other     (310 )     164       (401 )     (19 )     31,748       28,950  

Total revenue   $ 44,591     $ 46,343     $ 140,048     $ 142,620  

Total assets   $ 365,751     $ 381,265  

 Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  

  2023     2022
     2023     2022  

American Southern   $ 1,437     $ 1,892     $ 3,823     $ 4,659  

Bankers Fidelity     3,502       (850 )     6,705       2,084  

Corporate and Other     (2,801 )     (1,991 )     (7,991 )     (6,011 )

Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 2,138     $ (949 )   $ 2,537     $ 732  

 
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
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Revenues
   2024
     2023
  

American Southern   $ 18,858     $ 18,200  

Bankers Fidelity     28,171       28,190  

Corporate and Other     (32 )     (121 )

Total revenue   $ 46,997     $ 46,269  

 
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes   2024     2023
  

American Southern   $ 1,507     $ 1,352  

Bankers Fidelity     (1,287 )     (330 )

Corporate and Other     (2,726 )     (2,840 )

Loss before income taxes   $ (2,506 )   $ (1,818 )
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Item 2.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The following is management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of Atlantic American Corporation (“Atlantic
American” or the “Parent”) and its subsidiaries (collectively with the Parent, the “Company”) as of and for the three month and nine month periodsperiod ended
September 30, 2023March 31, 2024. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto included elsewhere herein, as well as with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022December 31, 2023 (the “2022 “2023 Annual Report”).

Atlantic American is an insurance holding company whose operations are conducted primarily through its insurance subsidiaries: American Southern
Insurance Company and American Safety Insurance Company (together known as “American Southern”) and Bankers Fidelity Life Insurance Company,
Bankers Fidelity Assurance Company and Atlantic Capital Life Assurance Company (together known as “Bankers Fidelity”). Each operating company is
managed separately, offers different products and is evaluated on its individual performance.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could differ significantly from those
estimates. The Company has identified certain estimates that involve a higher degree of judgment and are subject to a significant degree of variability. The
Company’s critical accounting policies and the resultant estimates considered most significant by management are disclosed in the 20222023 Annual Report.
Except as disclosed in Note 21 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company’s critical accounting policies are consistent with those
disclosed in the 20222023 Annual Report.

Overall Corporate Results

The following presents the Company’s revenue, expenses and net income (loss) loss for the three month and nine month periodsperiod ended
September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 and the comparable periodsperiod in 2022:2023:

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    

Three Months
Ended

March 31,  

  2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  
                          (In thousands)  

Insurance premiums, net   $ 43,746     $ 46,380     $ 135,906     $ 140,526     $ 44,552     $ 46,100  
Net investment income   2,325     2,641     7,425     7,510     2,556     2,541  
Realized investment gains, net   —    101     70     29  
Unrealized losses on equity securities, net   (1,486 )   (2,783 )   (3,367 )   (5,456 )   (114 )   (2,375 )
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Other income     6       4       14       11       3       3  

Total revenue     44,591       46,343       140,048       142,620       46,997       46,269  
Insurance benefits and losses incurred   26,818     30,630     86,643     94,552     31,925     30,460  
Commissions and underwriting expenses   11,064     12,843     36,830     35,894     12,666     12,918  
Interest expense   850     523     2,407     1,291     855     750  
Other expense     3,721       3,296       11,631       10,151       4,057       3,959  

Total benefits and expenses     42,453       47,292       137,511       141,888       49,503       48,087  

Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 2,138     $ (949 )   $ 2,537     $ 732  

Net income (loss)   $ 1,759     $ (684 )   $ 2,057     $ 479  

Loss before income taxes   $ (2,506 )   $ (1,818 )

Net loss   $ (1,998 )   $ (1,446 )

In addition to measures of operating performance determined in accordance with GAAP, managementManagement also considers and evaluates
performance by analyzing the non-GAAP measure operating income (loss). We define operating income (loss) as net income (loss) excluding: (i) income tax
expense (benefit); (ii) realized investment (gains) losses, net; , and (iii) unrealized (gains) losses on equity securities, net. Management believes operating
income (loss) it is a useful metric for investors, potential investors, securities analysts and others because it isolates the “core” operating results of the Company
before considering certain items that are either beyond the control of management (such as taxes, which are subject to timing, regulatory and rate changes
depending on the timing of the associated revenues and expenses) or are not expected to regularly impact the Company’s operational results (such as any
realized and unrealized investment gains, which are not a part of the Company’s primary operations and are, to a limited extent, subject to discretion in terms of
timing of realization).
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A reconciliation of net income (loss) loss to operating income (loss) for the three month and nine month periodsperiod ended September 30, 2023March
31, 2024 and the comparable periodsperiod in 20222023 is as follows:

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure   2023     2022     2023     2022  

    (In thousands)  

Net income (loss)   $ 1,759     $ (684 )   $ 2,057     $ 479  

Income tax expense (benefit)     379       (265 )     480       253  

Realized investment gains, net     —       (101 )     (70 )     (29 )

Unrealized losses on equity securities, net     1,486       2,783       3,367       5,456  

Non-GAAP operating income   $ 3,624     $ 1,733     $ 5,834     $ 6,159  

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure   2024     2023  

    (In thousands)  

Net loss   $ (1,998 )   $ (1,446 )

Income tax benefit     (508 )     (372 )

Unrealized losses on equity securities, net     114       2,375  

Non-GAAP operating income (loss)   $ (2,392 )   $ 557  

On a consolidated basis, the Company had net income loss of $1.8 million$2.0 million, or $0.08$(0.10) per diluted share, for the three month period
ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, compared to net loss of $0.7 million$1.4 million, or $(0.04)$(0.08) per diluted share, for the three month period
ended September 30, 2022.  The Company had net income of $2.1 million, or $0.09 per diluted share, for the nine month period ended September 30, 2023,
compared to net income of $0.5 million, or $0.01 per diluted share, for the nine month period ended September 30, 2022March 31, 2023.  The increase in net
income loss for the three month and nine periods ended September 30, 2023 first quarter of 2024 was primarily the result of a more favorabledecrease in
premium revenue in the life and health operations coupled with unfavorable loss experience in the life and health operations, from the comparable periods in
2022, coupled with a decrease in unrealized losses on equity securities. Partially offsetting this increase in net income for the nine month period ended
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September 30, 2023 was an increase in ancillary costs related to the new actuarial valuation system, coupled with an increase in administrative costs related to
the growth in the group and individual lines of business within the life and health operations.

ForPremium revenue for the three month period ended September 30, 2023, premium revenueMarch 31, 2024 decreased $2.6 million$1.5 million, or
5.7%3.4%, to $43.7 million$44.6 million from $46.4 million$46.1 million in the comparable period in 2022.  For the nine three month period ended September
30, 2023, premium revenue decreased $4.6 million, or 3.3%, to $135.9 million from $140.5 million in the comparable period in 2022.March 31, 2023.   The
decrease in premium revenue was primarily attributable to a decrease in the Medicare supplement insurance premiums in the life and health operations. Also
contributing to this decrease was a decrease in premium revenue in the automobile physical damage line of business in the property and casualty operations.

Operating income increased $1.9 milliondecreased $2.9 million in the three month period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 from the three
month period ended September 30, 2022March 31, 2023.  For the nine month period ended September 30, 2023, operating income decreased $0.3 million from
the comparable period in 2022.  The increasedecrease in operating income for the three month period ended September 30, 2023 was primarily the result of a
more favorabledue to unfavorable loss experience in the life and health operations from the comparable period in 2022. The decrease in operating income for
the nine month period ended September 30, 2023 was primarily attributabledue to ancillary costs related to the new actuarial valuation system, coupled with an
increase in administrative costs related to the growth incurred losses in the group life and individualMedicare supplement lines of business within the life and
health operations, as mentioned above.business.

A more detailed analysis of the individual operating segments and other corporate activities follows.

American Southern

The following summarizes American Southern’s premiums, losses, expenses and underwriting ratios for the three month and nine month periodsperiod
ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 and the comparable periodsperiod in 2022:2023:

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2024   2023  
  (Dollars in thousands)     (Dollars in thousands)  

Gross written premiums   $ 10,860     $ 12,400     $ 58,365     $ 63,558     $ 8,470     $ 9,430  
Ceded premiums     (1,501 )     (1,583 )     (4,476 )     (4,922 )     (1,450 )     (1,497 )

Net written premiums   $ 9,359     $ 10,817     $ 53,889     $ 58,636     $ 7,020     $ 7,933  

Net earned premiums   $ 16,571     $ 17,641     $ 51,662     $ 53,753     $ 17,878     $ 17,211  
Insurance benefits and losses incurred   11,881     12,031     38,089     36,549     12,813     12,660  
Commissions and underwriting expenses     4,335       4,615       12,906       15,332       4,538       4,189  

Underwriting income   $ 355     $ 995     $ 667     $ 1,872     $ 527     $ 362  

Loss ratio   71.7%   68.2%   73.7%   68.0%   71.7%   73.6%
Expense ratio     26.2       26.2       25.0       28.5       25.4       24.3  

Combined ratio     97.9%     94.4%     98.7%     96.5%     97.1%     97.9%

Gross written premiums at American Southern decreased $1.5 million$1.0 million, or 12.4%10.2%, during the three month period ended September 30,
2023 and decreased $5.2 million, or 8.2%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023,March 31, 2024 from the comparable periodsperiod in
2022.2023. The decrease in gross written premiums during the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2023 was primarily attributable to the
decrease in premiums written in the automobile physical damage line of business due to a reductionan overall decline in the number of agencies. trucking
industry. Partially offsetting the decrease in gross written premiums was an increase in premiums written in the automobile liability line of business due to price
increases in certain programs.
resulting from retrospective premium adjustments.
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Ceded premiums decreased $0.1 million, or 5.2%,slightly during the three month period ended September 30, 2023 and decreased $0.4 million, or 9.1%,
during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023,March 31, 2024 from the comparable periodsperiod in 2022.2023. American Southern’s ceded
premiums are typically determined as a percentage of earned premiums and generally increase or decrease as earned premiums increase or decrease.
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The following presents American Southern’s net earned premiums by line of business for the three month and nine month periodsperiod ended
September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 and the comparable periodsperiod in 2022:2023:

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2024   2023  
  (In thousands)     (In thousands)  

Automobile liability  $ 9,455    $ 9,546    $ 29,270    $ 25,731     $ 10,924     $ 9,320  
Automobile physical damage     3,534       4,179       11,574       16,649     3,371     4,247  
General liability     1,399       1,532       4,250       4,391     1,495     1,432  
Surety     1,592       1,485       4,696       4,453     1,519     1,565  
Other lines     591       899       1,872       2,529       569       647  

Total   $ 16,571    $ 17,641    $ 51,662    $ 53,753     $ 17,878     $ 17,211  

Net earned premiums decreased $1.1 million increased $0.7 million, or 6.1%3.9%, during the three month period ended September 30, 2023, and $2.1
million, or 3.9%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023,March 31, 2024 over the comparable periodsperiod in 2022.2023. The
decrease increase in net earned premiums was primarily attributable to an increase in earned premiums in the automobile liability line of business due to an
increase in the number of programs.  Partially offsetting the increase in net earned premiums was a decrease in earned premiums in the automobile physical
damage line of business due to a reductionan overall decline in the number of agencies trucking industry as previously mentioned, partially offset during the nine
month period ended September 30, 2023, by the increase in the automobile liability line of business.mentioned.   Premiums are earned ratably over their
respective policy terms, and therefore premiums earned in the current year are related to policies written during both the current year and immediately preceding
year.

The performance of an insurance company is often measured by its combined ratio. The combined ratio represents the percentage of losses, loss
adjustment expenses and other expenses that are incurred for each dollar of premium earned by the company. A combined ratio of under 100% represents an
underwriting profit while a combined ratio of over 100% indicates an underwriting loss. The combined ratio is divided into two components, the loss ratio (the
ratio of losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred to premiums earned) and the expense ratio (the ratio of expenses incurred to premiums earned).

Insurance benefits and losses incurred at American Southern decreased increased $0.2 million, or 1.2%, during the three month period ended September
30, 2023, and increased $1.5 million, or 4.2%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023,March 31, 2024 over the comparable periodsperiod in
2022.2023. As a percentage of earned premiums, insurance benefits and losses incurred were 71.7% in the three month period ended September 30,
2023March 31, 2024, compared to 68.2%73.6% in the three month period ended September 30, 2022March 31, 2023. For the nine month period ended
September 30, 2023, this ratio increased to 73.7% from 68.0% in the comparable period in 2022.  The increasedecrease in the loss ratio during the three month
and nine month periodsperiod ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 was mainlyprimarily due to a decrease in losses in the general liability line of
business, resulting from favorable reserve development.  Also contributing to the decrease in the loss ratio was a decrease in loss adjustment expenses related
to a decline in claims costs, as well as a decline in the surety line of business resulting from the loss of one program. Partially offsetting the decrease was an
increase in the frequency and severity of claims in the automobile liability line of business, as well as in the general liability line of business.  Partially offsetting
the increase in the loss ratio was a decrease in losses related to the automobile physical damage line of business due to a decrease in exposure.

Commissions and underwriting expenses decreased increased $0.3 million, or 6.1%8.3%, during the three month period ended September 30, 2023, and
$2.4 million, or 15.8% during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, over the comparable periodsperiod in 2022.2023. As a
percentage of earned premiums, underwriting expenses were 26.2%25.4% in each of the three month periodsperiod ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.
ForMarch 31, 2024, compared to 24.3% in the nine three month period ended September 30, 2023, this ratio decreased to 25.0% from 28.5% in the comparable
period in 2022.March 31, 2023. The decrease increase in the expense ratio during the three month and nine month periodsperiod ended September 30,
2023March 31, 2024 was primarily due to American Southern’s use of a variable commission structure with certain agents, which compensates the participating
agents in relation to the loss ratios of the business they write. During periods in which the loss ratio decreases, commissions and underwriting expenses will
generally increase, and conversely, during periods in which the loss ratio increases, commissions and underwriting expenses will generally decrease.  During
the three month period ended March 31, 2024, variable commissions at American Southern increased by $0.3 million from the comparable period in 2023 due to
a favorable loss experience from accounts subject to variable commissions.
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Bankers Fidelity

The following summarizes Bankers Fidelity’s earned premiums, losses, expenses and underwriting ratios for the three month and nine month
periodsperiod ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 and the comparable periodsperiod in 2022:2023:
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Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,    
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

  2023   2022   2023   2022     2024   2023  
  (Dollars in thousands)     (Dollars in thousands)  

Medicare supplement   $ 32,957     $ 36,766     $ 100,815     $ 112,013     $ 31,311     $ 34,252  
Other health products   3,525     3,392     10,907     9,314     3,153     3,278  
Life insurance     4,619       3,994       14,691       12,081       5,339       5,568  
Gross earned premiums   41,101     44,152     126,413     133,408     39,803     43,098  
Ceded premiums     (13,926 )     (15,413 )     (42,169 )     (46,635 )     (13,129 )     (14,209 )

Net earned premiums     27,175       28,739       84,244       86,773       26,674       28,889  
Insurance benefits and losses incurred   14,937     18,599     48,554     58,003     19,112     17,800  
Commissions and underwriting expenses     8,810       9,893       30,373       26,012       10,346       10,720  

Total expenses     23,747       28,492       78,927       84,015       29,458       28,520  

Underwriting income   $ 3,428     $ 247     $ 5,317     $ 2,758  

Underwriting income (loss)   $ (2,784 )   $ 369  

Loss ratio   55.0%   64.7%   57.6%   66.8%   71.7%   61.6%
Expense ratio     32.4       34.4       36.1       30.0       38.8       37.1  

Combined ratio     87.4%     99.1%     93.7%     96.8%     110.5%     98.7%
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Net earned premium revenue at Bankers Fidelity decreased $1.6 million$2.2 million, or 5.4%7.7%, during the three month period ended September 30,
2023, and $2.5 million, or 2.9%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, from the comparable periodsperiod in 2022.2023.
Gross earned premiums from the Medicare supplement line of business decreased $3.8 million$2.9 million, or 10.4%8.6%, during the three month period ended
September 30, 2023, and $11.2 million, or 10.0%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, due primarily to non-renewals
exceeding the level of new business writings.writings as the existing block of business has incurred rate increases. Other health product premiums
increaseddecreased $0.1 million, or 3.9%3.8%, during the three month period ended September 30, 2023, and $1.6 million, or 17.1%, during the nine month
period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, over the comparable periodsperiod in 2022,2023, primarily as a result of a decline in new sales of the
company’s group health andproducts, partially offset by an increase in new sales of the company's individual cancer products.product. Gross earned premiums
from the life insurance line of business increased $0.6 milliondecreased $0.2 million, or 15.6%4.1%, during the three month period ended September 30, 2023,
and increased $2.6 million, or 21.6%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023,March 31, 2024 over the comparable periodsperiod in 2022,
primarily2023 due to an increase in the group life products premium.  Partially offsetting this increase was a decrease in  the individual life products premium,
resulting from the redemption and settlement of existing individual life policy obligations exceeding the level of new individual life sales.   Premiums ceded
decreased $1.5 million$1.1 million, or 9.6%7.6%, during the three month period ended September 30, 2023 and $4.5 million, or 9.6%, during the nine month
period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, from the comparable periodsperiod in 2022.2023.  The decrease in ceded premiums for the three month
and nine month periodsperiod ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 was due to a decrease in Medicare supplement premiums subject to reinsurance.

Insurance benefits and losses incurred decreased $3.7 million increased $1.3 million, or 19.7%7.4%, during the three month period ended September
30, 2023, and $9.4 million, or 16.3%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, from the comparable periodsperiod in
2022.2023.  As a percentage of earned premiums, insurance benefits and losses incurred were 55.0%71.7% in the three month period ended September 30,
2023March 31, 2024, compared to 64.7%61.6% in the three month period ended September 30, 2022March 31, 2023.   For the nine month period ended
September 30, 2023, this ratio decreased to 57.6% from 66.8% in the comparable period in 2022.  The decrease increase in the loss ratio for the three month
and nine month periodsperiod ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 was primarily due to improved rate adequacy and a decreasean increase in incurred
losses in the number of incurred claims within thegroup life and Medicare supplement line lines of business. This decrease increase was marginally offset by
increaseddecreased loss ratios on in the other health individual life lines of business.

Commissions and underwriting expenses decreased $1.1 million$0.4 million, or 10.9%3.5%, during the three month period ended September 30, 2023,
and increased $4.4 million, or 16.8%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, over the comparable periodsperiod in
2022.2023.  As a percentage of earned premiums, underwriting expenses were 32.4%38.8% in the three month period ended September 30, 2023March 31,
2024, compared to 34.4%37.1% in the three month period ended September 30, 2022March 31, 2023.  For the nine month period ended September 30, 2023,
this ratio increased to 36.1% from 30.0% in the comparable period in 2022. The decrease in the expense ratio for the three month period ended September 30,
2023 was primarily due to a decrease in commission expenses in the Medicare supplement line of business as a result of non-renewals exceeding the level of
new business writings, as previously mentioned.  The increase in the expense ratio for the nine month period ended September 30, 2023 was  primarily due to
an increase in administrative costs related to the growth in the group and individual health lines of business, coupled with increased Medicare supplement
servicing costs.business.

Net Investment Income and Realized Gains
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Investment income decreased $0.3 million, or 12.0%, increased slightly during the three month period ended September 30, 2023, and decreased $0.1
million, or 1.1%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023, over the comparable periods in 2022. The decrease in investment income in the three
month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, from the comparable periodsperiod in 2022,2023. The increase in investment
income was primarily attributable to thean increase in investment income related to fixed maturities and equity securities.  Partially offsetting this increase was a
decrease in the equity in earnings from investments in the Company's limited partnerships and limited liability companies of $0.6 million in each of the
aforementioned periods.$0.1 million.

The Company had no net realized investment gains during each of the three month period ended September 30, 2023, compared to net realized
investment gains of $0.1 million during the three month period ended September 30, 2022.   The Company had net realized investment gains of $0.1 million
during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023 and net realized investment gains of less than $0.1 million during the nine month period ended
September 30, 2022.   The net realized investment gains during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023 resulted primarily from the disposition of
several of the Company's investments in fixed maturity securities. The net realized investment gains during the three month and nine month periods ended
September 30, 2022 resulted primarily from the disposition of several of the Company's investments in fixed maturity securities, partially offset by the redemption
of several of the Company’s investments in fixed maturity securities.March 31, 2024 and 2023. Management continually evaluates the Company’s investment
portfolio and makes adjustments for impairments and/or divests investments as may be determined to be appropriate.
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Unrealized Losses on Equity Securities

Investments in equity securities are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, with any changes in fair value reported in net income during
the period, with certain exceptions.period. The Company recognized net unrealized losses on equity securities of $1.5 million$0.1 million during the three month
period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024 and unrealized losses on equity securities of $2.8 million$2.4 million during the three month period ended
September 30, 2022.  The Company recognized net unrealized losses on equity securities of $3.4 million during the nine month period ended September 30,
2023 and unrealized losses on equity securities of $5.5 million during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022March 31, 2023.  Changes in unrealized
gains (losses) on equity securities for the applicable periods are primarily the result of fluctuations in the market value of certain of the Company’s equity
securities.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $0.3 million$0.1 million, or 62.5%14.0%, during the three month period ended September 30, 2023, and $1.1 million, or
86.4%, during the nine month period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, from the comparable periodsperiod in 2022.2023. Changes in interest
expense were primarily due to changes in the Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) published by CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited,
(“CME”), as the interest rates on the Company’s outstanding junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures (“Junior Subordinated Debentures”) and the
revolving credit facility are directly related to SOFR. As expected, discontinuation of London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) occurred on June 30, 2023,
affected the rates used in the Company’s credit arrangements after that date. The U.S. Congress enacted the Adjustable Interest Rate LIBOR Act (the "LIBOR
Act") to address LIBOR’s cessation and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the “Board”) issued regulations, 12 C.F.R. Part 253,
“Regulations Implementing the Adjustable Interest Rate LIBOR Act (Regulation ZZ)” together with the LIBOR Act, constitute the “Federal LIBOR Legislation,”
which relates to the LIBOR transition. For more details about the LIBOR transition see Note 7 (Credit Arrangements).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The primary cash needs of the Company are for the payment of claims and operating expenses, maintaining adequate statutory capital and surplus
levels, and meeting debt service requirements. Current and expected patterns of claim frequency and severity may change from period to period but generally
are expected to continue within historical ranges. The Company’s primary sources of cash are written premiums, investment income and proceeds from the sale
and maturity of its invested assets. The Company believes that, within each operating company, total invested assets will be sufficient to satisfy all policy
liabilities and that cash inflows from investment earnings, future premium receipts and reinsurance collections will be adequate to fund the payment of claims
and operating expenses as needed for the next 12 months and beyond.needed.
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Cash flows at the Parent are derived from dividends, management fees, and tax-sharing payments, as described below, from the subsidiaries. The
principal cash needs of the Parent are for the payment of operating expenses, the acquisition of capital assets and debt service requirements, as well as the
repurchase of shares and payments of any dividends as may be authorized and approved by the Company’s board of directors from time to time. At September
30, 2023March 31, 2024, the Parent had approximately $4.8 million$5.9 million of unrestricted cash and investments.

The Parent’s insurance subsidiaries reported statutory net income loss of $8.9 million$1.6 million for the nine three month period ended September 30,
2023March 31, 2024, compared to statutory net income of $5.7 million$1.1 million for the nine three month period ended September 30, 2022March 31, 2023.
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Statutory results are impacted by the recognition of all costs of acquiring business. In periods in which the Company’s first year premiums increase, statutory
results are generally lower than results determined under GAAP. Statutory results for the Company’s property and casualty operations may differ from the
Company’s results of operations under GAAP due to the deferral of acquisition costs for financial reporting purposes. The Company’s life and health operations’
statutory results may differ from GAAP results primarily due to the deferral of acquisition costs for financial reporting purposes, as well as the use of different
reserving methods.

Over 90% of the invested assets of the Parent’s insurance subsidiaries are invested in marketable securities that can be converted into cash, if required;
however, the use of such assets by the Company is limited by state insurance regulations. Dividend payments to a parent corporation by its wholly owned
insurance subsidiaries are subject to annual limitations and are restricted to 10% of statutory surplus or statutory earnings before recognizing realized
investment gains of the individual insurance subsidiaries. At September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, American Southern had $53.4 million$52.4 million of statutory
capital and surplus and Bankers Fidelity had $37.4 million$32.6 million of statutory capital and surplus. In 2023,2024, dividend payments by the Parent’s
insurance subsidiaries in excess of $8.7 million$8.8 million would require prior approval. Through September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, the Parent received
dividends of $5.4 million$2.7 million from its subsidiaries.

The Parent provides certain administrative and other services to each of its insurance subsidiaries. The amounts charged to and paid by the subsidiaries
include reimbursements for various shared services and other expenses incurred directly on behalf of the subsidiaries by the Parent. In addition, there is in place
a formal tax-sharing agreement between the Parent and its insurance subsidiaries. As a result of the Parent’s tax loss, it is anticipated that the tax-sharing
agreement will continue to provide the Parent with additional funds from profitable subsidiaries to assist in meeting its cash flow obligations.
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The Company has two statutory trusts which exist for the exclusive purpose of issuing trust preferred securities representing undivided beneficial
interests in the assets of the trusts and investing the gross proceeds of the trust preferred securities in Junior Subordinated Debentures. The outstanding $18.0
million and $15.7 million of Junior Subordinated Debentures mature on December 4, 2032 and May 15, 2033, respectively, are callable quarterly, in whole or in
part, only at the option of the Company, and have an interest rate of 3-month CME Term SOFR plus applicable tenor spread of 0.26161 percent plus an
applicable margin. The margin ranges from 4.00% to 4.10%. At September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, the effective interest rate was 9.70%9.64%.   The
obligations of the Company with respect to the issuances of the trust preferred securities represent a full and unconditional guarantee by the Parent of each
trust’s obligations with respect to the trust preferred securities. Subject to certain exceptions and limitations, the Company may elect from time to time to defer
Junior Subordinated Debenture interest payments, which would result in a deferral of distribution payments on the related trust preferred securities. As of
September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, the Company has not made such an election.

The Company intends to pay its obligations under the Junior Subordinated Debentures using existing cash balances, dividend and tax-sharing payments
from the operating subsidiaries, or from existing or potential future financing arrangements.

At September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, the Company had 55,000 shares of Series D preferred stock (“Series D Preferred Stock”) outstanding. All of the
shares of Series D Preferred Stock are held by an affiliate of the Company’s controlling shareholder. The outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock have a
stated value of $100 per share; accrue annual dividends at a rate of $7.25 per share (payable in cash or shares of the Company’s common stock at the option of
the board of directors of the Company) and are cumulative. In certain circumstances, the shares of the Series D Preferred Stock may be convertible into an
aggregate of approximately 1,378,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, subject to certain adjustments and provided that such adjustments do not result
in the Company issuing more than approximately 2,703,000 shares of common stock without obtaining prior shareholder approval; and are redeemable solely at
the Company’s option. The Series D Preferred Stock is not currently convertible. At September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, the Company had accrued but unpaid
dividends on the Series D Preferred Stock totaling $0.3 million$0.1 million.

Bankers Fidelity Life Insurance Company (''BFLIC") is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta ("FHLB"), for the primary purpose of
enhancing financial flexibility. As a member, BFLIC can obtain access to low-cost funding and also receive dividends on FHLB stock. The membership
arrangement provides for credit availability of five percent of statutory admitted assets, or approximately $8.0 million$8.2 million, as of September 30,
2023March 31, 2024. Additional FHLB stock purchases may be required based upon the amount of funds borrowed from the FHLB. As of September 30,
2023March 31, 2024, BFLIC has pledged bonds having an amortized cost of $6.9 million$9.5 million to the FHLB.  BFLIC may be required to post additional
acceptable forms of collateral for any borrowings that it makes in the future from the FHLB.  As of September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, BFLIC does not have
any outstanding borrowings from the FHLB.

On May 12, 2021, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Truist Bank as the lender (the “Lender”). The
Revolving Credit Agreement provides for an unsecured $10.0 million revolving credit facility that maturesoriginally matured on April 12, 2024. UnderOn March
22, 2024, the Company entered into a First Amendment (the "Amendment") to its Revolving Credit Agreement (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”) with the
Lender. The Amendment, among other things, (a) updates the interest rate provisions to memorialize that the Company paidpays interest on the unpaid
principal balance of outstanding revolving loans at 1-month the Adjusted Term SOFR plus a spread adjustment of 0.11448%rate (as defined in the Credit
Agreement), plus 2.00%, subject (b) extends the maturity date of the revolving credit facility to March 22, 2027, and (c) requires that the Company maintain a
SOFR floor rateconsolidated net worth of 1.00%not less than $64.2 million. Except as modified by the Amendment, the existing terms of the original Credit
Agreement remain in effect.
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The Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with certain covenants, including a debt to capital ratio that restricts the Company from incurring
consolidated indebtedness that exceeds 35% of the Company’s consolidated capitalization at any time. time and maintained a minimum consolidated net worth,
as previously mentioned. The Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and events of default. Events of default include, among
others, (a) the failure by the Company to pay any amounts owed under the Credit Agreement when due, (b) the failure to perform and not timely remedy certain
covenants, (c) a change in control of the Company and (d) the occurrence of bankruptcy or insolvency events. Upon an event of default, the Lender may, among
other things, declare all obligations under the Credit Agreement immediately due and payable and terminate the revolving commitments. As of September 30,
2023March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding borrowings including accrued interest of $4.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively,
under the Credit Agreement.

Cash and cash equivalents decreased from $28.9 million$28.3 million at December 31, 2022December 31, 2023 to $23.9 million$21.2 million at
September 30, 2023March 31, 2024. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the nine three month period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024
was primarily attributable to net cash used in operating activities of $3.5 million$5.3 million. Also contributing to the decrease in cash and cash equivalents was
net cash used in investing activities of $2.0 million$2.8 million primarily as a result of investment purchases exceeding investment sales and maturity of
securities. Partially offsetting the decrease in cash and cash equivalents was net cash provided by financing activities of $0.6 million$1.0 million primarily as a
result of proceeds from bank financing.

The Company believes that existing cash balances as well as the dividends, fees, and tax-sharing payments it expects to receive from its subsidiaries
and, if needed, borrowings under its credit facilities or additional borrowings from financial institutions, will enable the Company to meet its liquidity requirements
for the foreseeable future. Management is not aware of any current recommendations by regulatory authorities, which, if implemented, would have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity, capital resources or operations.

26

Table of Contents


Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”) reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management necessarily applies its judgment in assessing the costs
and benefits of such controls and procedures, which, by their nature, can provide only reasonable assurance regarding management’s control objectives. The
Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures can
prevent all possible errors or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. There are inherent limitations in all control systems, including the realities that judgments in decision-making can be
faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the intentional acts of one or more
persons. The design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and, while our disclosure controls
and procedures are designed to be effective under circumstances where they should reasonably be expected to operate effectively, there can be no assurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Because of the inherent limitations in any control system,
misstatements due to possible errors or fraud may occur and may not be detected.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of the end of the period covered by this report. that date
due to a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described below.

Remediation of Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. The
Company’s internal control over financial reporting system has been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Management recognizes that there are inherent
limitations in the effectiveness of any internal control system. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect all misstatements. Furthermore, the application of any evaluations of effectiveness on future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
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As previously disclosed in Part II, Item 9A. “Controls and Procedures” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2022December 31, 2023, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we believe rose rise to the level of a material weakness. A material weakness
is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Specifically, management determined that certain the design of
the controls surrounding the process controls overof reviewing insurance reserves and deferred acquisition costs within the development, testing, and
implementation of our actuarial models used to estimate certain values in the Medicare supplement line of business within ourCompany’s life and health
segment werewas not effective and the related management review controlseffective.  This deficiency in design did not operateenable the timely detection of
anomalies in these values at an appropriate the level of precision necessary to identify anomalies in results timely enough to allow management to respond
without delays in our financial reporting process for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2022 and the quarter ended March 31, 2023.  detect misstated
values that may be material.

Notwithstanding these deficiencies, management believes that, as a result of the actions taken by management to address and correct these deficiencies
prior to the completion and filing of the relevant periodic reports for those periods, and the effective operation of other internal controls over financial reporting,
the material weakness did not result in any identified material misstatements to our financial statements.   As a result, there were no changes to any of our
previously-released financial statements.

To addressThe Company is currently in the previously disclosedprocess of remediating the material weakness as described above, which remediation
efforts began in the Company implemented changes in processes thatquarter ended March 31, 2024 and include developing and implementing enhanced
controls over related to the review of values that are estimated using actuarial models.  The enhancements include implementing reviews at the product level
where management evaluates, for each of the Company’s life and health products, the components of underwriting income and how they interrelate.  In addition,
calculations that are independent from the actuarial models will, once fully developed, validate that the product parameters and actuarial assumptions are
completely and accurately reflected within the actuarial models.

The Company has also initiated the development testing,of an array of analytical reports that will help facilitate the timely detection of anomalous values
within the Company’s life and implementationhealth segment.   It is currently expected that these reports will be operational by September 30, 2024.   These
reports will include reconciliations of actuarial values from quarter to quarter, utilizing values estimated via the actuarial models and additional controls over the
reporting of the financial informationvalues that is obtained from these models. During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the Company successfully
completed the testing necessary to conclude that the material weakness has been remediated.are produced by accounting processes.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Except forOther than the changes remediation efforts described above, relating to the Company’s remediation efforts, there were no changes in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2023,March 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

No system of controls, no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the system of controls are met. 
Furthermore, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and any instances of fraud within a company have been detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities, Use of Proceeds, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On October 31, 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a plan that allows for the repurchase of up to 750,000 shares of the Company's
common stock (the "Repurchase Plan") on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, as determined by an authorized officer of the Company. Any
such repurchases can be made from time to time in accordance with applicable securities laws and other requirements.

Other than pursuant toDuring the Repurchase Plan, three month period ending March 31, 2024 no purchases of common stock of the Company were
made by or on behalf of the Company duringpursuant to the periods described below.Repurchase Plan.   The maximum number of shares that may yet be
purchased under the Repurchase Plan was 325,129 as of March 31, 2024.

On May 24, 2022, the Company’s shareholders approved the 2022 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2022 Plan”). The table below sets forth
information regarding repurchases by2022 Plan authorizes the Companygrant of up to 3,000,000 stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares,
restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units and other awards, and succeeded the 2012 Plan for the purpose of its common stock on a
monthly basis duringproviding the Company’s non-employee directors, consultants, officers and other employees incentives and rewards for performance and
service.
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During the three month period ended September 30, 2023.ending March 31, 2024 the Company withheld 2,530 shares of common stock of the Company
to satisfy its income tax withholding and remittance obligations in connection with the 2022 Plan net settlement upon the vesting of shares of restricted stock.

Period

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

Average
Price Paid
per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs

Maximum Number
of Shares that may
Yet be Purchased
Under the Plans

or Programs

July 1 – July 31, 2023 — $ — — 325,129

August 1 – August 31, 2023 — — — 325,129

September 1 – September 30, 2023 — — — 325,129

Total — $ — —

Period  

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased    

Average
Price Paid
per Share    

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs    

Maximum Number
of Shares that may
Yet be Purchased
Under the Plans

or Programs  

January 1 – January 31, 2024     —     $ —       —       325,129  

February 1 – February 29, 2024     —       —       —       325,129  

March 1 – March 31, 2024     2,530       2.80       2,530       325,129  

Total     2,530     $ 2.80       2,530          

Item 5. Other Information

None of the Company's directors or officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement during
the quarter ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, as such terms are defined under Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

Item 6. Exhibits

10.1 First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2024, by and between Atlantic American Corporation and Truist Bank.

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
32.1 Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
101.INS 101. INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL

document).
   
101.SCH 101.
SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

   
101.CAL 101.
CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

   
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
   
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
   
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
   
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

  ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION

  (Registrant)  
       
Date: November 13, 2023 May 14, 2024 By: /s/ J. Ross Franklin  

    J. Ross Franklin
    Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
    (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1
REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT1

By and Between
ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION,

As the Borrower,
And

TRUIST BANK,
As the Lender

Dated as of May 12, 2021

1 As amended by that certain First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2024.
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REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of May 12, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), by and between ATLANTIC AMERICAN
CORPORATION, a Georgia corporation (the “Borrower”), and TRUIST BANK (the “Lender”).

The Borrower has requested that the Lender establish a Ten Million and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000) revolving credit facility in favor of the Borrower and, subject to the
terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Lender is willing to establish the requested revolving credit facility in favor of the Borrower;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants herein contained, the Borrower and the Lender agree as follows:
ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS; CONSTRUCTION
Section 1.1.        Definitions.  In addition to the other terms defined herein, the following terms used herein shall have the meanings herein specified (to be equally applicable

to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined):
“Acquisition” shall mean, whether, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions and whether by purchase, lease (including any lease that contains upfront

payments and/or buyout options), exchange, issuance of stock or other equity or debt securities, merger, reorganization or any other method, (a) any acquisition by the Borrower or
any Subsidiary of the Borrower of a majority of the Capital Stock of any other Person which have the ordinary voting power for the election of the board of directors (or equivalent
governing body) of such other Person, (b) any acquisition by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower of all or substantially all of the assets of any other Person or (c) any
other acquisition by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower of the assets constituting a business, division, line of business from another Person which acquisition is not in
the ordinary course of business for the Borrower or such Subsidiary.

“Adjusted Term SOFR” shall mean, for purposes of any calculation and subject to the provisions of Section 2.13(b), the rate per annum equal to (a) Term SOFR for such
calculation plus (b) the Term SOFR Adjustment.

“Affiliate” shall mean, as to any Person, any other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls, is Controlled by, or is under common
Control with, such Person. For the purposes of this definition, “Control” shall mean the power, directly or indirectly, either to (i) vote 10% or more of the securities having ordinary
voting power for the election of directors (or persons performing similar functions) of a Person or (ii) direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person,
whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by control or otherwise.  The terms “Controlled by” and “under common Control with” have the meanings correlative thereto.

“American Southern” shall mean American Southern Insurance Company, an insurance company organized under the laws of the State of Kansas.
“Anti-Corruption Laws” shall mean all laws, rules, and regulations of any jurisdiction applicable to the Borrower or its Subsidiaries from time to time concerning or relating to

bribery or corruption.
“Approved Fund” shall mean any Person (other than a natural Person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans

and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business and that is administered or managed by (a) the Lender, (b) an Affiliate of the Lender or (c) an entity or an
Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages the Lender.

“Availability Period” shall mean the period from the Closing Date to but excluding the Revolving Commitment Termination Date.
“Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current Benchmark, as applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark or payment period

for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark, as applicable, that is or may be used for determining the length of an interest period pursuant to this Agreement or any
frequency of making payments of interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such Benchmark
that is removed from the definition of “Interest Period” pursuant to Section 2.13(d).

“Bank Product Obligations” shall mean, collectively, all obligations and other liabilities of the Borrower arising with respect to any Bank Products.
“Bank Products” shall mean any of the following services provided to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries by Lender or its Affiliates: (a) any treasury or other cash

management services, including deposit accounts, automated clearing house (ACH) origination and other funds transfer, depository (including cash vault and check deposit), zero
balance accounts and sweeps, return items processing, controlled disbursement accounts, positive pay, lockboxes and lockbox accounts, account reconciliation and information
reporting, payables outsourcing, payroll processing, trade finance services, investment accounts and securities accounts, and (b) card services, including credit cards (including
purchasing cards and commercial cards), prepaid cards, including payroll, stored value and gift cards, merchant services processing, and debit card services.

“Bankers Fidelity Life” shall mean Bankers Fidelity Life Insurance Company, an insurance company organized under the laws of the State of Georgia.
“Base Rate” shall mean the highest of (i) the rate which the Lender publicly announces from time to time as its prime lending rate, as in effect from time to time, (ii) the

Federal Funds Rate, as in effect from time to time, plus one-half of one percent (0.50%) per annum, (iii) Adjusted Term SOFR for a one-month tenor in effect on such day plus
1.00% and (iv) zero percent (0.00%).   The Lender’s prime lending rate is a reference rate and does not necessarily represent the lowest or best rate actually charged to any
customer.   The Lender may make commercial loans or other loans at rates of interest at, above or below the Lender’s prime lending rate.   Each change in the Lender’s prime
lending rate, the Federal Funds Rate or Adjusted Term SOFR, as applicable, shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change.
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“Base Rate Loan” shall mean a Revolving Loan that bears interest at a rate based on the Base Rate.
“Base Rate Term SOFR Determination Day” shall have the meaning set forth the definition of “Term SOFR”.
“Benchmark” shall mean, initially, the Term SOFR Reference Rate; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred with respect to the Term SOFR Reference

Rate or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” shall mean the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior
benchmark rate pursuant to Section 2.13(a).

2

“Benchmark Replacement” shall mean with respect to any Benchmark Transition Event, the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Lender
for the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date:

(a)        the sum of (i) Daily Simple SOFR and (ii) 0.10% (10 basis points); and
(b)        the sum of: (i) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Lender and the Borrower giving due consideration to (A) any selection or recommendation

of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (B) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for
determining a benchmark rate as a replacement to the then-current Benchmark for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities and (ii) the related Benchmark Replacement
Adjustment.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” shall mean, with respect to any replacement of the then-current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the
spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Lender and
the Borrower giving due consideration to (a) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the
replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body or (b) any evolving or then-prevailing market
convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable
Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities.

“Benchmark Replacement Date” shall mean a date and time determined by the Lender, which date shall be no later than the earlier to occur of the following events with
respect to the then-current Benchmark:

(a)             in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event”, the later of (i) the date of the public statement or publication of information
referenced therein and (ii) the date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to
provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(b)             in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event”, the first date on which such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof) has been determined and announced by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) to be non-
representative; provided that such non-representativeness will be determined by reference to the most recent statement or publication referenced in such clause (c) and even if any
Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) continues to be provided on such date.

For the avoidance of doubt, the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable
event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Transition Event” shall mean the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark:

3

(a)       a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof)
announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely; provided
that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component
thereof);

(b)           a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof), the Federal Reserve Board, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such
component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution
authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to
provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no
successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(c)           a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are not, or as of a specified future date will not be, representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of
information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” shall mean, the period (if any) (a) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark
Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.13 and (b) ending at the time that a
Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.13.

“Beneficial Ownership Certification” shall mean a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.
“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” shall mean 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.
“Business Day” shall mean (a) any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in Atlanta, Georgia are authorized or required by law to

close, and (b) if such day relates to a determination of a SOFR Loan, the component of Base Rate based on SOFR or any other calculation or determination involving SOFR, the
term “Business Day” means any such day that is also a U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

“Capital Stock” shall mean all shares, options, warrants, general or limited partnership interests, membership interests or other equivalents (regardless of how designated)
of or in a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or equivalent entity whether voting or nonvoting, including common stock, preferred stock or any other equity security.

4

“Change in Control” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events: (i) the acquisition of ownership, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, by any
Person or “group” (within the meaning of the Exchange Act and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission thereunder as in effect on the date hereof) other than any
Permitted Holder of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the voting equity interests of the Borrower, or (ii) during any period of 24 consecutive months, a majority of the
members of the board of directors or other equivalent governing body of the Borrower cease to be composed of individuals who are Continuing Directors; or (iii) the Borrower shall
fail to own, directly or indirectly, beneficially and of record, more than 50% of the Capital Stock of each of American Southern and Bankers Fidelity Life.
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“Change in Law” shall mean the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following: (i) the adoption or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (ii)
any change in any law, rule, regulation or treaty, or in the administration, interpretation, implementation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority, or (iii) the making or
issuance of any request, rule, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority; provided that notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives in connection therewith and (y) all requests, rules,
guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United
States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date enacted, adopted or
issued.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and in effect from time to time.
“Commodity Exchange Act” shall mean the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. §1 et seq.) (as amended and, together with any successor statute).
“Compliance Certificate” shall mean a certificate from the principal executive officer or the principal financial officer of the Borrower substantially in the form of Exhibit A

hereunder.
“Conforming Changes” shall mean, with respect to either the use or administration of Term SOFR or the use, administration, adoption or implementation of any Benchmark

Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of “Base Rate”, the definition of “Business Day”, the definition of “U.S.
Government Securities Business Day”, the definition of “Interest Period” or any similar or analogous definition (or the addition of a concept of “interest period”), timing and frequency
of determining rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the applicability and length of lookback
periods and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Lender decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of any such rate or to
permit the use and administration thereof by the Lender in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Lender decides that adoption of any portion of such
market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Lender determines that no market practice for the administration of any such rate exists, in such other manner of
administration as the Lender decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents).

“Consolidated Capitalization” shall mean the sum of, without duplication, (a) Consolidated Indebtedness and (b) the consolidated stockholders’ equity (determined in
accordance with GAAP) of the common and preferred stockholders of the Borrower recorded on the Borrower’s consolidated financial statements.

“Consolidated Indebtedness” shall mean, as of any date of determination, consolidated Indebtedness for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

5

“Consolidated Net Worth” shall mean, as of any date, the consolidated stockholders’ equity (determined in accordance with GAAP) of the common and preferred
stockholders of the Borrower recorded on the Borrower’s consolidated financial statements.

“Continuing Directors” shall mean the members of the Borrower’s board of directors on the Closing Date and each other director nominated for election or elected to such
board of directors with the approval of a majority of the Continuing Directors who were members of such board at the time of such nomination or election.

“Credit Event” shall mean the making of a Revolving Loan.
“Daily Simple SOFR” shall mean, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being established by the Lender in accordance with

the conventions for this rate selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for determining “Daily Simple SOFR” for syndicated business loans; provided, that if the
Lender decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Lender, then the Lender may establish another convention in its reasonable discretion.

“Debt to Capital Ratio” shall mean the ratio of Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization.
“Default” shall mean any condition or event that, with the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
“Dollar(s)” and the sign “$” shall mean lawful money of the United States.
“Environmental Laws” shall mean all laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders, decrees, judgments, injunctions, notices or binding agreements issued,

promulgated or entered into by or with any Governmental Authority relating in any way to the environment, preservation or reclamation of natural resources, the management,
Release or threatened Release of any Hazardous Material or to health and safety matters.

“Environmental Liability” shall mean any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for damages, costs of environmental investigation and remediation, costs of
administrative oversight, fines, natural resource damages, penalties or indemnities), of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (i)
any actual or alleged violation of any Environmental Law, (ii) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (iii) any actual
or alleged exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (iv) the Release or threatened Release of any Hazardous Materials or (v) any contract, agreement or other consensual
arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

“ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute and the regulations promulgated and
rulings issued thereunder.

“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.
“Federal Funds Rate” shall mean, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100th of 1% but not less than zero percent) equal to the

weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with member banks of the Federal Reserve System, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York
on the next succeeding Business Day or if such rate is not so published for any Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rounded upwards, if
necessary, to the next 1/100th of 1% of the quotations for such day on such transactions received by the Lender from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected
by the Lender.

6

“First Amendment” means that certain First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of the First Amendment Effective Date by and between the Borrower and
the Lender.

“First Amendment Effective Date” means March 22, 2024.
“Fiscal Quarter” shall mean any fiscal quarter of the Borrower.
“Fiscal Year” shall mean any fiscal year of the Borrower.
“GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles in the United States applied on a consistent basis and subject to the terms of Section 1.3.
“Governmental Approval” means any consent, authorization, approval, order, license, franchise, permit, certificate, accreditation, registration, or filing of notice, in each case

of, issued by, from or to, or other act by or in respect of, any Governmental Authority.
“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority,

instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to
government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

“Guarantee” of or by any Person (the “guarantor”) shall mean any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the economic effect of
guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or indirectly and including any obligation, direct or
indirect, of the guarantor (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

49/67

supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, (ii) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such
Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (iii) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so
as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation or (iv) as an account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued in support of
such Indebtedness or obligation; provided that the term “Guarantee” shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.  The amount of any
Guarantee shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such Guarantee is made or, if not so stated or
determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof (assuming such Person is required to perform thereunder) as determined by such Person in good
faith.  The term “Guarantee” used as a verb has a corresponding meaning.

“Hazardous Materials” means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or
petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature
regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law.

7

“Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money or similar obligation, (b) all obligations of such Person
evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c)   all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property
acquired by such Person, (d) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding trade accounts payable incurred in the
ordinary course of business), (e) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured
by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed, (f) all Guarantees by such Person of
Indebtedness of others, (g) all capital lease obligations of such Person, (h) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit
and letters of guaranty, and (i) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers’ acceptances.   The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the
Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in which such Person is a general partner) to the extent such Person is liable therefor as a result of such Person’s
ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity, except to the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor.  The amount of any
Indebtedness of a Person for which recourse is limited to an identified asset or assets of such Person shall be equal to the lesser of (x) the amount of such Indebtedness and (y) the
fair market value of such asset or assets. For purposes of this definition, the amount of any Indebtedness represented by a Guaranty shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the
stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation, or portion thereof, in respect of which such Guaranty is made (or, if less, the maximum amount of such primary obligation
for which such person may be liable, whether singly or jointly, pursuant to the terms of the instrument, agreements or other documents evidencing such Guaranty) or, if not stated or
determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof (assuming such person is required to perform thereunder) as determined by such person in good faith.

“Interest Payment Date” shall mean (a) with respect to any Base Rate Loan, the last day of each calendar month and the Revolving Commitment Termination Date and (b)
with respect to any SOFR Loan, the last day of each Interest Period applicable to each Revolving Loan and the Revolving Commitment Termination Date.

“Interest Period” shall mean with respect to any SOFR Loan, a period of one (1) month (in each case, subject to the availability thereof); provided that:
(i)        the initial Interest Period for such Revolving Loan shall commence on the date of such Revolving Loan (including the date of any conversion from a Revolving Loan

of another Type), and each Interest Period occurring thereafter in respect of such Revolving Loan shall commence on the day on which the next preceding Interest Period expires;
(ii)       if any Interest Period would otherwise end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day, unless

such Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which case such Interest Period would end on the immediately preceding Business Day;
(iii)      any Interest Period which begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month

at the end of such Interest Period shall end on the last Business Day of such calendar month;
(v)       no Interest Period may extend beyond the Revolving Commitment Termination Date; and
(vi)no tenor that has been removed from this definition pursuant to Section 2.13(e) shall be available for specification in such Notice of Revolving Borrowing.
“Investments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.4.
“IRS” shall mean the United States Internal Revenue Service.
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“Lien” shall mean any mortgage, pledge, security interest, lien (statutory or otherwise), charge, encumbrance, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, or other
arrangement having the practical effect of any of the foregoing or any preference, priority or other security agree-ment or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever
(including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement and any capital lease having the same economic effect as any of the foregoing).

“Loan Documents” shall mean, collectively, this Agreement, the Revolving Loan Note, all Notices of Revolving Borrowing, all Compliance Certificates, any other promissory
notes issued hereunder or evidencing any of the Obligations, and any and all other instruments, agreements, documents and writings executed by the Borrower in connection with
any of the Obligations or any of the foregoing.

 “Material Adverse Effect” shall mean, with respect to any event, act, condition or occurrence of whatever nature (including any adverse determination in any litigation,
arbitration, or governmental investigation or proceeding), whether singularly or in conjunction with any other event or events, act or acts, condition or conditions, occurrence or
occurrences whether or not related, resulting in a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect on, (i) the business, results of operations, financial condition, assets, or
liabilities of the Borrower, or the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii)  ability of the Borrower to perform any of its material obligations under the Loan Documents, (iii)
the rights and remedies of the Lender under the Loan Documents, taken as a whole, or (iv) the legality, validity or enforceability of any of the Loan Documents.

“Moody’s” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.
“Notice of Revolving Borrowing” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.
“Obligations” shall mean (a) all amounts owing by the Borrower to the Lender pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document or otherwise

with respect to any Revolving Loan including, without limitation, all principal, interest (including any interest accruing after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy or the
commencement of any insolvency, reorganization or like proceeding relating to the Borrower, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest is allowed in such
proceeding), reimbursement obligations, fees, expenses, indemnification and reimbursement payments, costs and expenses (including all fees and expenses of counsel to the
Lender incurred pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, now existing or hereafter
arising hereunder or thereunder, (b) all hedging obligations owed by the Borrower to the Lender or any Affiliate of the Lender, and (c) all Bank Product Obligations, together with all
renewals, extensions, modifications or refinancings of any of the foregoing.

“OFAC” shall mean the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.
“OSHA” shall mean the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.
“Patriot Act” shall mean the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, Pub. L. 107-56, as

amended and in effect from time to time.
“Periodic Term SOFR Determination Day” shall have the meaning set forth in the definition of “Term SOFR”.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

50/67

9

“Permitted Holder” shall mean (a) the estate of J. Mack Robinson, (b) Harriet J. Robinson and her lineal descendants and spouses of her lineal descendants, and Hilton H.
Howell, Jr. and his lineal descendants and spouses of his lineal descendants, (c) in the event of the incompetence or death of any of the Persons described in clause (b), such
Person’s estate, executor, administrator, committee or other personal representative, (d) any trusts created for the benefit of the Persons described in clause (a) or (b), (e) any
Person controlled by any of the Persons described in clause (a), (b), (c) or (d), and (f) any group of Persons (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) in
which the Persons described in clause (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e), individually or collectively, control such group.

“Permitted Indebtedness” shall mean:
(i)        Indebtedness to the Lender and its Affiliates;
(ii)     Indebtedness issued pursuant to the Subordinated Debenture Indentures and Guarantees by the Borrower in respect thereof, but only so long as the Indebtedness

evidenced by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents constitute “Senior Indebtedness” under each such Subordinated Debenture Indenture;
(iii)Indebtedness existing on the Closing Date and listed on Schedule 8.1, and any permitted refinancings in respect thereof as approved by the Lender in its sole discretion;
(iv)     Indebtedness with respect to capital lease obligations (the capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date

in accordance with GAAP) and Indebtedness incurred in connection with purchase money Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $2,000,000 at any time
outstanding;

(v)           Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial institution of a check, draft or other similar instrument drawn against insufficient funds in the
ordinary course of business; and

(vi)      Indebtedness under performance bonds, surety bonds, release, appeal and similar bonds, statutory obligations or with respect to workers’ compensation claims, in
each case incurred in the ordinary course of business, and reimbursement obligations in respect of any of the foregoing;

“Permitted Investments” shall mean: (i) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally Guaranteed by, the United States (or by
any agency thereof to the extent such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States), in each case maturing within one year from the date of acquisition
thereof; (ii) commercial paper having the highest rating, at the time of acquisition thereof, of S&P or Moody’s and in either case maturing within six months  from the date of
acquisition thereof; (iii) certificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances and time deposits maturing within 180 days of the date of acquisition thereof issued or Guaranteed by or placed
with, and money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof which
has a combined capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than $500,000,000; (iv) fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than 30 days for
securities described in clause (i) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in clause (iii) above; (v) marketable securities that are permitted
under the Borrower’s investment policy and applicable law, and (vi) mutual funds investing solely in any one or more of the Permitted Investments described in clauses (i) through
(v) above.

“Permitted Liens” shall mean:
(i)        Liens granted to the Lender or its Affiliates;
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(ii)       Liens so long as the aggregate outstanding amount of obligations secured by such Liens at any time does not exceed $1,000,000;
(iii)Liens in existence on the Closing Date and described on Schedule 8.2, and the replacement, renewal or extension thereof (including Liens incurred, assumed or

suffered to exist in connection with any Permitted Indebtedness permitted pursuant to clause (ii) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness” (solely to the extent that such
Liens were in existence on the Closing Date and described on Schedule 8.2)); provided that the scope of any such Lien shall not be increased, or otherwise expanded, to
cover any additional property or type of asset, as applicable, beyond that in existence on the Closing Date, except for products and proceeds of the foregoing;

(iv)           Liens for taxes, assessments and other governmental charges or levies (excluding any Lien imposed pursuant to any of the provisions of ERISA or
Environmental Laws) (i) not yet due or as to which the period of grace, if any, related thereto has not expired or (ii) which are being contested in good faith and by
appropriate proceedings if adequate reserves are maintained to the extent required by GAAP;

(v)      Liens securing the claims of materialmen, mechanics, carriers, warehousemen, processors or landlords for labor, materials, supplies or rentals incurred in the
ordinary course of business, which (i) are not overdue for a period of more than thirty (30) days, or if more than thirty (30) days overdue, no action has been taken to enforce
such Liens and such Liens are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings if adequate reserves are maintained to the extent required by GAAP and (ii) do
not, individually or in the aggregate, materially impair the use thereof in the operation of the business of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries;

(vi)         deposits or pledges made in the ordinary course of business in connection with, or to secure payment of, obligations under workers’ compensation,
unemployment insurance and other types of social security or similar legislation, or to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts and leases (other than Indebtedness),
statutory obligations, surety bonds (other than bonds related to judgments or litigation), performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary
course of business;

(vii)     encumbrances in the nature of zoning restrictions, easements and rights or restrictions of record on the use of real property, which in the aggregate are not
substantial in amount and which do not, in any case, detract from the value of such property or impair the use thereof in the ordinary conduct of business;

(viii)    banker’s Liens, rights of setoff and Liens in favor of financial institutions incurred in the ordinary course of business arising in connection with deposit accounts
or securities accounts held at such institutions solely to secure payment of fees and similar costs and expenses;

(ix)      Liens arising from the filing of precautionary UCC financing statements relating solely to personal property leased pursuant to operating leases entered into in
the ordinary course of business;

(x)Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under clause (iv) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness”; provided that (A) such Liens shall be created substantially
simultaneously with the acquisition, repair, construction, improvement or lease, as applicable, of the related property, (B) such Liens do not at any time encumber any
property other than the property financed or improved by such Indebtedness (provided that individual financings of assets provided by a lender may be cross-collateralized
to other financings provided by such lender), (C) the amount of Indebtedness secured thereby is not increased and (D) the principal amount of Indebtedness secured by any
such Lien shall at no time exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the original price for the purchase, repair, construction, improvement or lease amount (as applicable) of
such property at the time of purchase, repair, construction, improvement or lease (as applicable); and
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(ix)Liens securing judgments for the payment of money not constituting an Event of Default under Section 9.1(i) or securing appeal or other surety bonds relating to
such judgments.
“Person” shall mean any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, joint venture, limited liability company, trust or other entity, or any Governmental Authority.
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“Regulation T, U, or X” shall mean Regulation T, Regulation U, or Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as the same may be in effect from
time to time, and any successor regulations.

“Related Parties” shall mean, with respect to any specified Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the respective managers, administrators, trustees, partners, directors,
officers, employees, agents, advisors or other representatives of such Person and such Person’s Affiliates.

“Release” shall mean any release, spill, emission, leaking, dumping, injection, pouring, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration into the environment
(including ambient air, surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata) or within any building, structure, facility or fixture.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Federal Reserve Board or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal
Reserve Board or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto.

“Restricted Payment” shall mean, for any Person, any dividend or distribution on any class of its Capital Stock, or any payment on account of, or set apart assets for a
sinking or other analogous fund for, the purchase, redemption, retirement, defeasance or other acquisition of any shares of its Capital Stock, any Indebtedness subordinated to the
Obligations or any Guarantee thereof or any options, warrants or other rights to purchase such Capital Stock or such Indebtedness, whether now or hereafter outstanding, or any
management or similar fees.

“Revolving Commitment” shall mean the commitment of the Lender to make Revolving Loans to the Borrower in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed Ten Million
and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000), as such commitment may subsequently be increased or decreased pursuant to the terms hereof.

“Revolving Commitment Termination Date” shall mean the earliest of (i) March 22, 2027, (ii) the date on which the Revolving Commitment is terminated pursuant to Section
2.5 and (iii) the date on which all amounts outstanding under this Agreement have been declared or have automatically become due and payable (whether by acceleration or
otherwise).

“Revolving Credit Exposure” shall mean, at any time, the sum of the outstanding principal amount of the Lender’s Revolving Loans.
“Revolving Loan” shall mean a loan made by the Lender to the Borrower under the Revolving Commitment.
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“Revolving Loan Note” shall mean the Revolving Loan Note, dated of even date herewith, made by the Borrower to the Lender in the principal amount of the Revolving
Commitment, as the same may be amended, modified, supplemented, or replaced from time to time.

“Sanctioned Country” shall mean, at any time, a country or territory that is, or whose government is, the subject or target of any Sanctions.
“Sanctioned Person” shall mean, at any time, (a) any Person that is the subject or target of any Sanctions, (b) any Person located, organized, operating or resident in a

Sanctioned Country or (c) any Person owned or controlled by any such Person.
“Sanctions” shall mean economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or enforced from time to time by (a) the U.S. government, including

those administered by OFAC or the U.S. Department of State, (b) the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or His Majesty’s Treasury of the United Kingdom or (c)
any other relevant sanctions authority.

“Solvent” shall mean, with respect to any Person on a particular date, that on such date (a) the fair value of the property of such Person is greater than the total amount of
liabilities, including subordinated and contingent liabilities, of such Person; (b) the present fair saleable value of the assets of such Person is not less than the amount that will be
required to pay the probable liability of such Person on its debts and liabilities, including subordinated and contingent liabilities as they become absolute and matured; (c) such
Person does not intend to, and does not believe that it will, incur debts or liabilities beyond such Person’s ability to pay as such debts and liabilities mature; and (d) such Person is
not engaged in a business or transaction, and is not about to engage in a business or transaction, for which such Person’s property would constitute an unreasonably small capital. 
The amount of contingent liabilities (such as litigation, guaranties and pension plan liabilities) at any time shall be computed as the amount that, in light of all the facts and
circumstances existing at the time, represents the amount that would reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured liability.

“SOFR” shall mean a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the SOFR Administrator.
“SOFR Administrator” shall mean the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).
“SOFR Borrowing” shall mean a Revolving Loan that bears interest at a rate based on Adjusted Term SOFR, other than pursuant to clause (iii) of the definition of “Base

Rate”.
“SOFR Loan” shall mean a Revolving Loan that bears interest at a rate based on Adjusted Term SOFR, other than pursuant to clause (iii) of the definition of “Base Rate”.
“S&P” shall mean Standard & Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
“Statutory Accounting Principles” means, with respect to any insurance company, statutory accounting principles prescribed or permitted by the National Association of

Insurance Commissioners and, as applicable, the state department of insurance of the state of domicile of such insurance company for the preparation of financial statements and
reports by insurance companies of the same type as such insurance company.

“Subordinated Debenture Indentures” means, collectively, (i) that certain Indenture, dated as of December 4, 2002, by the Borrower, as issuer, and State Street Bank and
Trust Company of Connecticut, National Association, as trustee, and (ii) that certain Indenture, dated as of May 15, 2003, by the Borrower, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee.
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“Subsidiary” shall mean, with respect to any Person (the “parent”) at any date, any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association or other entity
the accounts of which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent’s consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with
GAAP as of such date, as well as any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association or other entity (i) of which securities or other ownership
interests representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership
interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, or (ii) that is, as of such date, otherwise controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent
and one or more subsidiaries of the parent.  Unless otherwise indicated, all references to “Subsidiary” hereunder shall mean a Subsidiary of the Borrower.

“Swap Obligation” shall mean any obligation to pay or perform under any agreement, contract or transaction that constitutes a “swap” within the meaning of section 1a(47) of
the Commodity Exchange Act.

“Taxes” shall mean any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees, charges
imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

“Term SOFR” shall mean,
(a)for any calculation with respect to a SOFR Loan, the Term SOFR Reference Rate for a tenor comparable to the applicable Interest Period on the day (such day, the

“Periodic Term SOFR Determination Day”) that is two (2) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, as such rate is published by the
Term SOFR Administrator; provided, that if as of 5:00 p.m. on any Periodic Term SOFR Determination Day the Term SOFR Reference Rate for the applicable tenor has not been
published by the Term SOFR Administrator and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate has not occurred, then Term SOFR will be the
Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor as published by the Term SOFR Administrator on the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such Term
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SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor was published by the Term SOFR Administrator so long as such first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day is not more than
three (3) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such Periodic Term SOFR Determination Day, and

(b)for any calculation with respect to a Base Rate Loan on any day, the Term SOFR Reference Rate for a tenor of one month on the day (such day, the “Base Rate Term
SOFR Determination Day”) that is two (2) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such day, as such rate is published by the Term SOFR Administrator; provided that if
as of 5:00 p.m. on any Base Rate Term SOFR Determination Day the Term SOFR Reference Rate for the applicable tenor has not been published by the Term SOFR Administrator
and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate has not occurred, then Term SOFR will be the Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor as
published by the Term SOFR Administrator on the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor was
published by the Term SOFR Administrator so long as such first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day is not more than three (3) U.S. Government Securities
Business Days prior to such Base Rate Term SOFR Determination Day.

“Term SOFR Adjustment” shall mean a percentage equal to 0.10% per annum.
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“Term SOFR Administrator” shall mean the CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited (CBA) (or a successor administrator of the Term SOFR Reference Rate selected
by the Lender in its reasonable discretion).

“Term SOFR Reference Rate” shall mean the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR.
“Trading with the Enemy Act” shall mean the Trading with the Enemy Act of the United States of America (50 U.S.C. App. §§ 1 et seq.), as amended and in effect from time

to time.
“Type”, when used in reference to a Revolving Loan, refers to whether the rate of interest on such Revolving Loan is determined by reference to Adjusted Term SOFR or the

Base Rate.
“UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Georgia.
“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.
“United States” or “U.S.” shall mean the United States of America.
“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for (i) a Saturday, (ii) a Sunday or (iii) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets

Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in United States government securities.
Section 1.2.Accounting Terms and Determination.   Unless otherwise defined or specified herein, all accounting terms used herein shall be interpreted, all accounting

determinations hereunder shall be made, and all financial statements required to be delivered hereunder shall be prepared, in accordance with GAAP as in effect from time to time,
applied on a basis consistent with the most recent audited consolidated financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 6.1(a).  Notwithstanding any other provision contained
herein, any lease that is (or would have been) treated as an operating lease for purposes of GAAP as of December 31, 2018, shall continue to be treated as an operating lease for
purposes of this Agreement regardless of any change in GAAP following December 31, 2018, that would otherwise require such lease to be recharacterized (on a prospective or
retroactive basis or otherwise) as a finance lease.

Section 1.3.Terms Generally.  The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined.  Whenever the context may require,
any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms.  The words “include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase
“without limitation”.  The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”.  In the computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later
specified date, the word “from” shall mean “from and including” and the word “to” shall mean “to but excluding”.   Unless the context requires otherwise (i) any definition of or
reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as it was originally executed or
as it may from time to time be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth
herein), (ii) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns, (iii) the words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” and
words of similar import shall be construed to refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision hereof, (iv) all references to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and
Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement and (v) all references to a specific time shall be construed to refer to the time
in the city and state of the Lender’s principal office, unless otherwise indicated.
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Section 1.4.Rates.   The Lender does not warrant or accept responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to (a) the continuation of, administration of,
submission of, calculation of or any other matter related to the Base Rate, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Adjusted Term SOFR or Term SOFR, or any component definition
thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof, or any alternative, successor or replacement rate thereto (including any Benchmark Replacement), including whether the
composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) will be similar to, or produce the same value or
economic equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, the Base Rate, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Adjusted Term SOFR, Term SOFR or any other Benchmark prior
to its discontinuance or unavailability, or (b) the effect, implementation or composition of any Conforming Changes.  The Lender and its affiliates or other related entities may engage
in transactions that affect the calculation of the Base Rate, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Term SOFR, Adjusted Term SOFR, any alternative, successor or replacement rate
(including any Benchmark Replacement) or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the Borrower.  The Lender may select information sources or
services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain the Base Rate, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Term SOFR, Adjusted Term SOFR or any other Benchmark, in each case pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the Borrower, the Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special,
punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation of any
such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.

ARTICLE II
AMOUNT AND TERMS OF THE COMMITMENTS

Section 2.1.Revolving Loans.  Subject to and upon the terms and conditions herein set forth, (i) the Lender hereby establishes in favor of the Borrower a revolving credit
facility pursuant to which the Lender agrees from time to time to make Revolving Loans to the Borrower during the Availability Period in an aggregate principal amount outstanding
at any time that will not result in the Lender’s Revolving Credit Exposure exceeding the Lender’s Revolving Commitment.   During the Availability Period, the Borrower shall be
entitled to borrow, prepay and reborrow Revolving Loans in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; provided that the Borrower may not borrow or reborrow
should there exist a Default or Event of Default.
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Section 2.2.Procedure for Revolving Borrowings.  The Borrower shall give the Lender written notice (or telephonic notice promptly confirmed in writing) of each Revolving
Borrowing (other than Revolving Borrowings pursuant to Section 2.11), substantially in the form of Exhibit B attached hereto (a “Notice of Revolving Borrowing”), prior to 11:00 a.m.
one (1) Business Day prior to the requested date of such Credit Event.

Section 2.3.         [Reserved].
Section 2.4.                 Funding of Borrowings.  The Lender will make available Revolving Loans to be made by it hereunder on the proposed date by promptly crediting the

amount thereof to an account maintained by the Borrower with the Lender or, at the Borrower’s option, by effecting a wire transfer of such amounts to an account designated by the
Borrower to the Lender.

Section 2.5.Optional Reduction and Termination of Commitments.  Upon at least three (3) Business Days’ prior written notice (or telephonic notice promptly confirmed in
writing) to the Lender (which notice shall be irrevocable), the Borrower may reduce the Revolving Commitment in part or terminate the Revolving Commitment in whole; provided
that no such reduction shall be permitted which would reduce the Revolving Commitment to an amount less than the outstanding Revolving Credit Exposure of the Lender.
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Section 2.6.         Evidence of Indebtedness.  All Revolving Loans hereunder and interest thereon shall be evidenced by the Revolving Loan Note.
Section 2.7.Repayment of Loans.   The outstanding principal amount of all Revolving Loans shall be due and payable in full on the Revolving Commitment Termination

Date.  Accrued and unpaid interest shall be due and payable on each Interest Payment Date.  Advances under this Agreement shall be recorded and maintained by the Lender in its
internal records and such records shall be conclusive of the principal and interest owed by Borrower unless there is a material error in such records.

Section 2.8.         Mandatory Prepayments of Loans.
(a)Revolving Loans.  If at any time the aggregate Revolving Credit Exposure of the Lender exceeds the Revolving Commitment, as reduced pursuant to Section 2.5

or otherwise, the Borrower shall immediately repay the Revolving Loans in an amount equal to such excess, together with all accrued and unpaid interest on such excess amount.
(b)         [Reserved].
(c)Proceeds of Issuances of Indebtedness.   Immediately upon receipt by Borrower or any Subsidiary of any proceeds from any issuance of Indebtedness (other

than Indebtedness permitted by Section 8.1) by Borrower or such Subsidiary, Borrower shall prepay the Revolving Loans and the other Obligations in an amount equal to all such
proceeds, net of reasonable and customary transaction costs, fees and expenses properly attributable to such transaction and payable by Borrower in connection therewith (in each
case, paid to non-Affiliates).  Any such prepayment shall be applied in accordance with Section 2.8(f).

(d)Asset Dispositions.  Immediately upon receipt by Borrower or any Subsidiary of any proceeds of any sale or disposition by Borrower or any Subsidiary of any of
its assets (other than asset sales or dispositions permitted under Section 8.11), Borrower shall prepay the Obligations in an amount equal to all such proceeds, net of commissions
and other reasonable and customary transaction costs, fees and expenses properly attributable to such transaction and payable by Borrower in connection therewith (in each case,
paid to non-Affiliates).  Any such prepayment shall be applied in accordance with Section 2.8(f).

(e)Transfer of Capital Stock or Substantial Assets of American Southern or Bankers Fidelity Life.  Immediately upon the consummation of any conveyance, sale,
transfer, lease, assignment or other disposition of any portion of the Capital Stock of, or substantially all of the assets of, American Southern or Bankers Fidelity Life, Borrower shall
prepay the then outstanding Obligations in their entirety.

(f)Application of Prepayments.   Any prepayments made by Borrower pursuant to clause (c) or clause (d) of this Section 2.8 shall be applied as follows: first, to
Lender’s fees and reimbursable expenses then due and payable pursuant to any of the Loan Documents; second, to interest then due and payable hereunder; and third, to the
principal balance of the Revolving Loans, until the same shall have been paid in full.
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Section 2.9.Interest on Loans.


(a)        Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Borrower shall pay interest upon the unpaid principal balance of the outstanding Revolving Loans at a
rate per annum equal to Adjusted Term SOFR for the applicable Interest Period in effect for such Revolving Loan, plus 2.00%.

(b)        Interest on the principal amount of all Revolving Loans shall accrue from and including the date such Revolving Loans are made to but excluding the date of
any repayment thereof.  Accrued and unpaid interest shall be due and payable on each Interest Payment Date.

(c)        The Lender shall determine each interest rate applicable to the Revolving Loans hereunder and shall promptly notify the Borrower of such rate in writing (or
by telephone, promptly confirmed in writing).  Any such determination shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent manifest error.

(d)           In connection with the use or administration of Term SOFR, the Lender will have the right to make Conforming Changes from time to time and,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Conforming Changes will become effective without any further
action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.  The Lender will promptly notify the Borrower of the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in
connection with the use or administration of Term SOFR.

Section 2.10.       Fees.
(a)Upfront Fee.   The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender an upfront fee on the Closing Date in the amount of Twenty-Five Thousand and No/100 Dollars

($25,000), which upfront fee shall be fully-earned on the Closing Date and shall be non-refundable.
(b)Arranger Fee.  The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender an arranger fee on the First Amendment Effective Date in the amount of One Hundred Thousand and

No/100 Dollars ($100,000), which arranger fee shall be fully-earned on the First Amendment Effective Date and shall be non-refundable.
(c)Facility Fee.   The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender a facility fee, which shall accrue at a rate of 0.20% per annum on the daily amount of the unused

Revolving Commitment during the Availability Period; provided that if Lender continues to have any Revolving Credit Exposure after the Revolving Commitment Termination Date,
then the facility fee shall continue to accrue on the daily amount of such Revolving Credit Exposure from and after the Revolving Commitment Termination Date to the date that all of
Lender’s Revolving Credit Exposure has been paid in full.   Accrued fees under this Section 2.10(c) shall be payable monthly in arrears on the last day of each calendar month,
commencing on March 31, 2024, and on the Revolving Commitment Termination Date; provided that any such fees accruing after the Revolving Commitment Termination Date shall
be payable on demand.

(d)Amendment Fee.  The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender an amendment fee on the First Amendment Effective Date in the amount of Twenty-Five Thousand
and No/100 Dollars ($25,000), which amendment fee shall be fully-earned on the First Amendment Effective Date and shall be non-refundable.
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Section 2.11.Computation of Interest and Fees.  Interest hereunder based on the Lender’s prime lending rate shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days (or
366 days in a leap year) and paid for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day).   All other interest and all fees hereunder shall be
computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day).  Each determination by the Lender of
an interest rate or fee hereunder shall be made in good faith and, except for manifest error, shall be final, conclusive and binding for all purposes.
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Section 2.12.       Additional Costs.
(a)         If any Change in Law shall:

(i)           impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including pursuant to regulations issued from time to time by the Federal Reserve Board for
determining the maximum reserve requirement) (including any emergency, special, supplemental or other marginal reserve requirement) with respect to eurocurrency funding
(currently referred to as “Eurocurrency liabilities” in Regulation D), special deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for
the account of, or credit extended or participated in by the Lender;

(ii)           subject the Lender to any Taxes on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other
liabilities or capital attributable thereto; or

(iii)       impose on the Lender any other condition affecting this Agreement or any Revolving Loans made by the Lender;
and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to the Lender of making, converting into, continuing or maintaining a Revolving Loan or to reduce the amount received
or receivable by the Lender hereunder (whether of principal, interest or any other amount), then, from time to time, the Lender may provide the Borrower with written notice and
demand with respect to such increased costs or reduced amounts, and within five (5) Business Days after receipt of such notice and demand the Borrower shall pay to the Lender
such additional amounts as will compensate the Lender for any such increased costs incurred or reduction suffered.

(b)If the Lender shall have determined that on or after the date of this Agreement any Change in Law regarding capital or liquidity requirements has or would have
the effect of reducing the rate of return on the Lender’s capital (or on the capital of the Lender’s holding company, the “Parent Company”) as a consequence of its obligations
hereunder to a level below that which the Lender or the Parent Company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration the Lender’s policies or the
policies of the Parent Company with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity) then, from time to time, the Lender may provide the Borrower with written notice and demand with
respect to such reduced amounts, and within five (5) Business Days after receipt of such notice and demand, Borrower shall pay to the Lender such additional amounts as will
compensate the Lender or the Parent Company for any such reduction suffered.

(c)        A certificate of the Lender setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate the Lender or the Parent Company, as the case may be, specified
in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

(d)        Failure or delay on the part of the Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of the Lender’s right to demand
such compensation.
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Section 2.13.       Inability to Determine Interest Rates; Benchmark Replacement Setting.
(a)Inability to Determine SOFR.  Subject to paragraphs (b) through (f) below, if, prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for any SOFR Loan, the Lender

shall have determined (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that “Adjusted Term SOFR” cannot be determined pursuant to the definition thereof, then the
Lender shall give written notice thereof (or telephonic notice, promptly confirmed in writing) to the Borrower as soon as practicable thereafter.  Upon notice thereof by the Lender to
the Borrower, any obligation of the Lender to make SOFR Loans, and any right of the Borrower to continue SOFR Loans or to convert Base Rate Loans to SOFR Loans, shall be
suspended (to the extent of the affected SOFR Loans or affected Interest Periods) until the Lender revokes such notice.  Upon receipt of such notice, the Borrower may revoke any
pending request for a borrowing of or continuation of SOFR Loans or, failing that, will be deemed to have converted such request into a request for Base Rate Loans in the amount
specified therein.  Subject to paragraphs (b) through (f) below, if the Lender determines (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that “Adjusted
Term SOFR” cannot be determined pursuant to the definition thereof on any given day, the interest rate on Base Rate Loans shall be determined by the Lender without reference to
clause (iii) of the definition of “Base Rate” until the Lender revokes such determination.

(b)         Benchmark Replacement.
(i)Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement

Date have occurred prior to any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then (x) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (a) of the definition of
“Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan
Document in respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or
any other Loan Document and (y) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark
Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or
after 5:00 p.m. on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Borrower without any amendment to, or further action or
consent of any other party to, this Agreement.  If the Benchmark Replacement is based on Daily Simple SOFR, all interest payments will be payable on a monthly basis.

(c)Conforming Changes.   In connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Lender will have the right to
make Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Conforming
Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

(d)Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations.  The Lender will promptly notify the Borrower of (i) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement and
(ii) the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement.  The Lender will notify the
Borrower of (x) the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to Section 2.13(e) and (y) the commencement of any Benchmark Unavailability Period.  Any
determination, decision or election that may be made by the Lender pursuant to this Section 2.13, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the
occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent
manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as
expressly required pursuant to this Section 2.13.
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(e)Unavailability of Tenor of Benchmark.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, at any time (including in connection with
the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including the Term SOFR Reference Rate) and either (A) any tenor for such
Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Lender in its reasonable discretion or (B) the
regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is not or
will not be representative, then the Lender may modify the definition of “Interest Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to
remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i) above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information
service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is not or will not be representative for a Benchmark
(including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Lender may modify the definition of “Interest Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for all Benchmark settings at or after
such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.

(f)Benchmark Unavailability Period.  Upon the Borrower’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, the Borrower may revoke
any pending request for a SOFR Loan to be made, converted or continued during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have
converted any such request into a request for a Borrowing of or conversion to Base Rate Loans.  During a Benchmark Unavailability Period or at any time that a tenor for the then-
current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of the Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark or such tenor for such Benchmark, as applicable, will not be
used in any determination of the Base Rate.

Section 2.14.      Default Rate; Other Fees.  If (a) any portion of a payment is at least ten (10) days past due or (b) any Event of Default (other than pursuant to Section
9.1(a)) has occurred and is continuing for more than ten (10) days, then the Borrower agrees (i) with respect any event described in the foregoing clause (a), to pay a late charge to
the Lender equal to 2.00% of the amount which is past due or (ii) with respect any event described in the foregoing clause (b), that after the expiration of such ten (10) day period
and so long as the applicable Event of Default is continuing, at the request of the Lender in its sole discretion, the Borrower shall pay interest with respect to all SOFR Loans at the
rate per annum equal to 200 basis points above the otherwise applicable interest rate for such SOFR Loans for the then-current Interest Period until the last day of such Interest
Period, and thereafter, and with respect to all Base Rate Loans, at the rate per annum equal to 200 basis points above the otherwise applicable interest rate for Base Rate Loans. 
All additional amounts at any time owing by Borrower pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall be payable on demand. Unless prohibited by applicable law, the
Borrower agrees to pay the fee established by the Lender from time to time for returned checks, wire transfer of funds, or chargeback of an ACH, if a payment is made on this
Agreement and is dishonored or is otherwise determined to be uncollectible, whether for insufficient funds or for any other reason, and without regard to the timeliness of the return,
chargeback, adjustment, or notice of nonpayment.

Section 2.15.Illegality.  If any Change in Law shall make it unlawful or impossible for the Lender to perform any of its obligations hereunder, to make, maintain or fund any
SOFR Loan or to or to determine or charge interest rates based upon SOFR, the Term SOFR Reference Rate or Term SOFR, the Lender shall promptly give notice thereof to the
Borrower, whereupon until the Lender notifies the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such suspension no longer exist, (i) the obligation of the Lender to make SOFR
Loans, or to continue or convert outstanding Revolving Loans as or into SOFR Loans, shall be suspended and (ii) the Base Rate shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, be
determined by the Lender without reference to clause (iii) thereof.  In the case of the making of a SOFR Loan, the Lender’s Revolving Loan shall be made as a Base Rate Loan as
part of the same Revolving Loan for the same Interest Period and, if the affected SOFR Loan is then outstanding, such Revolving Loan shall be converted to a Base Rate Loan
either (i) on the last day of the then current Interest Period applicable to such SOFR Loan if the Lender may lawfully continue to maintain such Revolving Loan to such date or (ii)
immediately if the Lender shall determine that it may not lawfully continue to maintain such SOFR Loan to such date (and in each instance the Base Rate shall, if necessary to avoid
such illegality, bet determined by the Lender without reference to clause (iii) thereof).
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Section 2.16.Funding Indemnity.   In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of a SOFR Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto
(including as a result of an Event of Default), (b) the conversion or continuation of a SOFR Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, or (c) the failure
by the Borrower to borrow, prepay, convert or continue any SOFR Loan on the date specified in any applicable notice (regardless of whether such notice is withdrawn or revoked,
except in the case of prepayment notices conditioned on the consummation of a transaction), then, in any such event, the Borrower shall compensate the Lender, within five (5)
Business Days after written demand from the Lender, for any loss, cost or expense attributable to such event.  In the case of a SOFR Loan, such loss, cost or expense shall be
deemed to include an amount determined by the Lender to be the excess, if any, of (A) the amount of interest that would have accrued on the principal amount of such SOFR Loan
if such event had not occurred at Adjusted Term SOFR applicable to such SOFR Loan for the period from the date of such event to the last day of the then current Interest Period
therefor (or, in the case of a failure to borrow, convert or continue, for the period that would have been the Interest Period for such SOFR Loan) over (B) the amount of interest that
would accrue on the principal amount of such SOFR Loan for the same period if Adjusted Term SOFR were set on the date such SOFR Loan was prepaid or converted or the date
on which the Borrower failed to borrow, convert or continue such SOFR Loan.  A certificate as to any additional amount payable under this Section submitted to the Borrower by the
Lender shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

ARTICLE III
[RESERVED]
ARTICLE IV

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO REVOLVING LOANS
Section 4.1.         Conditions of Initial Credit Event.  The obligation of the Lender to make any initial Revolving Loans under this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction of

the following conditions:
(a)         The Lender shall have received payment of all fees, expenses and other amounts due and payable on or prior to the Closing Date, in the case of expenses

only, to the extent invoiced at least three (3) Business Days prior to the date of initial Revolving Loans;
(b)         The Lender (or its counsel) shall have received the following, each to be in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender:

(i)       (x) A counterpart of this Agreement signed by or on behalf of each party hereto or written evidence satisfactory to the Lender (which may include
telecopy transmission of a signed signature page of this Agreement) that such party has signed a counterpart of this Agreement, and (y) the Revolving Loan Note and each other
Loan Document, duly executed by each party thereto;

(ii)      A certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of Borrower, attaching and certifying copies of its bylaws and of the resolutions of its board of
directors or other equivalent governing body authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents and certifying the name, title and true signature of each
officer of Borrower executing the Loan Documents;
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(iii)         Certified copies of the articles or certificate of incorporation, of the Borrower, together with certificates of good standing or existence, as may be
available from the Secretary of State of the jurisdiction of organization of the Borrower;

(iv)         At least five (5) days prior to the date of this Agreement (or such later date as Lender shall agree to in writing), all documentation and other
information required by bank regulatory authorities or reasonably requested by the Lender under or in respect of applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering legal
requirements including the Patriot Act and, if Borrower qualifies as a “legal entity customer” under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, a Beneficial Ownership Certification in
relation to Borrower;

(v)           Certificates of insurance, in form and detail acceptable to the Lender, describing the types and amounts of insurance (property and liability)
maintained by the Borrower;

(vi)      Evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Lender demonstrating a Debt to Capital Ratio of no greater than 35%; and
(vii)     Such other documents, certificates, information or legal opinions as the Lender may reasonably request.

(c)         Since December 31, 2020, there shall have been no event or occurrence which has had or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 4.2.       Conditions to Each Credit Event.  The obligation of the Lender to make a Revolving Loan (including any initial Revolving Loans) on the occasion of any

Borrowing is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:
(a)At the time of and immediately after giving effect to such Borrowing, no Default or Event of Default shall exist;
(b)        At the time of and immediately after giving effect to such Borrowing, all representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the Loan Documents shall

be true and correct in all material respects (other than those representations and warranties that are expressly qualified by a Material Adverse Effect or other materiality, in which
case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all respects) at such time (or to the extent related specifically to a specific prior date, as of such date); and

(c)         The Borrower shall have delivered the required Notice of Revolving Borrowing.
Each Borrowing shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrower on the date thereof as to the matters specified in this Section.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower represents and warrants to the Lender as of the Closing Date and as of the date of each Credit Event as follows:
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Section 5.1.       Existence; Power.  The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries (i) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing as a corporation, partnership or
limited liability company (as applicable) under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, (ii) has all requisite power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted, and
(iii) is duly qualified to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where such qualification is required, except where a failure to be so qualified could not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.2.Organizational Power; Authorization.   The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Loan Documents to which it is a party are within the
Borrower’s organizational powers and has been duly authorized by all necessary organizational and, if required, shareholder, partner or member action.  This Agreement has been
duly executed and delivered by the Borrower and constitutes, and each other Loan Document to which it is a party, when executed and delivered by the Borrower, will constitute,
valid and binding obligations of the Borrower, enforceable against it in accordance with their respective terms, except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general principles of equity.

Section 5.3.       No Conflicts.  The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Loan Documents to which it is a party (a) does not require any consent or
approval of, registration or filing with, or any action by, or any Governmental Approval from, any Governmental Authority, except those as have been obtained or made and are in full
force and effect, (b) will not violate any material requirement of law applicable to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any judgment, order or ruling of any Governmental
Authority, (c) will not violate or result in a default under any contractual obligation of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of its assets or give rise to a right thereunder to
require any payment to be made by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, which in any such case under clauses (a), (b) and (c) above could reasonably be expected to result in an
Event of Default, and (d) will not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except Liens (if any) created under the Loan
Documents.

Section 5.4.       Financial Statements; No Material Adverse Effect.  All quarterly and annual financial statements provided by the Borrower to the Lender hereunder or in
connection herewith fairly present the financial condition of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the dates indicated therein and the results of operations for such periods in
conformity with GAAP, consistently applied, subject to year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes in the case of monthly financial statements.  Since December 31,
2022, there has been no change which has had or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.5.         Litigation and Environmental Matters.
(a)        No litigation, investigation or proceeding of or before any arbitrators or Governmental Authorities is pending against or, to the knowledge of the Borrower,

threatened against or affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (i) as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination that could reasonably be expected
to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) which in any manner draws into question the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any other
Loan Document.

(b)        Except as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) has failed to comply
with any Environmental Law or to obtain, maintain or comply with any permit, license or other approval required under any Environmental Law, (ii) has become subject to any
Environmental Liability, (iii) has received notice of any claim with respect to any Environmental Liability or (iv) knows of any basis for any Environmental Liability.
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Section 5.6.       Compliance with Laws and Agreements.  The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance with (a) all requirements of law and all judgments,
decrees and orders of any Governmental Authority and (b) the Subordinated Debenture Indentures, and all other indentures, agreements or other instruments binding upon it or its
properties, except in the case of clauses (a) and (b) above, where non-compliance, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.

Section 5.7.               Governmental Approvals.   The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries has all Governmental Approvals necessary for the ownership of its assets and
conduct of its business as presently conducted.

Section 5.8.        Investment Company Act.  Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is (a) an “investment company” or is “controlled” by an “investment company”,
as such terms are defined in, or subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended and in effect from time to time, or (b) otherwise subject to any other
regulatory scheme limiting its ability to incur debt or requiring any approval or consent from, or registration or filing with, any Governmental Authority in connection therewith.

Section 5.9.        Taxes.  The Borrower and its Subsidiaries and each other Person for whose taxes the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries could become liable have timely
filed or caused to be filed all Federal income tax returns and all other material tax returns that are required to be filed by them, and have paid all taxes shown to be due and payable
on such returns or on any assessments made against it or its property and all other taxes, fees or other charges imposed on it or any of its property by any Governmental Authority,
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except where the same are currently being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, has set aside on
its books adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP.   The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in respect of such taxes are
adequate, and no tax liabilities that could be materially in excess of the amount so provided are anticipated.

Section 5.10.           Margin Regulations.   None of the proceeds of any of the Revolving Loans will be used, directly or indirectly, for “purchasing” or “carrying” any “margin
stock” within the respective meanings of each of such terms under Regulation U in violation of the provisions of Regulation T, Regulation U or Regulation X, or for any purpose that
violates the provisions of Regulation T, Regulation U or Regulation X.  Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in
the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying “margin stock”.

Section 5.11.       Ownership of Property; Insurance.
(a)        Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all of its real and personal property material to the operation of its

business, including all such properties reflected in the most recent audited balance sheet of the Borrower delivered to the Lender or purported to have been acquired by the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries after such date (except as sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business), in each case free and clear of Liens prohibited by
this Agreement.  All leases that individually or in the aggregate are material to the business or operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries are valid and subsisting and are in full
force.

25

(b)               Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries owns, or is licensed or otherwise has the right to use, all patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names,
copyrights and other intellectual property material to its business, and the use thereof by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries does not infringe in any material respect on the rights of
any other Person.

(c)             The properties of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries are insured with financially sound and reputable insurance companies which are not Affiliates of the
Borrower, in such amounts with such deductibles and covering such risks as are customarily carried by companies engaged in similar businesses and owning similar properties in
localities where the Borrower or any applicable Subsidiary operates.

Section 5.12.Disclosure.  The Borrower has disclosed to the Lenders all agreements, instruments, and corporate or other restrictions to which the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries is subject, and all other matters known to any of them, that, either individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
None of the reports, financial statements, certificates or other information furnished by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Lender in connection with the negotiation of this
Agreement or any other Loan Document or delivered hereunder or thereunder (as modified or supplemented by any other information so furnished) contains any material
misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, taken as a whole in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; provided that, with respect to any projected financial information, the Borrower represents only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time, it being understood that projections by their nature are uncertain and no assurance is given that the results reflected in such
projections will be achieved.  As of the Closing Date, the information included in the Beneficial Ownership Certification is true and correct in all respects.

Section 5.13.       Labor Relations.   There are no strikes, lockouts or other material labor disputes or grievances against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the
Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against or affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, and no significant unfair labor practice charges or grievances are pending against the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against any of them before any Governmental Authority.  All payments due from the Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries pursuant to the provisions of any collective bargaining agreement have been paid or accrued as a liability on the books of the Borrower or any such Subsidiary,
except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.14.Subsidiaries.  All of the Subsidiaries of the Borrower as of the Closing Date are listed on Schedule 5.14 attached hereto.   All of the authorized, issued and
outstanding Capital Stock of each of each such Subsidiaries is owned by the Person or Persons as is set forth on Schedule 5.14 attached hereto.  There are no pre-emptive or other
outstanding rights, options, warrants, conversion rights or other similar agreements or understandings for the purchase or acquisition of any Capital Stock of any Subsidiary of
Borrower.

Section 5.15.      Solvency.  After giving effect to the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of any Revolving Loans under this Agreement, (i) each
of the Borrower, American Southern and Bankers Fidelity Life is Solvent, and (b) the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are Solvent.

Section 5.16.      Senior Indebtedness under Subordinated Debenture Indentures.  All of the Obligations constitute “Senior Indebtedness”, as such term is defined in each of
the Subordinated Debenture Indentures.
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Section 5.17.       Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions.
(a)             None of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors, officers, employees or, to the knowledge of the Borrower or such

Subsidiary, agents or affiliates, is a Sanctioned Person.
(b)        The Borrower, its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers and employees and, to the knowledge of the Borrower, the agents of the Borrower and

its Subsidiaries, are in compliance with applicable Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions.   The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have instituted and maintain policies and
procedures designed to ensure continued compliance with applicable Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Laws.

ARTICLE VI
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower covenants and agrees that so long as the Lender has a Revolving Commitment hereunder or any Obligation remains unpaid or outstanding:
Section 6.1.         Financial Statements and Other Information.  The Borrower will deliver to the Lender:

(a)        as soon as available and in any event within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each Fiscal Year of the Borrower, a copy of the annual audited
report for such Fiscal Year for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, containing consolidated balance sheets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Year and
the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows (together with all footnotes thereto) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Year,
setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous Fiscal Year, all in reasonable detail and reported on by independent public accountants acceptable to the
Lender (without a “going concern” or like qualification, exception or explanation and without any qualification or exception as to the scope of such audit) to the effect that such
financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and the results of operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Year on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP and that the examination by such accountants in connection with such consolidated financial statements has been made in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards;

(b)        as soon as available and in any event within forty five (45) days after the end of each Fiscal Quarter of the Borrower (except for the Fiscal Quarter ending on
December 31 of each year, which shall be delivered as soon as available but in any event no later than the earlier to occur of (x) one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of
such Fiscal Quarter and (y) the date on which the annual consolidated financial statements required under Section 6.1(a) for the Fiscal Year ending on the same date as such Fiscal
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Quarter end have been delivered), an unaudited, internally-prepared, consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Quarter and the
related unaudited consolidated statements of income (specifying, among other things, depreciation and interest expense) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such Fiscal
Quarter and the then elapsed portion of such Fiscal Year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding Fiscal Quarter and the corresponding
portion of the Borrower’s previous Fiscal Year;
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(c)as soon as available and in any event within forty five (45) days after the end of each Fiscal Quarter of the Borrower (except for the Fiscal Quarter ending on
December 31 of each year, which shall be delivered concurrently with the quarterly consolidated financial statements required under Section 6.1(b) for such Fiscal Quarter), a
Compliance Certificate signed by the principal executive officer or the principal financial officer of the Borrower (i) certifying as to whether there exists a Default or Event of Default
on the date of such certificate and, if a Default or an Event of Default then exists, specifying the details thereof and the action which the Borrower has taken or proposes to take with
respect thereto, (ii) setting forth in reasonable detail calculations demonstrating compliance with the financial covenants set forth in Article VII, (iii) specifying any change in the
identity of the Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Quarter from the Subsidiaries identified to the Lender on the Closing Date or the date of the most recent Compliance
Certificate, as applicable, and (v) stating whether any change in GAAP or the application thereof has occurred since the Closing Date or the date of the most recent Compliance
Certificate, as applicable, and, if any change has occurred, specifying the effect of such change on the financial statements accompanying such Compliance Certificate; and

(d)        promptly following any request therefor, such other information regarding the results of operations, business affairs and financial condition of the Borrower or
any of its Subsidiaries as the Lender may reasonably request.

Section 6.2.         Notices of Material Events.  The Borrower will furnish to the Lender prompt written notice of the following:
(a)         the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default;
(b)        the filing or commencement of, or any material development in, any action, suit or proceeding by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority against

or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries;
(c)        the occurrence of any event or any other development by which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (i) fails to comply with any Environmental Law or to

obtain, maintain or comply with any permit, license or other approval required under any Environmental Law, (ii) becomes subject to any Environmental Liability, (iii) receives notice
of any claim with respect to any Environmental Liability, or (iv) becomes aware of any basis for any Environmental Liability;

(d)        the occurrence of any default or event of default, or the receipt by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of any written notice of an alleged default or event
of default, with respect to any Indebtedness of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in a principal amount in excess of $1,000,000;

(e)         promptly and in any event at least five (5) Business Days prior thereto (or such shorter period of time as the Lender shall agree in its sole discretion), notice
of any change (i) in the Borrower’s legal name, (ii) in the Borrower’s chief executive office, its principal place of business, any office in which it maintains books or records, (iii) in the
Borrower’s identity or legal structure, (iv) in the Borrower’s federal taxpayer identification number or organizational number, (v) in the Borrower’s jurisdiction of organization;

(f)        any change in the information provided in the Beneficial Ownership Certification that would result in a change to the list of beneficial owners identified in parts
(c) or (d) of such certification;

(g)        copies of any notices received by the Borrower pursuant to or in connection with either of the Indentures to the extent such notice relates to the occurrence
of a breach, default or other act on non-compliance with respect to either such Indenture, or to any payments or payment terms of the debentures issued thereunder; and
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(h)        any other development that results in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect.
Each notice or other document delivered under this Section shall be accompanied by a written statement of an officer of the Borrower setting forth the details of the event or

development requiring such notice or other document and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto.
Section 6.3.Existence; Conduct of Business.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve, renew

and maintain in full force and effect its legal existence and its respective rights, licenses, permits, privileges, franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade names material to
the conduct of its business; provided that nothing in this Section shall prohibit any merger, consolidation, liquidation or dissolution permitted under Section 8.3.

Section 6.4.           Compliance with Laws.   The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, rules, regulations and requirements of any
Governmental Authority applicable to its business and properties, including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws, ERISA and OSHA and all requirements of any Governmental
Approvals material to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and their respective businesses, except in each case where the failure to so comply could not reasonably be expected to
result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 6.5.               Payment of Taxes.   The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay and discharge at or before maturity or when due all taxes,
assessments and other governmental charges, levies and all other claims that could result in a statutory Lien before the same shall become delinquent or in default, except where
(a) the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and the Borrower or such Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate reserves with
respect thereto in accordance with GAAP or (b) the failure to make payment could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 6.6.Books and Records.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries
shall be made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities to the extent necessary to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Borrower in
conformity with GAAP.

Section 6.7.Visitation and Inspection.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, permit any representative of the Lender to visit and inspect its properties,
to examine its books and records and to make copies and take extracts therefrom, and to discuss its affairs, finances and accounts with any of its officers and with its independent
certified public accountants, all at such reasonable times during normal business hours (or at any time during the existence of an Event of Default) and as often as the Lender may
reasonably request after rea-sonable prior notice to the Borrower; provided that if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, no prior notice shall be required; provided,
further, that so long as no Event of Default then exists, the Lender shall be limited to one such visit during each Fiscal Year of the Borrower.

Section 6.8.              Maintenance of Properties; Insurance.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, (a) keep and maintain all property material to the
conduct of its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, (b) maintain with financially sound and reputable insurance companies which are not
Affiliates of the Borrower insurance with respect to its properties and business, and the properties and business of its Subsidiaries, against loss or damage of the kinds customarily
insured against by companies in the same or similar businesses operating in the same or similar locations (including, in any event, flood insurance if requested by the Lender), and
will, upon request of the Lender, furnish to the Lender at reasonable intervals a certificate of an officer of the Borrower setting forth the nature and extent of all insurance maintained
by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in accordance with this Section, and (c) at all times shall name the Lender as additional insured on all liability policies of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries.
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Section 6.9.        Use of Proceeds; Margin Regulations.  The Borrower will use the proceeds of all Revolving Loans for working capital needs and for other general corporate
purposes of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.  No part of the proceeds of any Revolving Loan will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose that would violate any rule
or regulation of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, including Regulation T, Regulation U or Regulation X.  The Borrower will not request any Borrowing, and the
Borrower shall not use, and the Borrower shall ensure that its Subsidiaries and its or their respective directors, officers, employees and agents shall not use, the proceeds of any
Borrowing (i) in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-
Corruption Laws, (ii) for the purpose of funding, financing or facilitating any activities, business or transaction of or with any Sanctioned Person, or in any Sanctioned Country or (iii)
in any manner that would result in the violation of any Sanctions applicable to any party hereto.

Section 6.10.      Casualty and Condemnation.  The Borrower will furnish to the Lender prompt written notice of any casualty or other insured damage to any material portion
of any assets of the Borrower or the commencement of any action or preceding for the taking of any material portion of any assets of the Borrower or any part thereof or interest
therein under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding.

Section 6.11.Governmental Approvals.  The Borrower shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, obtain and keep in full force and effect, all of the material Governmental
Approvals necessary for the performance by Borrower and its Subsidiaries of their respective businesses and obligations, including the obligations of the Borrower under the Loan
Documents.

Section 6.12.Primary Deposit Accounts. Borrower shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, maintain with Lender all of their primary deposit accounts.
ARTICLE VII

FINANCIAL COVENANTS
The Borrower covenants and agrees that so long as the Lender has a Revolving Commitment hereunder or any Obligation remains unpaid or outstanding:
Section 7.1.Debt to Capital Ratio.   The Borrower will not permit,  as of the last day of each Fiscal Quarter, Consolidated Indebtedness at such time to exceed 35% of

Consolidated Capitalization at such time.  Borrower shall demonstrate compliance with such requirement quarterly.
Section 7.2.Consolidated Net Worth.  The Borrower will not permit its Consolidated Net Worth at any time to be less than $64,184,900.00.  Borrower shall demonstrate

compliance with such requirement quarterly.
ARTICLE VIII

NEGATIVE COVENANTS
The Borrower covenants and agrees that so long as the Lender has a Revolving Commitment hereunder or any Obligation remains outstanding:
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Section 8.1.       Indebtedness and Guarantees.  The Borrower will not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness or any Guarantees or endorsements of any
Indebtedness, except Permitted Indebtedness.

Section 8.2.         Liens.  The Borrower will not create, incur, assume or permit any Lien on any of its assets, except Permitted Liens.
Section 8.3.         Fundamental Changes.

(a)The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, merge into or consolidate into any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or
consolidate with any such Person, or acquire all or substantially all of the Capital Stock or property of another Person, or sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of (in a single
transaction or a series of transactions) all or substantially all of any of their respective assets (in each case, whether now owned or hereafter acquired) or all or substantially all of the
stock of any of their Subsidiaries (in each case, whether now owned or hereafter acquired) or liquidate or dissolve, other than:  (i) a merger or consolidation among the Borrower and
one or more of its Subsidiaries, provided that the Borrower is the surviving corporation, or (ii) a merger or consolidation solely between or among two or more Subsidiaries of the
Borrower, provided that if American Southern or Bankers Fidelity Life is involved in such merger or consolidation, American Southern or Bankers Fidelity Life, as applicable, is the
surviving corporation, or (iii) in connection with an Acquisition permitted hereunder effected by a merger in which the Borrower, American Southern, Bankers Fidelity Life or, in a
merger in which the Borrower, American Southern or Bankers’ Fidelity Life is not a party, a Subsidiary of the Borrower is the surviving entity, or (iv) the liquidation or dissolution of
any Subsidiary of the Borrower (other than American Southern or Bankers Fidelity Life) so long as either (A) such Subsidiary owns no assets at the time of such liquidation or
dissolution or (B) any assets owned by such Subsidiary are transferred to the Borrower or another Subsidiary prior to such liquidation or dissolution.

(b)        The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage in any business other than businesses of the type conducted by the Borrower
and its Subsidiaries on the date hereof and businesses reasonably related or ancillary thereto.

Section 8.4.Investments, Loans. The Borrower will not purchase, hold or acquire (including pursuant to any merger with any Person that was not a wholly owned Subsidiary
prior to such merger) any Capital Stock, evidence of Indebtedness or other securities (including any option, warrant, or other right to acquire any of the foregoing) of, make or permit
to exist any loans or advances to, Guarantee any obligations of, or make or permit to exist any investment or any other interest in, any other Person (all of the foregoing being
collectively called “Investments”), or purchase or otherwise acquire (in one transaction or a series of transactions) any assets of any other Person that constitute a business unit,
except:  (a) Permitted Investments; (b) Guarantees permitted by Section 8.1; (c) Acquisitions in an aggregate amount not to exceed $10,000,000 during the term of this Agreement,
so long as at the time of any such Acquisition, no Default or Event of Default then exists and the Borrower is in compliance with the covenant set forth in Section 7.1 on a pro forma
compliance, after giving effect to such Acquisition; (d) advances made to insurance agents in the ordinary course of business; (e) deposits required by government agencies and
public utilities; (f) Investments by the Borrower in its wholly-owned Subsidiaries; (g) Investments made by the Borrower in the Statutory Trust I or the Statutory Trust II in connection
with the Subordinated Debenture Indentures; and (h) additional Investments in an aggregate outstanding amount not to exceed $5,000,000.
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Section 8.5.Restricted Payments.   The Borrower will not declare or make, or agree to pay or make, directly or indirectly, any Restricted Payment, except: (i) dividends
payable by the Borrower solely in interests of any class of its common equity, and (ii) so long as no Default or Event of Default then exists or would result therefrom, cash dividends,
distributions and equity redemptions paid on the common or preferred equity of the Borrower.

Section 8.6.Transactions with Affiliates.  The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, lease or otherwise transfer any property or assets to, or
purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except: (a) at prices and on terms and
conditions not less favorable to the Borrower or such Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm’s-length basis from unrelated third parties; (b) transactions between or among the
Borrower and any Subsidiary not involving any other Affiliates; and (c) any Restricted Payment permitted by Section 8.5.

Section 8.7.Restrictive Agreements.   The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, enter into, incur or permit to exist any
agreement that prohibits, restricts or imposes any condition upon (a) the ability of the Borrower to create, incur or permit any Lien upon any of its assets or properties, whether now
owned or hereafter acquired, or (b) the ability of any of its Subsidiaries to pay dividends or other distributions with respect to its Capital Stock, to make or repay loans or advances to

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

60/67

the Borrower or any other Subsidiary thereof, to Guarantee Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Subsidiary thereof or to transfer any of its property or assets to the Borrower
or any other Subsidiary thereof; provided that the foregoing shall not apply to (x) restrictions or conditions imposed by law or by this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any
other agreement with the Lender or any of its Affiliates, and (y) restrictions and conditions contained in any agreement relating to Indebtedness or other obligations secured by Liens
permitted under this Agreement if such restrictions and conditions apply only to the property or assets subject to such Liens.

Section 8.8.       Amendment to Material Documents.  The Borrower will not amend, modify or waive any of its rights under its certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other
organizational documents, or either of the Subordinated Debenture Indentures, in any such case in any manner that would have a material and adverse effect on the Lender, the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 8.9.        Accounting Changes.  The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, make any significant change in accounting treatment or reporting
practices, except as required or permitted by GAAP or Statutory Accounting Principles, or change the fiscal year of the Borrower or of any of its Subsidiaries, except to change the
fiscal year of a Subsidiary to conform its fiscal year to that of the Borrower.

Section 8.10.      Government Regulation.  The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (a) be or become subject at any time to any law, regulation or
list of any Governmental Authority of the United States (including, without limitation, the OFAC list) that prohibits or limits the Lender from making any advance or extension of credit
to the Borrower or from otherwise conducting business with the Borrower, or (b) fail to provide documentary and other evidence of the identity of the Borrower as may be requested
by the Lender at any time to enable the Lender to verify the identity of the Borrower or to comply with any applicable law or regulation, including, without limitation, Section 326 of
the Patriot Act at 31 U.S.C. Section 5318.
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Section 8.11.     Sale of Assets.  The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, convey, sell, lease, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its
assets, business or property or, in the case of any Subsidiary, any shares of such Subsidiary’s Capital Stock, in each case whether now owned or hereafter acquired, to any Person
other than the Borrower (or to qualify directors if required by applicable law), except (a) the sale or other disposition for fair market value of obsolete or worn out property or other
property not necessary for operations disposed of in the ordinary course of business, (b) the sale of inventory and Permitted Investments in the ordinary course of business, (c) the
sale or other disposition of assets of a Subsidiary of the Borrower to another wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Borrower, and (d) the sale or other disposition of assets so long as the
Borrower or such Subsidiary receives not less than fair market value for such assets and at least 75% of the consideration received in connection with such sale or other disposition
is in the form of cash; provided, that in the case of any conveyance, sale, lease, assignment transfer or other disposition of any portion of the Capital Stock of American Southern or
Bankers Fidelity Life or any substantial portion of the assets of either of American Southern or Bankers Fidelity Life, then the Borrower shall immediately upon the consummation
thereof repay the then outstanding Obligations in their entirety, and notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Borrower may not thereafter reborrow any
Revolving Loans without the prior written consent of the Lender.

Section 8.12.      Required Insurance Rating.  The Borrower shall not cause or permit, at any time during the term of this Agreement, either (a) the AM Best financial strength
rating of American Southern to be lower that “A”, (b) the AM Best financial strength rating of Bankers Fidelity Life to be lower than “A-”, or (c) the AM Best long term issuer credit
rating of the Borrower to be lower than “bbb-”.

Section 8.13.      Suspension or Cessation of Business Activities.  The Borrower will not, and will not permit American Southern or Bankers Fidelity Life to, cease or suspend
its usual business activities for more than three (3) consecutive Business Days.

ARTICLE IX
EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Section 9.1.Events of Default.  If any of the following events (each, an “Event of Default”) shall occur:
(a)         the failure by the Borrower to pay, whether by acceleration or otherwise, (i) any interest or fees owed under this Agreement or the Revolving Loan Note

when due and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of five (5) days thereafter or (ii) any principal amount owed under this Agreement or the Revolving Loan Note
when due; or

(b)        any representation or warranty of the Borrower contained in this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any other agreement with the Lender or any of its
Affiliates shall prove to be incorrect in any material respect at the time it was made (other than any representation or warranty that is expressly qualified by a material adverse effect
or other materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall prove to be incorrect in any respect); or

(c)          the Borrower shall (i) fail to observe or perform any covenant, obligation or agreement contained in Section 6.2, 6.3, 6.4, 6.5, 6.9, 6.11, 6.12, Article VII,
Article VIII of this Agreement or (ii) fail to observe or perform any other covenant, obligation or agreement contained in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document and such
failure shall continue unremedied for a period of more than thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of notice thereof from the Lender to the Borrower and Borrower becoming aware
of such failure; or

(d)         [reserved]; or
(e)         [reserved]; or
(f)         a Change in Control shall occur or exist; or
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(g)         the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall (i) commence a voluntary case or other proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, reorganization or
other relief under any federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the appointment of a custodian, trustee, receiver,
liquidator or other similar official for the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any substantial part of the Borrower’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ property, (ii) consent to the institution
of, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner, any proceeding or petition described in clause (i) of this section (i), (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a
custodian, trustee, receiver, liquidator or other similar official for the Borrower or such Subsidiary or for a substantial part of the Borrower’s or such Subsidiary’s assets, (iv) file an
answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against the Borrower or such Subsidiary in any such proceeding, (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of
creditors, or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or

(h)        an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed seeking (i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or the Borrower or such Subsidiary’s debts, or any substantial part of the Borrower’s or such Subsidiary’s assets, under any federal, state or
foreign bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or (ii) the appointment of a custodian, trustee, receiver, liquidator or other similar official for the Borrower
or any of its Subsidiaries or for a substantial part of the Borrower’s or such Subsidiary’s assets, and in any such case, such proceeding or petition shall remain undismissed for a
period of sixty (60) days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered; or

(i)         the entry of a judgment, award or order against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries either (i) in excess of $1,000,000 individually or in the aggregate, or
(ii) results in or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, which in each case remains unstayed, unsatisfied or unbonded for sixty (60) days following the
issuance of such judgment, award or order, or the issuance or service of any attachment, levy or garnishment, in each case with respect to amounts in excess of $1,000,000
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individually or in the aggregate against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or the property of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or the repossession or seizure of property of
the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries valued in excess of $1,000,000 individually or in the aggregate; or

(j)          there shall occur or exist any breach or default or other event under any agreement to which Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with a third party
or parties, either (x) resulting in a right by such third party or parties, whether or not exercised, to accelerate the maturity of any Indebtedness or to require the repurchase,
redemption or prepayment of such Indebtedness, in any such case in an amount in excess of $1,000,000 individually or in the aggregate, or (y) that otherwise could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;

then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries described in subsection (g) or (h) of this Section) and at any time
thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Lender may, by notice to the Borrower, take any or all of the following actions, at the same or different times: (i) terminate the
Revolving Commitment, whereupon the Revolving Commitment of the Lender shall terminate immediately, (ii) declare the principal of and any accrued interest on the Revolving
Loans, and all other Obligations owing hereunder, to be, whereupon the same shall become, due and payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of
any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower, (iii) exercise all remedies contained in any other Loan Document, and (iv) exercise any other remedies available at law or
in equity; provided that, if an Event of Default specified in either subsection (g) or (h) shall occur, the Revolving Commitment shall automatically terminate and the principal of the
Revolving Loans then outstanding, together with accrued interest thereon, and all fees and all other Obligations shall automatically become due and payable, without presentment,
demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower.
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In addition, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, Lender is hereby authorized to provide any notices it deems necessary or appropriate
in its sole discretion to protect, preserve and exercise the rights of a holder of “Senior Indebtedness” under either or both of the Subordinated Debenture Indentures.

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.1.          Notices.
(a)          Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone, all notices and other communications to any party

herein to be effective shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by e-mail or telecopy, as follows:
To the Borrower: Atlantic American Corporation

4370 Peachtree Road, NE
Atlanta, Georgia  30319
Attention:  J. Ross Franklin
E-Mail:  rfranklin@atlam.com

To the Lender: Truist Bank
3333 Peachtree Rd.
Atlanta, Georgia 30326
Attention: Michael Landry
E-Mail:  michael.landry@truist.com

Any party hereto may change its address, e-mail address or telecopy number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto.  All such
notices and other communications shall be effective upon actual receipt by the relevant Person or, if delivered by overnight courier service, upon the first Business Day after the date
deposited with such courier service for overnight (next-day) delivery or, if sent by e-mail, upon transmission with a “return receipt requested” or similar function, or, if sent by
telecopy, upon transmittal in legible form by facsimile machine or, if mailed, upon the third Business Day after the date deposited into the mail or, if delivered by hand, upon delivery;
provided that notices delivered to the Lender shall not be effective until actually received by the Lender at its address specified in this Section.

(b)        Any agreement of the Lender herein to receive certain notices by telephone or facsimile is solely for the convenience and at the request of the Borrower. 
The Lender shall be entitled to rely on the authority of any Person purporting to be a Person authorized by the Borrower to give such notice and the Lender shall not have any
liability to the Borrower or other Person on account of any action taken or not taken by the Lender in reliance upon such telephonic or facsimile notice.   The obligation of the
Borrower to repay the Revolving Loans and all other Obligations hereunder shall not be affected in any way or to any extent by any failure of the Lender to receive written
confirmation of any telephonic or facsimile notice or the receipt by the Lender of a confirmation which is at variance with the terms understood by the Lender to be contained in any
such telephonic, e-mail or facsimile notice.
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Section 10.2.       Waiver; Amendments.
(a)No failure or delay by the Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any other Loan Document, and no course of dealing between the Borrower

and the Lender, shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such
right or power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power hereunder or thereunder.  The rights and remedies of the Lender hereunder
and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.  No waiver of any provision of this Agreement or of any other
Loan Document or consent to any departure by the Borrower therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be permitted by subsection (b) of this Section, and then
such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of a Revolving
Loan shall not be construed as a waiver of any Default or Event of Default, regardless of whether the Lender may have had notice or knowledge of such Default or Event of Default
at the time.

(b)        No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or of the other Loan Documents, nor consent to any departure by the Borrower therefrom, shall
in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Borrower and the Lender, and then such amendment, waiver or consent shall be effective only in the
specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given.

Section 10.3.       Expenses; Indemnification.
(a)The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable, out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Lender and its Affiliates, including the reasonable fees, charges and

disbursements of counsel for the Lender and its Affiliates, in connection with the preparation and administration of the Loan Documents and any amendments, modifications or
waivers thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be consummated), including the reasonable fees, charges and
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disbursements of counsel for the Lender and its Affiliates, and (ii) all out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including, without limitation, the reasonable fees, charges and
disbursements of outside counsel) incurred by the Lender in connection with the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with this Agreement, including its rights under
this Section.

(b)The Borrower shall indemnify the Lender and each Related Party of the Lender (each such Person being called an “Indemnitee”) against, and hold each
Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses (including the fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnitee),
and shall indemnify and hold harmless each Indemnitee from all fees and time charges and disbursements for attorneys who may be employees of any Indemnitee, incurred by any
Indemnitee or asserted against any Indemnitee by any third party or by the Borrower arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of this
Agreement, any other Loan Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, the performance by the parties hereto of their respective obligations
hereunder or thereunder or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (ii) any Revolving Loan or the use or proposed use of the proceeds therefrom, (iii)
any actual or alleged presence or Release of Hazardous Materials on or from any property owned or operated by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or any Environmental
Liability related in any way to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing,
whether based on contract, tort or any other theory, whether brought by a third party or by the Borrower, and regardless of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto; provided that
such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction by final and non-appealable judgment to have resulted from (x) the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee or (y) a claim brought by the Borrower
against an Indemnitee for breach in bad faith of such Indemnitee’s obligations hereunder or under any other Loan Document.
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(c)       The Borrower shall pay, and hold the Lender harmless from and against, any and all present and future stamp, documentary, and other similar taxes with
respect to this Agreement and any other Loan Documents, any collateral described therein or any payments due thereunder, and save the Lender harmless from and against any
and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from any delay or omission to pay such taxes.

(d)        To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Borrower shall not assert, and hereby waives, any claim against any Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for
special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to actual or direct damages) arising out of, in connection with or as a result of this Agreement, any other Loan
Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the transactions contemplated therein, any Revolving Loan or the use of proceeds thereof; provided, that nothing in
this clause (d) shall relieve the Borrower of any obligation it may have to indemnify any Indemnitee against special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages asserted against
such Indemnitee by a third party.

(e)         All amounts due under this Section shall be payable promptly after written demand therefor.
Section 10.4.       Successors and Assigns.

(a)        This Agreement shall apply to and bind the Borrower’s successors and permitted assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the Lender and its successors and
assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower shall not assign the Borrower’s rights or obligations under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents without the Lender’s
prior written consent.

(b)The Lender may, at any time, sell, transfer or assign this Agreement and any of the other Loan Documents, and any or all servicing rights with respect thereto, or
grant participations therein or issue mortgage pass-through certificates or other securities evidencing a beneficial interest in a rated or unrated public offering or private placement
(the “Securities”); provided that the sale, transfer or assignment of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall require the prior written consent of the Borrower, such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided, further that notwithstanding the foregoing, no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if (x) an
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing at the time of such assignment or (y) such assignment is to an Affiliate of the Lender or an Approved Fund of the Lender.   The
Lender may forward to each purchaser, transferee, assignee, servicer, participant, or investor in such Securities or any Rating Agency (as hereinafter defined) rating such Securities
(collectively, the “Investor”) and each prospective Investor, all documents and information which the Lender now has or may hereafter acquire relating to the Borrower, any loan to
the Borrower, any guarantor or the property, whether furnished by the Borrower, any guarantor or otherwise, as the Lender determines necessary or desirable.  The term “Rating
Agency” shall mean each statistical rating agency that has assigned a rating to the Securities.

Section 10.5.       Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.
(a)        This Agreement and the other Loan Documents and any claims, controversy, dispute or cause of action (whether in contract or tort or otherwise) based

upon, arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document (except, as to any other Loan Document, as expressly set forth therein) and the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby shall be construed in accordance with and be governed by the law (without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof) of the State of
Georgia.
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(b)The Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the exclusive  jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia, and of the Business Case Division of the Fulton County Superior Court located in Atlanta, Georgia, and of any appellate court from any thereof, in any
action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, or for recognition or enforcement
of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and
determined in such District Court or the Fulton County Superior Court or, to the extent permitted by applicable law, such appellate court.  Each of the parties hereto agrees that a
final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. 
Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall affect any right that the Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any
other Loan Document against the Borrower or its properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.

(c)        The Borrower irrevocably and unconditionally waives any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such suit, action or
proceeding described in subsection (b) of this Section and brought in any court referred to in subsection (b) of this Section.  Each of the parties hereto irrevocably waives, to the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

(d)Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to the service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 10.1.  Nothing in this Agreement or in
any other Loan Document will affect the right of any party hereto to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

Section 10.6.      WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.  EACH PARTY HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY
RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY).   EACH PARTY
HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH
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OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER
PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL
WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

Section 10.7.Right of Set-off.  In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under applicable law and not by way of limitation of any such rights, the Lender shall have
the right, at any time or from time to time upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, without prior notice to the Borrower, any such notice being
expressly waived by the Borrower to the extent permitted by applicable law, to set off and apply against all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) of the
Borrower at any time held or other obligations at any time owing by the Lender to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any and all Obligations held by the Lender,
irrespective of whether the Lender shall have made demand hereunder and although such Obligations may be unmatured.  The Lender agrees promptly to notify the Borrower after
any such set-off and any application made by the Lender; provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such set-off and application.
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Section 10.8.      Counterparts; Integration.  This Agreement may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Agreement on any number of separate counterparts, and
all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.  This Agreement, the other Loan Documents, constitute the entire agreement
among the parties hereto and thereto and their affiliates regarding the subject matters hereof and thereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written,
regarding such subject matters.  Delivery of an executed counterpart to this Agreement or any other Loan Document by facsimile transmission or by electronic mail in pdf format
shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.

Section 10.9.Survival.  All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Borrower herein and in the certificates, reports, notices or other instruments
delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and the making of any Revolving Loans, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and
notwithstanding that the Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall
continue in full force and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Revolving Loan or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is
outstanding and unpaid and so long as the Revolving Commitment has not expired or terminated.  The provisions of Section 10.3 shall survive and remain in full force and effect
regardless of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Revolving Loans, the expiration or termination of the Revolving Commitment or the
termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

Section 10.10.    Severability.  Any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, shall, as to such
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such illegality, invalidity or unenforceability without affecting the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof or
thereof; and the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other
jurisdiction.

Section 10.11.Patriot Act.   The Lender hereby notifies the Borrower that, (a) pursuant to the requirements of the Patriot Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record
information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and other information that will allow the Lender to identify the Borrower in
accordance with the Patriot Act, and (b) pursuant to the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, it is required to obtain a Beneficial Ownership Certification.

Section 10.12.Maximum Rate.   Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable to any Revolving Loan, together with all fees,
charges and other amounts which may be treated as interest on such Revolving Loan under applicable law (collectively, the “Charges”), shall exceed the maximum lawful rate of
interest (the “Maximum Rate”) which may be contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by the Lender in accordance with applicable law, the rate of interest payable in
respect of such Revolving Loan hereunder, together with all Charges payable in respect thereof, shall be limited to the Maximum Rate and, to the extent lawful, the interest and
Charges that would have been payable in respect of such Revolving Loan but were not payable as a result of the operation of this Section shall be cumulated and the interest and
Charges payable to the Lender in respect of other Revolving Loans or periods shall be increased (but not above the Maximum Rate therefor) until such cumulated amount, together
with interest thereon at the Base Rate to the date of repayment (to the extent permitted by applicable law), shall have been received by the Lender.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank; signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above
written.

Borrower:

ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION

By: /s/ J. Ross Franklin
Name: J. Ross Franklin
Title: Vice President, Chief Financial Officer And Secretary

Lender:

TRUIST BANK

By: /s/ Richard E. Carswell
Name: Richard E. Carswell
Title: Senior Vice President

SCHEDULE 5.14
Subsidiaries
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Subsidiary

Owner of
Subsidiary Shares/

Equity Interests

% of
Shares/Equity

Interests Owned

Bankers Fidelity Life Insurance
Company

Atlantic American Corporation 100%

American Southern Insurance
Company

Atlantic American Corporation 100%

Xcalibre Risk Services, Inc. Atlantic American Corporation 100%

Atlantic American Statutory Trust I Atlantic American Corporation 100%

Atlantic American Statutory Trust II Atlantic American Corporation 100%

Bankers Fidelity Assurance
Company

Bankers Fidelity Life Insurance
Company

100%

Premier Adjusting and Claim
Services, Inc.

American Southern Insurance
Company

100%

Automobile Safety Management,
Inc.

American Southern Insurance
Company

100%

American Safety Insurance
Company

American Southern Insurance
Company

100%

Automated Systems of Georgia,
Inc.

American Southern Insurance
Company

100%

Atlantic Capital Life Assurance
Company

Bankers Fidelity Life Insurance
Company

100%

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Hilton H. Howell, Jr., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Atlantic American Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

65/67

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 13, 2023 May 14, 2024 /s/ Hilton H. Howell, Jr.

  Hilton H. Howell, Jr.
  President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, J. Ross Franklin, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Atlantic American Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 13, 2023 May 14, 2024 /s/ J. Ross Franklin

  J. Ross Franklin
  Vice President and

  Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

Certifications Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in connection with the filing of the Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q of Atlantic American Corporation (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023March 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, that, to such officer’s knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and
for the periods expressed in the Report.

Date: November 13, 2023 May
14, 2024

/s/ Hilton H. Howell, Jr.  

  Hilton H. Howell, Jr.  

  President and Chief Executive Officer  
     
Date: November 13, 2023 May
14, 2024

/s/ J. Ross Franklin  

  J. Ross Franklin  

  Vice President and  
  Chief Financial Officer  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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